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DEAR STOCKHOLDERS,

Sincerely,

Chairman, President & CEO
John B. Dicus

I am pleased to be writing this year’s annual stockholder letter and to share with you the growth and progress we 
have achieved for stockholders.  At the end of 2023 we were poised to transform Capitol Federal beyond its retail 
banking roots to growing our commercial banking division with a new core operating system and a restructured 

am very proud to be part of Capitol Federal and the amazing team working hard for you every day.

growth and improvement is a direct result of the strategic operational changes implemented by the Board and 

services and products.

connected commercial bankers and trust and wealth advisors supported by a seasoned treasury management team 
delivering a comprehensive product suite.  We are providing our team and customers technology that supports our 

measures and demonstrated ability to repay.  

stockholder value.  We are proud of our disciplined capital management approach which has resulted in our 







December 18, 2025

Dear Fellow Stockholder:

On behalf of the Board of Directors and management of Capitol Federal Financial, Inc.®, we cordially invite you to 
attend our annual meeting of stockholders.  The meeting will be held at 10:00 a.m. local time on Tuesday, January 27, 2026, 
at the Bradbury Thompson Alumni Center on the Washburn University campus, 1701 S.W. Jewell Avenue, Topeka, Kansas.  

Regardless of whether you plan to attend the annual meeting, please read the enclosed proxy statement and then 
vote by the Internet, telephone or mail as promptly as possible.  Your prompt response will save us additional expense in 
soliciting proxies and will ensure that your shares are represented at the meeting.

This year we are using a Securities and Exchange Commission rule to furnish our proxy statement, Annual Report 
and proxy card over the Internet to stockholders.  This means that stockholders will not receive paper copies of these 
documents.  Instead, stockholders will receive only a notice containing instructions on how to access the proxy materials over 
the Internet.  This rule enables us to lower the costs of delivering the annual meeting materials and reduce the environmental 
impact of the meeting.  If you would like to receive a copy of the printed materials, the notice contains instructions on how 
you can request copies of these documents.

Your Board of Directors and management are committed to the success of Capitol Federal Financial, Inc. and the 
enhancement of your investment.  As Chairman of the Board, I want to express my appreciation for your confidence and 
support.

 Very truly yours,

JOHN B. DICUS
Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive 
Officer
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CAPITOL FEDERAL FINANCIAL, INC.®
700 S. Kansas Avenue
Topeka, Kansas 66603

(785) 235-1341
_______________________________

PROXY STATEMENT
_______________________________

INTRODUCTION

The Capitol Federal Financial, Inc. Board of Directors is using this proxy statement to solicit proxies from the 
holders of the Company's common stock for use at the Company's upcoming annual meeting of stockholders.  The annual 
meeting of stockholders will be held at 10:00 a.m. local time on Tuesday, January 27, 2026 at the Bradbury Thompson 
Alumni Center on the Washburn University campus, 1701 S.W. Jewell Avenue, Topeka, Kansas.  

At the meeting, stockholders will be asked to vote on four proposals.  The proposals are set forth in the 
accompanying Notice of Annual Meeting of Stockholders and are described in more detail below.  Stockholders also will 
consider any other matters that may properly come before the meeting, although the Board of Directors knows of no other 
business to be presented.  Capitol Federal Financial, Inc. is referred to in this proxy statement from time to time as the 
"Company," "we," "us" or "our."  Certain of the information in this proxy statement relates to Capitol Federal Savings Bank 
("Capitol Federal Savings" or the "Bank"), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.

On December 21, 2010, the Company completed its conversion (the "Conversion") from the mutual holding 
company structure and related public stock offering and became a stock form holding company that is 100% owned by public 
stockholders.  As a result of the Conversion, the Company, a newly formed Maryland corporation, became the holding 
company for Capitol Federal Savings, and Capitol Federal Financial (formerly the mid-tier holding company of Capitol 
Federal Savings) and Capitol Federal Savings Bank MHC (a mutual holding company that owned a majority of the stock of 
Capitol Federal Financial) have ceased to exist.  All outstanding shares of Capitol Federal Financial common stock (other 
than those owned by Capitol Federal Savings Bank MHC, which have been cancelled) were converted into the right to 
receive 2.2637 shares of Company common stock.  References in this proxy statement to the Company prior to the date of the 
Conversion refer to Capitol Federal Financial. 

We have decided to use the "Notice and Access" rule adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission (the 
"SEC") to provide access to our proxy materials over the Internet instead of mailing a printed copy of the proxy materials to 
each stockholder.  As a result, on or about December 18, 2025, we mailed to all stockholders only a "Notice of Internet 
Availability of Proxy Materials" that tells them how to access and review the information contained in the proxy materials 
and how to vote their proxies over the Internet.  You will not receive a printed copy of the proxy materials in the mail unless 
you request the materials by following the instructions included in the Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials.

By submitting your proxy, either by executing and returning the proxy card or by voting electronically via the 
Internet or by telephone, you authorize the Company's Board of Directors to represent you and vote your shares at the 
meeting in accordance with your instructions.  The Board of Directors also may vote your shares to adjourn the meeting from 
time to time and will be authorized to vote your shares at any adjournments or postponements of the meeting.

This proxy statement and the accompanying materials are first being made available to stockholders on or about 
December 18, 2025.

Your proxy vote is important.  Whether or not you plan to attend the meeting, please submit your proxy by 
the Internet, telephone or mail as promptly as possible.
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the same proportion as directed by the participants who directed the trustee as to the manner of voting their allocated shares 
in the employee stock ownership plan with respect to each proposal.

How many shares must be present to hold the meeting?

A quorum must be present at the meeting for any business to be conducted.  The presence at the meeting, in person 
or by proxy, of the holders of at least one-third of the shares of the Company's common stock outstanding on the record date 
will constitute a quorum.  Proxies received but marked as abstentions or broker non-votes will be included in the calculation 
of the number of shares considered to be present at the meeting.

What if a quorum is not present at the meeting?

If a quorum is not present at the scheduled time of the meeting, the stockholders who are represented may adjourn 
the meeting until a quorum is present.  The time and place of the adjourned meeting will be announced at the time the 
adjournment is taken, and no other notice will be given.  An adjournment will have no effect on the business that may be 
conducted at the meeting.

How do I vote? 

1. You may vote by mail.  If you properly complete, sign and return the proxy card, it will be voted in accordance
with your instructions. 

2. You may vote by telephone.  If you are a registered stockholder, that is, if you hold your stock in your own name,
you may vote by telephone by following the instructions included on the proxy card.  If you vote by telephone, you do not 
have to mail in your proxy card.

3. You may vote on the Internet.  If you are a registered stockholder, that is, if you hold your stock in your own
name, you may vote on the Internet by following the instructions included on the proxy card.  If you vote on the Internet, you 
do not have to mail in your proxy card.

4. You may vote in person at the meeting.  If you plan to attend the annual meeting and wish to vote in person, we
will give you a ballot at the annual meeting.  However, if your shares are held in the name of your broker, bank or other 
nominee, you will need to obtain a proxy form from the institution that holds your shares indicating that you were the 
beneficial owner of the Company's common stock on December 5, 2025, the record date for voting at the annual meeting.

Can I vote by telephone or on the Internet if I am not a registered stockholder?

If your shares are held in "street name" by a broker or other nominee, you should check the voting form used by that 
firm to determine whether you will be able to vote by telephone or on the Internet.

Can I change my vote after I submit my proxy?

If you are a registered stockholder, you may revoke your proxy and change your vote at any time before the polls 
close at the meeting by:

• signing another proxy with a later date;
• voting by telephone or on the Internet -- your latest telephone or Internet vote will be counted;
• giving written notice of the revocation of your proxy to the Secretary of the Company prior to the annual

meeting; or
• voting in person at the annual meeting.

If you have instructed a broker, bank or other nominee to vote your shares, you must follow directions received from 
your nominee to change those instructions.
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What if I do not specify how my shares are to be voted?

If you are a registered stockholder and you submit an executed proxy but do not indicate any voting instructions, 
your shares will be voted:

• FOR the election of the director nominees named in this proxy statement;
• FOR the advisory vote on executive compensation;
• FOR the approval of the Company's 2026 Omnibus Incentive Plan; and
• FOR the ratification of the appointment of KPMG as the Company's independent registered public accounting

firm for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2026.

Will any other business be conducted at the annual meeting?

The Board of Directors knows of no other business that will be conducted at the meeting.  If any other proposal 
properly comes before the stockholders for a vote at the meeting, however, the proxy holders will vote your shares in 
accordance with their best judgment.

How many votes are required to approve the proposals?

The Company's bylaws provide that in all elections of directors at meetings of stockholders, other than contested 
elections, each director is elected by a majority of the votes cast with respect to such director.  This means that in order to be 
elected, the number of votes cast FOR a director nominee's election must exceed the number of votes cast AGAINST such 
director nominee's election.  In a contested election, which is one where the number of nominees exceeds the number of 
directors to be elected, directors are elected by a plurality of the votes cast.  The election of directors at the annual meeting 
will not be a contested election.  Therefore, directors will be elected at the annual meeting under the majority voting standard 
described above.  

The advisory vote on executive compensation, the approval of the Company's 2026 Omnibus Incentive Plan, and the 
ratification of the appointment of KPMG as the Company's independent registered public accounting firm each requires the 
affirmative vote of the majority of votes cast on the matter.

How will abstentions be treated?

If you abstain from voting for the election of any director nominee or from voting on the advisory vote on executive 
compensation, the approval of the Company's 2026 Omnibus Incentive Plan or the ratification of the appointment of KPMG 
as the Company's independent registered public accounting firm, your shares will not be counted as votes cast with respect to 
the election of that nominee or those three proposals and will have no effect on the election of that nominee or on those three 
proposals.

How will broker non-votes be treated?

Broker non-votes will have no effect on the election of directors or on any other proposal.  Shares treated as broker 
non-votes on one or more proposals will be included for purposes of calculating the presence of a quorum.  
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Business Experience and Qualifications of Our Directors

The Board believes that the many years of service our directors collectively have at the Company and Capitol 
Federal Savings is one of their most important qualifications for service on our Board.  This service has given them extensive 
knowledge of the banking business and of the Company.  Furthermore, their service on our Board committees, especially in 
the areas of audit, compensation and stock benefits, is critical to their ability to oversee the management of Capitol Federal 
Savings by our executive officers.  Service on the Board by our Chief Executive Officer is critical to aiding the outside 
directors' understanding of the issues that are common in the banking business.  Each outside director brings special skills, 
experience and expertise to the Board as a result of their other business activities and associations.

Community banks rely heavily on their directors for the directors' local contacts, both business and personal.  In this 
regard, the directors of the Company and Capitol Federal Savings have strong ties to the Topeka, Salina, Wichita, and Kansas 
City communities.

The business experience of each of our directors and nominees for at least the past five years and the experience, 
qualifications, attributes, skills and areas of expertise of each director and nominee that further supports his or her service as a 
director are set forth below.

Michel' Philipp Cole, ABC.  

• Core Competencies:  Corporate Communications, Public Affairs, Brand Strategy, Mergers & Acquisitions 
Communications, Crisis Management, Executive Management.

• Background:  For more than 35 years, Ms. Cole has held a variety of executive management positions in 
marketing, public relations, community affairs and philanthropy.  A highly respected community leader, Ms. Cole is 
skilled in all facets of communication strategy development, public affairs, corporate communications, mergers and 
acquisitions, marketing and branding.  She most recently was the inaugural recipient of the coveted Leadership 
Legacy award given by the Greater Topeka Partnership (Chamber).  In 2018, she retired as Vice President, 
Corporate Communications and Public Affairs, Westar Energy.  In this role, she served as a Senior Executive Team 
member and her teams were responsible for internal/external communications regarding media outreach, digital/
social media, mergers and acquisitions, executive and corporate board support and crisis and risk management.  
From 1990 to 2000, she also served as Director, Corporate Communications, Westar Energy.  Before rejoining 
Westar Energy in 2014, Ms. Cole was Vice President, Corporate Communications and Brand Strategy, Security 
Benefit Corporation, a financial services company, from 2003 to 2014, serving on the Senior Leadership team and 
overseeing a team responsible for communication strategy vis-à-vis corporate ownership change; five acquisitions; 
CEO departure and three reduction-in-force programs.  She received her Bachelor of Arts in communications from 
Washburn University in 1986.  Ms. Cole currently serves on the Board of Directors for Stormont Vail Health, where 
she also chairs the Community Committee for the Board and serves on the health system’s Patient and Family 
Partnership Council.  She is also a director on the Washburn Alumni Association and Foundation Board, serving on 
its development committee.  She is the recipient of the Non-Nobis Solum Outstanding Alumni designation from 
Washburn University.  Ms. Cole holds an Accredited Business Communicator designation with the International 
Association of Business Communicators.

• Strategic Impact:  Her comprehensive expertise in communication strategy development, public affairs, 
and corporate branding is critical for enhancing corporate value, ensuring transparent stakeholder engagement, and 
navigating complex corporate transactions and reputational risks.

Jeffrey M. Johnson.  

• Core Competencies:  Financial Services, Operational Leadership, Risk Management, Strategic 
Development, Community Engagement.

• Background:  Mr. Johnson brings more than two decades of senior-level leadership in finance, hospitality, 
and community engagement to the Board.  He is the President of Flint Hills National Golf Club in Andover, Kansas, 
a position he has held since March 2003.  As President, he oversees operations, member recruitment, and long-term 
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strategic initiatives.  Prior to leading Flint Hills, from March 1997 until 2003 he served as an investment advisor 
with Raymond James Financial Services, in Wichita, Kansas.  There he honed his expertise in investments, risk 
management, and compliance, gaining valuable experience in the regulated financial services space.  He earned his 
Series 7 and Series 63 securities licenses, as well as a life and health insurance license and real estate license.  This 
financial experience enhances his value as a member of the Board's Audit Committee.  In his earlier career, Mr. 
Johnson also served as Vice President of Personnel at Lone Star Steakhouse & Saloon, where he was instrumental in 
overseeing the recruitment and development of over 750 managers and a growth of over 100 restaurants.  Today, he 
is a part-owner of several dining establishments across Kansas and Texas; a business portfolio that gives him a 
practical, operational understanding of general business management, labor dynamics, technology and data security 
challenges, and long-term growth strategy.  Mr. Johnson is deeply invested in civic and community development 
and has served on local non-profit boards for over 25 years.  Mr. Johnson also serves on the University of Kansas 
Endowment Association Board of Trustees, as well as the Dean's Advisory Board for KU's Business School, and the 
Wichita State University W. Frank Barton School of Business Dean's Advisory Board.

• Strategic Impact:  A credentialed professional with a robust foundation in regulated financial services,
coupled with extensive operational and P&L management experience, making him a valuable asset for financial 
management and Audit Committee matters, as well as discussions on long-term growth strategy.

Morris J. Huey, II.  

• Core Competencies:  Executive Leadership, Lending Strategy, Risk Management, Regulatory
Compliance, Customer Relations.

• Background:  Mr. Huey brings a wealth of banking expertise, executive leadership, and regulatory insight.
He joined Capitol Federal Savings in 1991 as the Central Region Lending Officer, gaining firsthand experience with 
the Bank's operations, regional lending risks, and customer relations.  From June 2002 until his retirement from 
Capitol Federal Savings in January 2010, he served as Executive Vice President and Chief Lending Officer of 
Capitol Federal Savings, where he expanded his supervisory experience and oversaw the Bank's lending strategies, 
credit underwriting, and financial performance.  During that same period, he was President of Capitol Funds, Inc., a 
wholly owned subsidiary of the Bank, and from August 2002 he also served as President of Capitol Federal 
Mortgage Reinsurance Company, a wholly owned subsidiary of Capitol Funds, Inc.

• Strategic Impact:  His deep understanding of financial, economic, and underwriting challenges, coupled
with years of regulatory engagement, makes him particularly effective in advising the Board on compliance, risk 
management, human capital management, business operations, and strategic lending policy.

Carlton A. Ricketts.  

• Core Competencies:  Strategic Planning, Corporate Services Management, Enterprise Risk Management,
Corporate Governance, Human Resources.

• Background:  Mr. Ricketts is a seasoned banking executive and community leader.  He joined Capitol
Federal Savings in 2007 as Chief Strategic Planning Officer, then advanced to become Executive Vice President and 
Chief Corporate Services Officer, a role he held until his retirement in early 2019.  In that capacity, he directed 
critical enterprise functions, including Compliance & Risk Management, Human Resources, Information 
Technology, Facilities, Marketing, Appraisals, and the Insurance Agency.  He also played a lead role in regulatory 
examinations, ensuring a strong control and governance framework.  Mr. Ricketts was a key leader in overseeing 
and supervising enterprise-wide risk management, including the technology and data security functions of the Bank.  
Before his tenure in banking, Mr. Ricketts spent 25 years in the electric and gas utility industry, serving as Vice 
President of Business Services for Missouri Gas Energy and in various leadership roles at Westar Energy.  His 
responsibilities there included Investor Relations, Corporate Development, Customer Services, Sales & Marketing, 
Facilities and Labor Relations, giving him rich experience in operations, P&L management, labor management, and 
cross-functional leadership.  He served on the Emporia State University Foundation Board of Trustees and the 
Emporia State University Business School Advisory Board, and currently serves on the University of Kansas 
Business School Advisory Board.
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• Strategic Impact:  His extensive background in operations, P&L management, labor relations, and cross-
functional leadership across highly regulated industries provides invaluable insight into complex organizational and 
risk management challenges.

John B. Dicus. 

• Core Competencies:  Executive Leadership, Financial Management, Regulatory Expertise, Corporate 
Governance, Operational Oversight.

• Background:  Mr. Dicus became Chief Executive Officer of Capitol Federal Savings and the Company 
effective January 1, 2003, and became Chairman of the Board of Directors of Capitol Federal Savings and the 
Company in January 2009.  Prior to his appointment as Chief Executive Officer, he served as President and Chief 
Operating Officer for Capitol Federal Savings from 1996 and for the Company from its inception in March 1999.  
Before that, he served as Executive Vice President of Corporate Services for Capitol Federal Savings for four years.  
He has been with Capitol Federal Savings in various other positions since 1985.  Mr. Dicus is the father-in-law of 
William J. Skrobacz, Jr., who serves as Executive Vice President and Chief Retail Operations Officer of the 
Company and the Bank.  Mr. Dicus serves as a trustee for the University of Kansas Endowment Association and 
Washburn University Endowment Association.  He also sits on the Kansas Bankers Association Board of Directors, 
the Kansas Board of Regents, the Washburn University Board of Regents and the Greater Topeka Partnership.  He 
has been a past member of the Federal Reserve Advisory Council.

• Strategic Impact:  His many years of service and leadership across all operational facets of Capitol 
Federal Savings, coupled with his tenure as President and Chief Executive Officer, provide him with special 
knowledge of the financial, economic, and regulatory challenges the Company faces, making him exceptionally 
well-suited to educate the Board on these critical matters.

James G. Morris.  

• Core Competencies:  Accounting & Auditing, Financial Services Oversight, Regulatory Compliance, Risk 
Management, Corporate Governance.

• Background:  Mr. Morris retired in September 2012 from KPMG LLP, where he served as Partner in 
Charge of the Financial Service Practice in the Kansas City office.  At KPMG, he built a deep expertise in 
accounting and auditing, serving a wide spectrum of financial-services clients including banks, thrifts, mortgage 
companies, investment advisors, and real estate firms.  Mr. Morris began his career with that firm in 1976 (the firm 
was then known as Peat Marwick Mitchell & Co.) as an auditor.  He became an audit manager in 1981 and was 
promoted to partner in 1988.  During his tenure, he led audit teams of up to 20 professionals and served as the 
primary liaison with senior management, boards of directors and audit committees.  His technical acumen included 
extensive experience in IPOs, debt and equity offerings, and Sarbanes-Oxley 404 compliance.  Mr. Morris also 
serves as an independent trustee of The Commerce Funds, a family of nine mutual funds registered under the 
Investment Company Act of 1940.  He has served on the University of Missouri College of Business Advisory 
Board and the School of Accountancy Advisory Board, as well as the Board of Directors of the Kansas City 
Museum and Hallbrook Country Club.

• Strategic Impact:  His background in financial reporting and regulated financial entities, combined with 
broad operational, financial, and regulatory expertise, positions him as a strong contributor to board-level oversight, 
risk management, corporate governance, and long-term value creation.

10



Jeffrey R. Thompson.  

• Core Competencies:  Financial Leadership, Operational Management, Strategic Growth, Mergers &
Acquisitions, Risk Oversight.

• Background:  Mr. Thompson is business executive with over 40 years of experience across financial
services, manufacturing, and operations.  Mr. Thompson began his career as an auditor at Touche Ross, earning his 
CPA in 1985 while working on audits of municipalities, banks, savings & loans, and industrial companies.  In 1986, 
he joined Chrysler Capital Public Finance in Kansas City, Missouri, where he managed operations and credit risk, 
focusing on originating, underwriting, and servicing tax-exempt municipal leases.  Mr. Thompson joined Koch 
Industries, Inc., in 1992, holding various leadership positions there over the course of nearly a decade.  Notably, 
from 1998 to 2001, he served as President of Koch Financial Services, Inc., leading a team of 20 in originating and 
servicing tax-exempt municipal leases and asset-backed securities.  In 2002, he joined Salina Vortex Corporation, 
which specializes in the design and manufacture of components used to transport and control flow of dry bulk solid 
materials.  At Salina Vortex, he initially held the role of Chief Financial Officer, responsible for accounting, 
treasury, information technology, human resources, insurance, legal and compliance and risk management.  He 
transitioned to President and Chief Executive Officer of Salina Vortex in 2007, a role he held through 2020.  Under 
his leadership as CEO, the company experienced transformative growth, tripling annual sales as well as expanding 
globally into England and China.  Since returning to the position of Chief Financial Officer and the additional role of 
Senior Business Advisor in 2021, Mr. Thompson has continued to work closely with Salina Vortex's executive team 
and board of directors, helping to steer financial strategy, long-term planning and risk oversight.  Mr. Thompson's 
board affiliations include Blue Cross Blue Shield of Kansas, where he chairs the Audit Committee; the Catholic 
Foundation for the Diocese of Salina, as Treasurer; the Salina Economic Development Corporation; and the Salina 
Airport Authority.

• Strategic Impact:  His extensive accounting and audit expertise, combined with strong general business
acumen, P&L leadership, and risk management skills, makes him a strategic contributor to compensation, 
technology, governance, and growth discussions.

Executive Officers Who Are Not Also Directors

Set forth below is a description of the business experience for at least the past five years of each executive officer 
who is not also a director of the Company.  Each executive officer's age is as of September 30, 2025.

Kent G. Townsend.  Mr. Townsend, age 64, serves as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the 
Bank and the Company.  Mr. Townsend also serves as Treasurer for the Company, Capitol Federal Loan Company LP, 
Capitol Federal Loan Services Company LLC, Capitol Federal Partners, LLC, Capitol Funds, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary 
of the Bank ("Capitol Funds"), and Capitol Federal Mortgage Reinsurance Company, a wholly owned subsidiary of Capitol 
Funds ("CFMRC").  Mr. Townsend was promoted to Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer in 
September 2005.  Prior to that, he served as Senior Vice President, a position he held since April 1999, and Controller of the 
Company, a position he held since March 1999.  He has served in similar positions with the Bank since September 1995.  He 
served as the Financial Planning and Analysis Officer with the Bank for three years and other financial related positions since 
joining the Bank in 1984.

Rick C. Jackson.  Mr. Jackson, age 60, serves as Executive Vice President and Chief Lending Officer of the Bank 
and the Company.  He also serves as Chief Executive Officer of Capitol Funds and President of CFMRC, Capitol Federal 
Loan Company LP, Capitol Federal Loan Services Company LLC and Capitol Federal Partners LLC.  He joined the Bank in 
1993 as Community Development Director, a position he held until March 2017, and has served as Chief Lending Officer 
since February 2010. 
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Natalie G. Haag.  Ms. Haag, age 65, serves as Executive Vice President, General Counsel, and Corporate Secretary 
of the Bank and the Company.  She also serves as Secretary of Capitol Federal Partners LLC, Capitol Federal Loan Company 
LP and Capitol Federal Loan Services Company LLC.  Prior to joining the Bank and the Company in August 2012, Ms. Haag 
was 2nd Vice President, Director of Governmental Affairs and Assistant General Counsel for Security Benefit Corporation 
and Security Benefit Life Insurance Company in Topeka, Kansas.  Security Benefit provides retirement products and 
services, including annuities and mutual funds.  Ms. Haag was employed by Security Benefit since June 2003.  The Security 
Benefit companies are not parents, subsidiaries or affiliates of the Bank or the Company.

Anthony S. Barry.  Mr. Barry, age 61, serves as Executive Vice President, Chief Corporate Services Officer of the 
Bank and the Company.  Prior to joining the Bank and the Company in October 2018, Mr. Barry was engaged in the private 
practice of law for 29 years in real estate and general litigation, with an emphasis in construction law.  Mr. Barry also served 
as a board member of a bank holding company in Arizona from 1998 to 2008.

William J. Skrobacz, Jr.  Mr. Skrobacz, age 34, has served as Executive Vice President and Chief Retail Operations 
Officer of the Bank and the Company since April 2023.  He joined the Bank as Chief Strategy Officer in July 2021 after 
obtaining his MBA from The University of Virginia's Darden School of Business.  Starting with amassing experience with 
Bank customers while working throughout the Bank's branch system, he then continued moving through various departments 
within the organization helping to implement efficiencies and drive growth within the Bank's lending and business 
development efforts, while also familiarizing himself with the Bank's regulatory environment.  Prior to his time at the Bank, 
he worked for Nuvasive Inc. from 2013-2021 in a Regional Sales and Operations Management capacity.  Mr. Skrobacz is the 
son-in-law of John B. Dicus, the Company's and the Bank's Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer.

Director Independence

The Company's Board of Directors has determined that the following directors, constituting a majority of the Board, 
are "independent directors," as that term is defined in NASDAQ Listing Rule 5605: Directors Cole, Huey, Johnson, McCoy, 
Morris, Ricketts and Thompson.

Board Leadership Structure and Role in Risk Oversight

The Company currently combines the positions of Chief Executive Officer and Chairman into one position.  The 
Company believes that this structure is appropriate because of the primarily singular operating environment of the Company, 
with the Company's focus on being a provider of retail and commercial financial services.  Having the Chief Executive 
Officer and Chairman involved in the daily operations of this focused line of operations improves the communication 
between management and the Board and ensures that the Board's interest is represented in the daily operations of the 
Company, particularly with regard to risk management.  

Management accountability and Board independence is managed by maintaining a majority of independent directors 
and the annual selection by the independent directors of a Lead Independent Director.  The Company's independent directors 
have named Carlton A. Ricketts to serve as the current Lead Independent Director.  The Lead Independent Director: (1) 
provides the Chairman with input on agenda items for Board meetings; (2) calls meetings of the independent directors at least 
twice annually; (3) presides at meetings of the independent directors; and (4) chairs Board meetings in the absence of the 
Chairman.  The Board may modify or eliminate the position of Lead Independent Director at any time.  

Risk is inherent with the operation of every financial institution, and how well an institution manages risk can 
ultimately determine its success.  The Company faces a number of risks, including but not limited to credit risk, interest rate 
risk, liquidity risk, operational risk, strategic risk, compliance risk, cybersecurity risk and reputation risk.  The Company's 
primary risk areas are commercial lending and single-family lending.  Cybersecurity risk is a key consideration in the 
Company's operational risk management capabilities.  Given the nature of the Company's operations and business, including 
the Bank's reliance on relationships with various third-party providers in the delivery of financial services, cybersecurity risk 
may manifest itself through various business activities and channels, and it is thus considered an enterprise-wide risk that is 
subject to control and monitoring at various levels of management and oversight by the Board and the Audit Committee.  The 
Board receives updates on the status of the cybersecurity controls, reports of significant cybersecurity incidents and annual 
education in this area. 
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Management is responsible for the day-to-day management of the risks the Company faces, while the Board has 
ultimate responsibility for the oversight of risk management.  The Board oversees risk through the annual review of key 
policies of the Bank and the Company.  In addition, monthly, quarterly and annual reports are prepared for, presented to and 
reviewed with the Board addressing all major risk and compliance areas.  For the policies of the Board that require risk 
assessments to be completed, the results are generally summarized and presented to the Board or a committee of the Board.  
The executive officers responsible for managing the various risks in the Bank and Company present reports to the Board as 
required by policy or as needed.

The Board has integrated the oversight of certain risk areas with the responsibilities of the Audit Committee and the 
Compensation Committee.  The Audit Committee works with the independent Audit Services Director to structure risk-based 
audits, the reports of which are presented to the Audit Committee, and progress toward the approved audit plan is reviewed 
and the committee is updated at least quarterly.  In attempting to determine the appropriate levels and forms of compensation 
provided to the Bank's and the Company's officers and employees, the Compensation Committee considers whether 
compensation or incentive plans encourage excessive risk taking.

Board Meetings and Committees

The members of the Boards of Directors of the Company and Capitol Federal Savings are identical.  During the 
fiscal year ended September 30, 2025, the Board of Directors of the Company held six meetings and the Board of Directors 
of Capitol Federal Savings held nine meetings.  During fiscal year 2025, no incumbent director attended fewer than 75% of 
the aggregate of the total number of meetings of each Board during the period he or she was a director and the total number 
of meetings held by the committees of each Board on which he or she served during the period in which he or she served.

The Company's Board of Directors has standing Executive, Compensation, Stock Benefit, Audit and Nominating 
Committees.  The following is a summary of these committees.

The Executive Committee is currently comprised of Directors Dicus (Chair), Huey, McCoy and Thompson.  The 
Executive Committee meets on an as needed basis and exercises the power of the Board of Directors between Board 
meetings, to the extent permitted by applicable law.  This committee is responsible for formulating and implementing policy 
decisions, subject to review by the entire Board of Directors.  The Executive Committee did not meet during fiscal year 2025.

The Compensation Committee is currently comprised of Directors McCoy (Chair), Cole, Huey, Johnson, Morris, 
Ricketts and Thompson, each of whom is an "independent director," as that term is defined in the NASDAQ Listing Rules.  
The Compensation Committee is responsible for reviewing and evaluating executive compensation and administering the 
Company's compensation and benefit programs.  The Compensation Committee also is responsible for:

• reviewing from time to time the Company's compensation plans and, if the Committee believes it to be
appropriate, recommending that the Board amend these plans or adopt new plans;

• annually reviewing and approving corporate goals and objectives relevant to the Chief Executive Officer's
compensation, evaluating the Chief Executive Officer's performance in light of these goals and objectives and
recommending to the Board the Chief Executive Officer's compensation level based on this evaluation;

• overseeing the evaluation of management, and recommending to the Board the compensation for executive
officers and other key members of management.  This includes evaluating performance following the end of
incentive periods and recommending to the Board specific awards for executive officers;

• recommending to the Board the appropriate level of compensation for directors;

• administering any benefit plan which the Board has determined should be administered by the Committee; and

• reviewing, monitoring and reporting to the Board, at least annually, on management development efforts to
ensure a pool of candidates for adequate and orderly management succession, and

• administering the Company's Compensation Recovery Policy.
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The Compensation Committee operates under a written charter adopted by the Board of Directors of the Company, a 
copy of which is available on the Company's investor relations website, at https://ir.capfed.com, by clicking "Governance 
Documents" under the "Governance" tab.  In fiscal year 2025, this committee met six times at the holding company level; the 
Compensation Committee for Capitol Federal Savings, which serves the same function and has the identical makeup, also 
met six times during fiscal year 2025.

The Stock Benefit Committee operates under a written charter adopted by the Board of Directors of the Company.  
The Stock Benefit Committee is currently comprised of Directors Ricketts (Chair), Cole, Huey, Johnson, McCoy, Morris, and 
Thompson.  The Stock Benefit Committee is principally responsible for administering the Company's 2012 Equity Incentive 
Plan, 2000 Stock Option and Incentive Plan and 2000 Recognition and Retention Plan.  Although, by their terms, the 2000 
Stock Option and Incentive Plan and 2000 Recognition and Retention Plan expired as to new awards in April 2015, the 
Company ceased granting new awards under those plans following the approval of the 2012 Equity Incentive Plan at the 
Company's annual meeting of stockholders held in January 2012.  The Stock Benefit Committee awards stock-based benefits 
to officers and employees of the Company and the Bank.  This committee met four times during fiscal year 2025.

The Audit Committee is currently comprised of Directors Thompson (Chair), Cole, Huey, Johnson, McCoy, Morris 
and Ricketts, each of whom is "independent," as independence for audit committee members is defined in the NASDAQ 
Listing Rules.  The Company's Board of Directors has determined that each of Messrs. Morris and Thompson is an "audit 
committee financial expert," as defined in the SEC's rules.

The Audit Committee operates under a written charter adopted by the Board of Directors of the Company, a copy of 
which is available on the Company's investor relations website, at https://ir.capfed.com, by clicking "Governance 
Documents" under the "Governance" tab.  The Audit Committee is appointed by the Company's Board of Directors to 
represent and assist the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibility relating to the integrity of the Company's consolidated 
financial statements and the financial reporting processes, the systems of internal accounting and financial controls, the 
systems of disclosure controls and procedures, compliance with ethical standards adopted by the Company, compliance with 
legal and regulatory requirements, the annual independent audit of the Company's consolidated financial statements, the 
independent registered public accounting firm's qualifications and independence, the performance of the Company's internal 
audit function and the independent (external) auditors and any other areas of potential financial risk to the Company specified 
by its Board of Directors.  The Audit Committee also is responsible for hiring, retaining and terminating the Company's 
independent registered public accounting firm.  The Audit Committee met eight times in fiscal year 2025.

The Nominating Committee is comprised of Directors Johnson (Chair), Cole, Huey, McCoy, Morris, Ricketts and 
Thompson, each of whom is an "independent director," as that term is defined in the NASDAQ Listing Rules.  The 
Nominating Committee is responsible for identifying and recommending director candidates to serve on the Board of 
Directors.  Final approval of director nominees is determined by the full Board, based on the recommendations of the 
Nominating Committee.  The nominees for election at the meeting identified in this proxy statement were recommended to 
the Board by the Nominating Committee.  The Nominating Committee met three times during fiscal year 2025.

The Nominating Committee operates under a formal written charter adopted by the Board, a copy of which is 
available on the Company's investor relations website, https://ir.capfed.com, by clicking "Governance Documents" under the 
"Governance" tab.  The Nominating Committee has the following responsibilities under its charter: 

• recommend to the Board the appropriate size of the Board and assist in identifying, interviewing and recruiting 
candidates for the Board; 

• recommend candidates (including incumbents) for election and appointment to the Board of Directors, subject 
to the provisions set forth in the Company's charter and bylaws relating to the nomination or appointment of 
directors, based on the following criteria: business experience, education, integrity and reputation, 
independence, conflicts of interest, diversity, age, number of other directorships and commitments (including 
charitable organizations), tenure on the Board, attendance at Board and committee meetings, stock ownership, 
specialized knowledge (such as an understanding of banking, accounting, marketing, finance, regulation and 
public policy) and a commitment to the Company's communities and shared values, as well as overall 
experience in the context of the needs of the Board as a whole.  The Company's Board of Directors looks for 
diversity among its members by ensuring directors have backgrounds with diverse business experience, living in 
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our different local geographic markets with sound business experience in many areas of operations of business.  
The Board looks for experience from individuals with business experience from the top levels of a business, 
understanding of financial concepts, human resources, marketing and communications, risk management, 
information technology and customer service common among all businesses;

• review nominations submitted by stockholders, which have been addressed to the Company's Secretary, and
which comply with the requirements of the Company's charter and bylaws.  Nominations from stockholders will
be considered and evaluated using the same criteria as all other nominations;

• annually recommend to the Board committee assignments and committee chairs on all committees of the Board,
and recommend committee members to fill vacancies on committees as necessary; and

• perform any other duties or responsibilities expressly delegated to the Committee by the Board.

Nominations of persons for election to the Board of Directors may be made only by or at the direction of the Board 
of Directors or by any stockholder entitled to vote for the election of directors who complies with the notice procedures.  
Pursuant to the Company's bylaws, nominations for directors by stockholders must be made in writing and received by the 
Secretary of the Company at the Company's principal executive offices no earlier than 120 days prior to the meeting date and 
no later than 90 days prior to the meeting date.  If, however, less than 100 days' notice or public announcement of the date of 
the meeting is given or made to stockholders, nominations must be received by the Company not later than the close of 
business on the tenth day following the earlier of the day on which notice of the date of the meeting was mailed or otherwise 
transmitted or the day on which public announcement of the date of the meeting was first made.  In addition to meeting the 
applicable deadline, nominations must be accompanied by certain information specified in the Company's bylaws.

Board Assessment

The Board of Directors and each of its committees performs an annual self-assessment of their performance. The 
Nominating Committee also completes a skills and qualifications assessment for each director, the results of which are 
reflected in the matrix below for each director who is expected to continue serving after the annual meeting.  This matrix is 
not a complete list of each director's strengths and contributions to the Board; further information can be found under each 
director's biographical information.
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As indicated in the above matrix and their biographical information, the Company's directors have significant 
experience in finance, accounting, auditing, business operations, public relations, lending, banking, risk management and 
information technology.  In addition to the skills and qualifications assessment, the Nominating Committee considers each 
director's and director nominee's professional and personal ethics and diversity of background, experience, education and 
geography.  Each of the Company's primary geographical markets, including Kansas City, Topeka, Wichita and Salina, are 
represented on its Board.  

Stockholder Communications with Directors

Stockholders may communicate with the Board of Directors by writing to: Natalie G. Haag, Executive Vice 
President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary, Capitol Federal Financial, Inc., 700 S. Kansas Avenue, Topeka, Kansas 
66603.

Board Member Attendance at Annual Stockholder Meetings

Although the Company does not have a formal policy regarding director attendance at annual stockholder meetings, 
directors are expected to attend these meetings absent extenuating circumstances.  All of the Company's directors attended 
last year's annual meeting of stockholders.
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EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

Compensation Discussion and Analysis

This section discusses the Company's compensation program, including how it relates to the executive officers 
named in the compensation tables that follow this section (who we sometimes refer to below and elsewhere in this proxy 
statement as the "named executive officers," or "NEOs"), consisting of:

• John B. Dicus, our Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer,

• Kent G. Townsend, our Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer,

• Rick C. Jackson, our Executive Vice President and Chief Lending Officer,

• Natalie G. Haag, our Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary and

• Anthony S. Barry, our Executive Vice President and Chief Corporate Services Officer.

Set forth below is an analysis of the objectives of our compensation program, the material compensation policy 
decisions we have made under this program and the material factors we considered in making those decisions.  

Overview of Compensation Program

The Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors (the "Committee"), which consists solely of independent 
directors, has responsibility for developing, implementing and monitoring adherence to the Company's compensation 
philosophies and program.  The Stock Benefit Committee, also comprised entirely of independent directors, administers and 
grants stock-based compensation awards from time to time.  Grants currently are made under our 2012 Equity Incentive Plan, 
which was approved by our stockholders in January 2012 and will expire as to new awards in January 2027.  See "Stock 
Incentive Plans" below.  The Committee is mindful of the compensation offered in the banking industry, both regionally and 
nationally, and the Company's business strategies.  The Committee strives to provide a complete compensation program that 
incentivizes executive officers to maximize the Company's performance with the goal of enhancing stockholder value.  The 
Company's compensation program is based upon the following philosophies:

• preserve the financial strength, safety and soundness of the Company and the Bank; 

• reward and retain key personnel by compensating them in the range of salaries at comparable financial 
institutions and making them eligible for annual cash bonuses based primarily on the Company's performance;

• focus management on maximizing earnings while managing risk by maintaining high asset quality, managing 
interest rate risk within Board guidelines, emphasizing cost control, establishing adequate compliance programs 
and maintaining appropriate levels of capital; and

• provide an opportunity to earn additional compensation if the Company's stockholders experience returns 
through stock price appreciation and/or dividends.

The Company's primary forms of current compensation for executive officers include base salary, short-term 
incentive compensation and long-term incentive compensation.  The Company has provided long-term compensation in the 
form of stock option and restricted stock awards and an employee stock ownership plan ("ESOP").  The Company also has a 
tax-qualified defined contribution retirement plan, health and life insurance benefits and paid time off benefits.  The 
Company offers insurance benefits, including flexible spending accounts for unreimbursed medical expenses and child care 
expenses, on a pre-tax basis, in which executive officers may participate with the same eligibility requirements as all other 
employees.

As a general matter, we have not offered employment agreements to any of our officers or employees.  We currently 
believe our named executive officers receive sufficient incentives from the existing compensation program that employment 
agreements are not necessary to induce them to remain with the Company.  The Company has entered into change in control 
severance agreements with each of the NEOs.  Each agreement entitles the executive to a severance payment if the 
executive's employment is terminated under certain circumstances within six months before or within 24 months after a 
change in control of the Company.  The Company believes these agreements will help incentivize the executives to continue 
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their employment with the Company amid the uncertainty that may arise in the event of a change in control.  See "Change in 
Control Severance Agreements" and "Payments upon Termination or Change in Control."

The Committee meets as needed during the year to consider all aspects of the Company's compensation program, 
including a review at least once per year of a tally sheet for each NEO quantifying every component of the NEO's 
compensation package, in order to satisfy itself that the total compensation paid to the NEO is reasonable and appropriate.  
As discussed in greater detail below under "Role of Management," the Committee meets with management to receive their 
analyses and recommendations, as requested by the Committee, considers the information provided to the Committee and 
makes decisions accordingly.

Base Salary

The Committee sets the base salaries for all executive officers of the Company.  The Committee sets policy directing 
fair and reasonable compensation levels throughout the Company by taking into account the influences of market conditions 
on each operational area of the Company and the relative compensation at different management levels within each 
operational area.  The Committee recognizes that base salary is the primary compensation package component that is fixed in 
amount before the fiscal year begins and is paid during the year without regard to the Company's performance.  The base 
salary for each NEO reflects the Committee's consideration of a combination of factors, including: competitive market salary, 
the comparability of responsibilities of similarly situated NEOs at other institutions, the officer's experience and tenure, 
overall operational and managerial effectiveness and breadth of responsibility for each officer.  

Each NEO's base salary and performance is reviewed annually.  Base salary is not targeted to be a percentage of 
total compensation, although the Committee does consider the total amount of each NEO's compensation when setting NEO 
base salaries. 

The Committee has not used third party consultants or other service providers to present compensation plan 
suggestions or market compensation data for executive officers.  Instead, the Committee has directed the President and CEO 
to provide comparable market salary data for executive officers based upon a selected population of comparable financial 
institutions.

The most recent comparison information was compiled from information reported in the then-most recent proxy 
statements of the financial institutions listed below.  The financial institutions selected for comparison purposes were based 
upon the President and CEO's knowledge of the selected financial institutions and the comparability of their operations, 
corporate structure and/or size relative to the Company.  Financial institutions selected for comparison purposes may be 
added or removed from the list each year as a result of acquisitions, closings, operating in a distressed mode or because 
another financial institution compares more appropriately to the operations of the Company than a previously listed financial 
institution.  

The financial institutions in the most recent comparison included the following publicly held financial institutions 
with total assets, as of each institution's most recent fiscal year-end, of between $5.0 billion and $22.6 billion: TFS Financial 
(organized in a mutual holding company, or MHC, structure), Washington Federal, Northwest Bancshares, Community Bank 
System, BancFirst, Provident Financial Services, Park National Corporation, National Bank Holdings, Republic Bancorp, 
First Busey Corporation, Horizon Bancorp, Great Southern Bancorp, Inc., and Equity Bancshares, Inc. 

The comparison shows how our executive officer salaries and annual cash compensation compare on a national and 
local scale with other financial institutions, reflecting institutions among which we would most likely compete for executive 
talent, with a slightly greater weighting to regional institutions.  The Committee received information showing the base 
compensation of the CEO, CFO and the next three NEOs in each company's proxy statement.  The levels of compensation 
paid to our CEO and CFO are compared directly to the equivalent titles in the listed companies.  The compensation of the 
highest paid NEO within each of the companies listed above, not including the CEO or CFO, is compared to compensation 
paid to our most highly compensated NEO, not including the CEO or CFO.  The compensation of the second highest paid 
NEO within each of the companies listed above, not including the CEO or CFO, is compared to compensation paid to our 
second most highly compensated NEO, not including the CEO or CFO.  The compensation of the third highest paid NEO 
within each of the companies listed above, not including the CEO or CFO, is compared to compensation paid to our third 
most highly compensated NEO, not including the CEO or CFO.
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The Committee reviews the comparison data provided and does not attempt to set the base salaries of our NEOs at 
specific target percentiles of the comparison data provided.  The Committee uses this data in conjunction with setting the base 
salary of each NEO, whose salary is discussed below, in light of the range of base salaries paid among the comparable 
financial institutions.  Because the positions other than the CEO and CFO may not be directly comparable between financial 
institutions, the Committee exercises its judgment in determining where in the salary ranges of the comparison financial 
institutions the compensation for our other NEOs should fall.  The salaries for the CEO and CFO, in general, fall within the 
25th to 50th percentile of the range of comparable salaries based upon a review of the comparison companies.  In general, the 
range of salaries for the NEOs other than the CEO and CFO is narrow because the comparison in range of salaries among the 
other NEO executive officer positions in the various market comparisons reviewed is not considered sufficiently different by 
the Committee to warrant a wider spread in base salary.  The salary of the CEO is established to reflect his hands-on 
approach to leadership and the involvement he provides the Company on a daily basis, the leadership roles he fills in local, 
regional and national industry-related activities and his direct involvement in addressing stockholder value and stockholder 
relations.  The salaries of the CFO and each of the other NEOs are established to also reflect their respective roles in the 
management structure of the Company.

The Committee does not put as much emphasis on the market comparison information when considering bonus or 
other incentive compensation as it does on base salary for the Company's executive officers. This is primarily because of the 
divergence in practice regarding the structure of bonus plans and the types of incentives offered executive officers at other 
financial institutions.  

Compensation and Incentive Plan Risk Assessment

At the direction of the Compensation Committee, our Audit Services Director, with the assistance of our Human 
Resources Director, reviewed all compensation and incentive programs within the Company to ensure the programs were 
working as designed and intended.  The results of this review indicated that all plans were working as designed and intended 
and did not allow for compensation benefits beyond those intended by the programs.  

Bonus Incentive Plans

All officers of the Company are eligible to receive cash bonuses on an annual basis under the Short Term 
Performance Plan ("STPP") based upon the Company's financial performance and the individual officer's performance during 
the fiscal year.  The cash awards are generally made in January of the year following the fiscal year end of September 30 
(e.g., in January 2025, in the case of the STPP award for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024) (the "Scheduled Payment 
Date").  

A participant's STPP award may not exceed the percentage of salary specified in the plan for his or her position 
level.  For the Chairman, President and CEO, the maximum percentage is 60%, and for each of the other NEOs, the 
maximum percentage is 40%.  The STPP is intended to:

• promote stability of operations and the achievement of earnings targets and business goals; 

• link executive compensation to specific corporate objectives and individual results; and 

• provide a competitive reward structure for officers.

Generally, in November of each fiscal year, after considering management's company performance 
recommendations (see "Role of Management" below), the Committee sets target, maximum and minimum performance 
levels for that year.  The targeted performance level is the most likely performance level forecasted for the Company in the 
ensuing fiscal year given the operational considerations described below.  As discussed below, the Committee considered 
three targets for fiscal year 2025 in order to focus management on the performance of the Company as a whole: efficiency 
ratio; basic earnings per share and return on average equity.  By focusing on the overall performance of the Company, over 
time the Committee believes the value to the stockholder from management's performance will be maximized.  In seeking to 
maximize the performance of the Company, management focuses on all critical risks and objectives of the Company.  By not 
taking excessive credit risk and keeping interest rate risk at or below levels established by the Board, it is believed that the 
Company's earnings likely will remain strong over time.  By managing the amount of capital of the Bank, the Company 
benefits by having a proper amount of leverage which improves the opportunities to enhance earnings.  Focusing on cost 
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control helps to mitigate risks that operating expenses will rise beyond the level at which they are supportable by the Bank's 
operating income.  

As indicated above, the areas of Company performance targeted for fiscal 2025 consisted of the efficiency ratio, 
basic earnings per share and return on average equity.  The efficiency ratio is computed by dividing total non-interest expense 
by the sum of net interest and dividend income and total other income.  Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing net 
income for the fiscal year by the average basic shares outstanding for the fiscal year.  Return on average equity is computed 
by dividing net income for the fiscal year by the average month end balance of total stockholders' equity for the thirteen 
monthly time periods from the prior fiscal year end through the current fiscal year end, ending September 30th.  The 
efficiency ratio, basic earnings per share and return on average equity are equally weighted.  

In general, the Company performance targets for the STPP are based upon the ensuing year's forecast of business 
activity, interest rates, pricing assumptions, operating assumptions and net income determined using market- based 
assumptions as of September 30th of the just completed fiscal year. For each fiscal year, the targets are established based upon 
internally generated (forecasted) performance results and externally generated performance results from independent analysts 
who cover the Company.  The results are weighted 80% for the internally generated results and 20% for the external results.  
For fiscal year 2026, the efficiency ratio is being replaced with the operating expense ratio, which is computed by dividing 
total non-interest expense by average total assets.  This change is intended to provide a more direct measure of management's 
ability to control operating costs by removing the impact of interest rate fluctuations, which affect the net interest income 
component of the efficiency ratio.  The targets for earnings per share and return on average equity are established based upon 
the forecasted performance of the Company and anticipated capital management plans for the Company.    

There are two "scales" for each performance target: (i) a "target" scale, which includes increments between the target 
level of performance and a maximum level of performance, and decrements between the target level of performance and a 
minimum level of performance; and (ii) an "award" scale, which proceeds at one percent increments beginning at 20% in 
correspondence to the minimum performance level on the target scale, through 60% in correspondence to the target level of 
performance on the target scale, and up to 100% in correspondence to the maximum level of performance on the target scale.  
Plan participants will earn a percentage on the award scale for a particular performance target of between 20% (if 
performance is at the minimum level of performance on the target scale) and 100% (if performance is at or above the 
maximum level of performance on the target scale).  The percentage earned on the award scale for a particular performance 
target will be zero if performance is below the minimum level of performance on the target scale.  The average of the 
percentages earned on the award scales for the three performance targets represents the total percentage of the maximum 
possible STPP award each participant has earned for the Company performance component of the STPP award.  In order to 
pay the full amount of an award under the STPP based on performance above the target level, the Committee must determine 
that the Company had actual net income for the fiscal year in excess of targeted net income for the fiscal year equal to at least 
five times the aggregate dollar amount of the portion of the total STPP awards for that year that would be made above the 
target level.  

Below is a table showing the targets established and the performance achieved for fiscal years 2025, 2024 and 2023.  
The "percent of total" columns represent, for each performance target (efficiency ratio, basic earnings per share and return on 
average equity), the percentage earned on the award scale for that target, based on the level of achievement on the target 
scale.  The "total" column represents the average of the award scale percentages earned for the three performance targets, 
which, as noted above, represents the total percentage of the maximum possible STPP award that has been earned for the 
Company performance component of the STPP award.  For fiscal year 2025 the level of achievement for the efficiency ratio 
was under the target while the level of performance for basic earnings per share and return on average equity exceeded the 
targets.  For fiscal year 2024, the level of achievement was below the minimum for basic earnings per share and return on 
average equity and between the target and the minimum for the efficiency ratio.  For fiscal year 2023, for which the Company 
incurred a net loss, the award scale percentage earned for each performance target was determined to be zero.
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The incentive bonus amounts awarded to the NEOs for fiscal years 2025 and 2024 under the STPP are set forth in 
the "Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation" column of the Summary Compensation Table.  As noted above, no incentive 
bonus amounts were awarded to the NEOs for fiscal year 2023 under the STPP.  

Stock Incentive Plans

The Company's Stock Incentive Plans are designed to provide incentives for long-term positive performance of the 
executive officers by aligning their interests with those of our stockholders by providing the executive officer the opportunity 
to participate in the appreciation, if any, in the Company's stock price which may occur after the date options are granted.  
Awards of restricted stock are intended to further align executive officers' interests with stockholders' interests.  

Awards of stock options and restricted stock currently are made under our 2012 Equity Incentive Plan, which was 
approved by stockholders in January 2012.  The Stock Benefit Committee administers this plan, determines eligibility and 
grants awards.  Since fiscal year 2017, awards have primarily been made in conjunction with the hiring of an eligible officer 
and promotions.  Also, since fiscal year 2017, new awards have primarily been in the form of restricted stock in order to 
provide award recipients with a direct and immediate sense of equity ownership.  In addition, the 2012 Equity Incentive Plan 
allows stock awards for exceptional performance. No NEO received an equity incentive award during fiscal year 2025.

As required by the 2012 Equity Incentive Plan, stock options have an exercise price that is equal to the closing price 
as of the date of the grant.  The Stock Benefit Committee does not take material non-public information into account when 
determining the timing and terms of options and stock awards, and we have not timed the disclosure of material non-public 
information for the purpose of affecting the value of executive compensation.

At the annual meeting, stockholders will be asked to approve our 2026 Omnibus Incentive Plan, which would permit 
the granting of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance shares and 
performance units.  If our 2026 Omnibus Incentive Plan is approved at the annual meeting, then no future awards will be 
made under our 2012 Equity Incentive Plan.  See "Proposal III.  Approval of the 2026 Omnibus Incentive Plan."

Role of Management

The Committee makes all decisions regarding the compensation of our executive officers.  The Committee has asked 
the President and CEO to provide, in addition to the comparable market salary data based upon a selected population of 
comparable financial institutions at both the regional and national levels, reviews of the performance of each NEO except for 
himself and recommendations for the salaries of each NEO except for himself and any recommendations for stock awards.  
Management recommends the target, minimum and maximum performance goals for the Company and the related bonus 
targets under the STPP to be approved by the Committee.  In addition, management may from time to time recommend 
changes to the compensation program in response to changes in the marketplace in which the Company competes for 
executive talent and in light of the absolute performance level of the Company.  The compensation of the CEO is determined 
by the Committee without prior recommendations from him.  The Committee makes all decisions in light of the information 
provided and the Committee members' experience and expectations for all NEOs.  

Stockholder "Say-on-Pay" Vote 

Since our annual meeting of stockholders held in February 2011, we have been required under the Dodd-Frank Wall 
Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (the "Dodd-Frank Act") to include a non-binding, advisory "say-on-pay" vote in 
our annual meeting proxy statement at least once every three years, and, at least once every six years, a non-binding, advisory 
vote on the frequency of future say-on-pay votes (commonly referred to as a "say-on-pay frequency vote"), with stockholders 
having the choice of every year, every two years or every three years.  We last had a "say-on-pay frequency vote" at our 
annual meeting of stockholders held in January 2023, on which stockholders cast the most votes in favor of a frequency of 
every year for future say-on-pay votes, and will be holding a say-on-pay frequency vote again at our annual meeting of 
stockholders in 2029.  At our annual meeting of stockholders held in January 2025, stockholders approved the compensation 
of the Company's executives, as disclosed in the Company's proxy statement for that meeting, with approximately 95% of the 
votes cast in favor.
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Perquisites and Other Personal Benefits

For fiscal year 2025, no NEO received any perquisites or other personal benefits in excess of $10,000 in the 
aggregate.  

Retirement and Other Benefits Generally

The Company provides an ESOP and a defined contribution plan to all employees who qualify for participation 
under each plan.  The ESOP provides for the allocation of shares of the Company's common stock annually among all 
participants based upon each employee's qualifying compensation as a percentage of the total of all qualifying compensation 
for all participants.  Each NEO participates in the ESOP and the defined contribution plan.

The defined contribution plan is a 401(k) plan in which the eligibility and participation requirements, allocation 
calculations and contribution limits apply to all employees, including NEOs.  All employees have the opportunity to direct 
their investment in the plan.  For fiscal year 2025, the Company matched 25% of the employee's contribution, up to the first 
3% of eligible compensation contributed by the employee.  The Company does not offer any defined benefit plan or post-
retirement benefit plan that requires expense to the Company following the termination of employment of any NEO.

The Company provides a life insurance benefit for every employee who works on average more than 20 hours per 
week.  The benefit is 1.0 times the employee's base salary, subject to a cap on the total death benefit of $500,000 in the case 
of Mr. Dicus, $444,000 in the case of Mr. Townsend, $370,000 in the case of Mr. Jackson, $340,000 in the case of Ms. Haag 
and $320,000 in the case of Mr. Barry.  Benefits for all employees in excess of $50,000 result in taxable income.  Each of the 
NEOs participates in this benefit program.  

The Company has purchased a life insurance annuity for the CEO, which includes a $5.0 million death benefit.  The 
salary of the CEO has been grossed up for the cost of the annuity and the income tax associated with the resulting imputed 
taxable income.  The Company has provided this gross up because the Company wished to provide the life insurance annuity 
benefit to the CEO without him having to bear the associated tax obligation.  The gross up for this benefit is not included in 
the base salary of the CEO but is included in the "All Other Compensation" column of the Summary Compensation Table. 

In addition to the life insurance benefits discussed above, the Bank has purchased Bank Owned Life Insurance for 
eligible employees.  Each insured employee was provided the opportunity to designate a beneficiary to receive a death benefit 
equal to the insured employee's base salary as of the Board approval date of the purchase if the insured dies while employed 
by the Bank.  All NEOs other than Mr. Barry are covered under Bank Owned Life Insurance purchased by the Bank and have 
designated beneficiaries.  Once the covered NEO's employment with the Bank terminates, the death benefit to the beneficiary 
of the covered NEO terminates as well.  

Change in Control Benefits

The Company has entered into agreements with each of the NEOs to provide a severance payment if their 
employment is terminated under specified circumstances within six months before or 24 months after a change in control of 
the Company.  See "Change in Control Severance Agreements" and "Payments upon Termination or Change in Control."

The terms of our stock options and restricted stock awards provide for accelerated vesting only in the case of a 
change in control.  See "Payments upon Termination or Change in Control." 

Stock Ownership Guidelines 

In November 2011, the Company's Board of Directors adopted stock ownership guidelines, effective January 1, 
2012, which are applicable to the Company's directors and executive and senior officers.  It is the Board's intention to 
encourage recipients of future equity-based awards, if any, to retain ownership of the shares relating to those awards to 
further align their interests with the interests of the Company's stockholders.  The guidelines provide as follows:

• The CEO shall own five times his salary, directors shall own four times their annual fee, executive vice 
presidents and senior vice presidents shall own three times their salaries and first vice presidents shall own one 
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times their salary, in each case in shares of the Company's common stock.  Each director and officer shall have 
five years to attain the ownership guidelines.  

• Shares owned directly or by immediate family members of the director or officer shall be included in
determining the amount of common stock owned for purposes of the guidelines.

• Shares acquired in the ESOP through the reinvestment of dividends shall also be included in determining the
amount of common stock owned for purposes of the guidelines.

• If, at the end of five years, a director or an officer does not comply with the ownership guidelines, he or she
shall not receive future awards under the Company's stock benefit plans until he or she complies with the
guidelines.

Other Tax Considerations

As in effect during fiscal year 2018 and prior taxable years, Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code generally 
eliminated the deductibility of compensation over $1 million paid to the principal executive officer and certain highly 
compensated executive officers of publicly held corporations, excluding certain qualified performance-based compensation.  
Stock options automatically constituted qualified performance-based compensation, provided that certain plan content and 
grant procedure requirements were met.  Effective for fiscal 2019 and future taxable years, H.R. 1, originally known as the 
"Tax Cut and Jobs Act," amended Section 162(m) to provide that qualified performance-based compensation will be subject 
to the $1 million deduction limit, subject to grandfathering of amounts payable under certain agreements in effect on 
November 2, 2017.
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Payments upon Termination or Change in Control 

As discussed under "Change in Control Severance Agreements," the Company has entered into change in control 
severance agreements with each of the NEOs.  Each agreement entitles the executive to a severance payment if, within six 
months before or 24 months after a change in control of the Company, the executive's employment is terminated by the 
Company without cause, is terminated as a result of the executive's death, disability or retirement or is terminated by the 
executive for "good reason."  

The amount of the severance payment under each change in control severance agreement is 2.99 times the 
executive's average annual W-2 compensation during the five full calendar years prior to the date of termination of 
employment.  If their employment had been terminated as of September 30, 2025 under circumstances entitling them to 
severance payments under their change in control severance agreements, the amounts of the payments to Messrs. Dicus, 
Townsend and Jackson, Ms. Haag and Mr. Barry would have been approximately $3.2 million, $1.4 million, $1.0 million, 
$967 thousand and $924 thousand, respectively.  The agreements provide that severance and other payments that are subject 
to a change in control will be reduced as much as necessary to ensure that no amounts payable to the executive will be 
considered excess parachute payments under Section 280G of the Internal Revenue Code.

Under the general terms of stock options and restricted stock granted under the Company's 2012 Equity Incentive 
Plan, upon the occurrence of a change in control of the Company, all unvested stock options and unvested shares of restricted 
stock will vest.  As of September 30, 2025, none of the NEOs held unvested stock options or unvested shares of restricted 
stock.  

The Company's STPP provides that if, within two years following a change in control of the Company, a 
participant's employment is terminated other than due to death, disability, retirement, cause or resignation by the participant 
(other than resignation due to reassignment to a job that is not reasonably equivalent in responsibility or compensation, or that 
is not in the same geographic area, or resignation within 30 days following a reduction in base pay), then the participant will 
be paid a pro rata award for the performance year in which his or her termination of employment occurs, with the award 
amount determined assuming all individual and corporate performance targets have been met.  Had any of Messrs. Dicus, 
Townsend or Jackson, Ms. Haag or Mr. Barry experienced such a termination of employment on September 30, 2025, they 
would have been entitled to the regular bonus earned for the year, rather than a pro rata award with assumed maximum 
achievement of performance targets, since the performance period for the year actually ended on that date. 

The Company's DIBP provides that if, within two years following a change in control of the Company, a 
participant's employment is terminated other than due to death, disability, retirement, cause or resignation by the participant 
(other than resignation due to reassignment to a job that is not reasonably equivalent in responsibility or compensation, or that 
is not in the same geographic area, or resignation within 30 days following a reduction in base pay), then the participant will 
become fully vested in his or her plan account, which shall be paid to him or her within 90 days after the termination date.  If 
Messrs. Dicus, Townsend or Jackson, Ms. Haag or Mr. Barry had experienced such a termination of employment on 
September 30, 2025, the amounts of their DIBP accounts that would have vested and been payable within 90 days would 
have been $257,565, $152,045, $113,960, $108,812 and $101,064, respectively. 

As discussed under "Compensation Discussion and Analysis—Retirement and Other Benefits Generally," the 
Company provides a life insurance benefit for every employee who works on average more than 20 hours per week equal to 
1.0 times the employee's base salary, subject to a cap on the total death benefit of $500,000 in the case of Mr. Dicus, 
$444,000 in the case of Mr. Townsend, $370,000 in the case of Mr. Jackson, $340,000 in the case of Ms. Haag and $320,000 
in the case of Mr. Barry.  Each of the NEOs participates in this benefit program.  Had Messrs. Dicus, Townsend or Jackson, 
Ms. Haag or Mr. Barry died on September 30, 2025, the death benefit payable under this program would have been $500,000, 
$444,000, $370,000, $340,000 and $320,000, respectively. 

As also discussed under "Compensation Discussion and Analysis—Retirement and Other Benefits Generally," the 
Company has purchased a life insurance annuity for Mr. Dicus, which includes a $5.0 million death benefit.  Accordingly, 
had Mr. Dicus died on September 30, 2025, a death benefit would have been payable for him in this amount.  

In addition, as discussed under "Compensation Discussion and Analysis—Retirement and Other Benefits 
Generally," the Bank has purchased Bank Owned Life Insurance.  Under the terms of the Bank Owned Life Insurance, each 
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insured employee was provided the opportunity to designate a beneficiary to receive a death benefit equal to the insured 
employee's base salary as of the date of Board approval of the purchase if the insured dies while employed by the Bank.  All 
the NEOs other than Mr. Barry are covered under Bank Owned Life Insurance purchased by the Bank and have designated 
beneficiaries.  Had Messrs. Dicus, Townsend or Jackson or Ms. Haag died on September 30, 2025, the death benefit payable 
under the Bank Owned Life Insurance to their beneficiaries would have been $610,481, $330,000, $235,000 and $215,000, 
respectively. 

Compensation Committee Report

The Compensation Committee has reviewed and discussed the Compensation Discussion and Analysis contained 
above with management and, based on such review and discussion, the Compensation Committee recommended to the 
Company's Board of Directors that the Compensation Discussion and Analysis be included in this proxy statement.  

The foregoing report is furnished by the Compensation Committee of the Company's Board of Directors:

Michael T. McCoy (Chair)
Michel' Philipp Cole
Morris J. Huey, II
Jeffrey M. Johnson 
James G. Morris
Carlton A. Ricketts
Jeffrey R. Thompson

CEO Pay Ratio 

For fiscal year 2025, the annual total compensation for our median employee was $45,587 and the annual total 
compensation for our CEO was $1,324,805.  The resulting ratio of our CEO's pay to the pay of our median employee for 
fiscal year 2025 was 29.1 to 1. 

We identified the median employee by examining total W-2, Box 1 compensation for all individuals, excluding our 
CEO, who were employed by us on September 30, 2025.  We included all employees, whether employed on a full-time, part-
time or seasonal basis.  We did not make any cost-of-living adjustments in identifying the median employee.  We did not 
adjust employee compensation with respect to total compensation by annualizing the compensation for any full-time or part-
time employees that were not employed by us for all of fiscal year 2025.  We are using a new median employee for fiscal 
year 2025 because we had staffing changes during fiscal year 2025 that we believe would result in a significant change in our 
pay ratio disclosure.

We calculated the median employee's annual total compensation using the same methodology we use for our named 
executive officers as set forth in the fiscal year 2025 Summary Compensation Table in this proxy statement. 

Pay Versus Performance

As required by the Dodd-Frank Act and the SEC's implementing rules, we are providing the following information 
about the relationship between executive compensation actually paid ("CAP") and certain measures of financial performance. 
CAP is calculated in accordance with SEC rules and does not reflect the actual amount of compensation earned or paid during 
the applicable year.  For further information concerning the Company's compensation philosophy and how the Company 
seeks to align executive compensation with its performance, see the "Compensation Discussion and Analysis" section above.
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Pay Versus Performance Graphs

In accordance with SEC rules, we have prepared the graphs below, which overlay the following performance results 
with CAP:

• Company TSR versus CAP to the PEO and average CAP to the Non-PEO NEOs for each covered year.

• Company net income versus CAP to the PEO and average CAP to the Non-PEO NEOs for each covered year.

• Company basic earnings per share CAP to the PEO and average CAP to the Non-PEO NEOs for each covered
year.

• Company TSR versus peer group TSR for each covered year.
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COMPENSATION COMMITTEE INTERLOCKS AND INSIDER PARTICIPATION

The Company's compensation plans and matters are administered by the Stock Benefit Committee and the 
Compensation Committee.  The Stock Benefit Committee is currently comprised of Directors Ricketts (Chair), Cole, Huey, 
Johnson, McCoy, Morris, and Thompson.  The Compensation Committee is currently comprised of Directors McCoy (Chair), 
Cole, Huey, Johnson, Morris, Ricketts and Thompson.  Directors Huey and Ricketts are former officers of the Company. 

CERTAIN TRANSACTIONS

The charter of the Audit Committee of the Company's Board of Directors provides that the Audit Committee is to 
review and approve all related party transactions (defined as transactions requiring disclosure under Item 404 of SEC 
Regulation S-K) on a regular basis.

Capitol Federal Savings has followed a policy of granting loans to officers and directors.  These loans are made in 
the ordinary course of business and on the same terms and conditions as those of comparable transactions with the general 
public prevailing at the time, in accordance with our underwriting guidelines, and do not involve more than the normal risk of 
collectability or present other unfavorable features. 

All loans that Capitol Federal Savings makes to directors and executive officers are subject to regulations of the 
Office of the Comptroller of the Currency restricting loans and other transactions with affiliated persons of Capitol Federal 
Savings.  Loans to all directors and executive officers and their related persons totaled approximately $2.4 million at 
September 30, 2025, which was approximately 0.23% of our consolidated equity at that date.  All loans to directors and 
executive officers were performing in accordance with their terms at September 30, 2025.  

William J. Skrobacz, Jr., the son-in-law of John B. Dicus, is employed as Executive Vice President and Chief Retail 
Operations Officer of the Company and Capitol Federal Savings.  For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2025, 
Mr. Skrobacz's compensation included salary of $297,693, an incentive bonus of $115,236 (which includes a matching 
contribution by Capitol Federal Savings under the DIBP of $23,047 on the portion of Mr. Skrobacz's incentive bonus that he 
elected to defer), matching contributions under Capitol Federal Savings' 401(k) plan of $2,322, an ESOP allocation with a 
value (based on the closing price of the Company's common stock on September 30, 2025) of $8,641, term life insurance 
premiums of $518 and dividends of $4,482 on unvested shares of restricted stock. 

Trevor Jackson, the son of Rick C. Jackson, is employed as an Assistant Vice President and Commercial Loan 
Officer of Capitol Federal Savings.  For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2025, Trevor Jackson's compensation included 
salary of $118,393, an incentive bonus of $20,774, matching contributions under Capitol Federal Savings' 401(k) plan of 
$912, an ESOP allocation with a value (based on the closing price of the Company's common stock on September 30, 2025) 
of $3,394, term life insurance premiums of $79 and dividends of $408 unvested shares of restricted stock.

Matt McLaughlin, the son-in-law of Anthony S. Barry, is employed as an Assistant Vice President and Commercial 
Loan Officer of Capitol Federal Savings.  For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2025, Mr. McLaughlin's compensation 
included salary of $111,394, an incentive bonus of $19,320, matching contributions under Capitol Federal Savings' 401(k) 
plan of $857, an ESOP allocation with a value (based on the closing price of the Company's common stock on September 30, 
2025) of $3,257, term life insurance premiums of $68 and dividends of $408 on unvested shares of restricted stock.
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The information contained in this report shall not be deemed to be "soliciting material" or to be "filed" with the 
SEC, nor shall such information be incorporated by reference into any future filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as 
amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, except to the extent that the Company specifically 
incorporates it by reference in such filing.

The Audit Committee has reviewed and discussed the audited financial statements of the Company for the fiscal 
year ended September 30, 2025 with management.  The Audit Committee has discussed with KPMG, the Company's 
independent registered public accounting firm, the matters required to be discussed by the applicable requirements of the 
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (the "PCAOB") and the SEC.

The Audit Committee has also received the written disclosures and the letter from KPMG required by applicable 
requirements of the PCAOB regarding KPMG's communications with the Audit Committee concerning independence, and 
discussed with KPMG their independence.

Based on the Audit Committee's review and discussions noted above, the Audit Committee recommended to the 
Company's Board of Directors that the Company's audited financial statements be included in the Company's Annual Report 
on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2025, for filing with the SEC.

The foregoing report is furnished by the Audit Committee of the Company's Board of Directors.

Jeffrey R. Thompson (Chair)
Michel' Philipp Cole
Jeffrey M. Johnson
Morris J. Huey, II
Michael T. McCoy
James G. Morris
Carlton A. Ricketts
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PROPOSAL II

ADVISORY VOTE ON EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Under the Dodd-Frank Act, we are including in this proxy statement and will present at the annual meeting a non-
binding stockholder vote to approve the compensation of our executives, as described in the proxy statement pursuant to the 
compensation disclosure rules of the SEC.  This proposal, commonly known as a "say-on-pay" vote, gives stockholders the 
opportunity to endorse or not endorse the compensation of the Company's executives as disclosed in this proxy statement.  
This proposal will be presented at the annual meeting as a resolution in substantially the following form:

RESOLVED, that the compensation paid to the Company's named executive officers, as disclosed in the Company's 
proxy statement for the annual meeting pursuant to Item 402 of Regulation S-K, including the Compensation 
Discussion and Analysis, compensation tables and narrative discussion, is hereby approved.

This vote will not be binding on the Company's Board of Directors and may not be construed as overruling a 
decision by the Board or creating or implying any change to the fiduciary duties of the Board.  Nor will it affect any 
compensation previously paid or awarded to any executive.  The Compensation Committee and the Board may, however, 
take into account the outcome of the vote when considering future executive compensation arrangements.  

The Dodd-Frank Act requires that we include a "say-on-pay" vote in our annual meeting proxy statement at least 
once every three years, and that at least once every six years we hold a non-binding, advisory vote on the frequency of future 
say-on-pay votes (commonly referred to as a "say-on-pay frequency vote"), with stockholders having the choice of every 
year, every two years or every three years.  We last included a say-on-pay frequency vote at our annual meeting of 
stockholders held in January 2023, and the most votes were received for a frequency of every year.  Our Board of Directors 
determined, in light of those results, that we would include a say-on-pay vote in our annual meeting proxy materials every 
year until the next required say-on-pay frequency vote is held (in 2029). 

The purpose of our compensation programs is to attract and retain experienced, highly qualified executives critical 
to our long-term success and enhancement of stockholder value.  The Board of Directors believes that our compensation 
programs achieve this objective, and therefore recommends that stockholders vote "FOR" this proposal.
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PROPOSAL III

APPROVAL OF THE 2026 OMNIBUS INCENTIVE PLAN
Introduction

On November 25, 2025, based upon the recommendation of the Compensation Committee, our Board of Directors 
approved the Company's 2026 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the "2026 Plan"), subject to approval by the Company's stockholders 
at the annual meeting.  The 2026 Plan will only become effective if it is approved by the Company's stockholders at the 
annual meeting.

The purpose of the 2026 Plan is to continue to promote the long-term success, and enhance the long-term value, of 
the Company by linking the personal interests of employees and directors with those of the Company's stockholders.  The 
2026 Plan is further intended to provide flexibility to the Company in its ability to motivate, attract, and retain the services of 
employees and directors upon whose judgment, interest and special effort the successful conduct of its operation largely is 
dependent, in a manner that does not expose the Company to imprudent risks and that is consistent with the long-term health 
of the Company.

We currently have one active equity-based incentive plan in effect, the Company's 2012 Equity Incentive Plan (the 
"Existing Plan"), which provides for awards of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock and restricted stock 
units to employees, officers and directors (including emeritus directors and advisory directors) of the Company and its 
subsidiaries.  If our stockholders approve the 2026 Plan, no further awards will be made under the Existing Plan, and shares 
of the Company's common stock reserved to make new awards under that plan will be released; shares of common stock 
reserved to fund issued and outstanding awards under the Existing Plan will continue to be reserved for those awards.  All 
awards outstanding under the Existing Plan will remain outstanding in accordance with their terms and will continue to be 
governed solely by the terms of the documents evidencing such awards, and no provision of the 2026 Plan will be deemed to 
affect or otherwise modify the rights or obligations of the holders of such awards with respect to their acquisition of shares.

Reasons for Seeking Stockholder Approval of the 2026 Plan

We use equity compensation as a key tool for attracting, retaining and motivating the best available talent.  Our 
stockholders previously authorized a total of 8,270,500 shares of common stock for awards under the Existing Plan.  As of 
September 30, 2025, 166,422 shares were subject to outstanding restricted stock awards under the Existing Plan and 231,809 
shares were subject to outstanding stock options awarded under the Existing Plan and 5,828,204 shares remained available 
for future awards under the Existing Plan.  We believe approval of the 2026 Plan is critical to ensuring that we have adequate 
shares available to attract, retain and motivate top talent. 

Certain Considerations

Our Board of Directors has approved and is recommending that our stockholders approve the 2026 Plan because it 
believes the design of the 2026 Plan and the number of shares to be authorized for issuance are consistent with the interests of 
stockholders and good corporate governance practices.  In approving the 2026 Plan, the Board was aware of investor 
considerations relating to the 2026 Plan, including the following: 

Burn Rate; Longevity of Authorized Shares. Burn rate, which is a measure of the rate at which companies use (or 
burn) shares available for grant in their equity compensation plans, is an important factor for investors concerned about 
stockholder dilution.  The burn rate is defined in terms of the gross number of equity awards granted during a fiscal year 
divided by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the year.  Our current three-year 
average burn rate is approximately 0.06%.

Although our future annual share usage will depend upon and be influenced by a number of factors, such as the 
number of plan participants, the price per share of our common stock and the methodology used to establish the equity award 
mix, the 1,500,000 shares of common stock reserved for issuance under the 2026 Plan will enable us to continue to utilize 
equity awards as an important component of our compensation program and help meet our objectives to attract, retain and 
incentivize talented personnel.  The calculation of the share reserve took into account, among other things: (i) our stock price 
and volatility, (ii) our historic share burn rate and overhang, (iii) the existing terms of our outstanding awards, and (iv) our 
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proposed fungible share rate of 2-for-1 for full value awards (stock-based awards other than stock options and stock 
appreciation rights) under the 2026 Plan.  The results of this analysis were presented to our Compensation Committee for 
their consideration.  In addition, we anticipate that the fungible share design will permit a more efficient and effective use of 
those shares for future equity awards.  Upon approval of the proposal, based on the factors described above, we estimate that 
the pool of shares available under the 2026 Plan will last for approximately 10 years.

Plan Cost. Another metric often used by investors to assess the appropriateness of the number of shares to be 
authorized for issuance under an equity plan is the cost of the shares relative to the current outstanding shares of the 
Company.  The 1,500,000 shares being requested will represent 1.1% of the 131,438,305 shares outstanding as of the record 
date for the annual meeting.  To the extent we grant full value awards, the number of additional shares which will actually be 
issued will be less, because each share issued under full value awards counts on a 2-for-1 basis against the number of shares 
authorized for issuance, according to the 2026 Plan.  For example, this means that, for every 100 shares of restricted stock 
issued by us under the 2026 Plan, the number of shares available under the 2026 Plan will be reduced by 200 shares.  We 
believe these facts should be viewed favorably by investors as they demonstrate that the cost of our 2026 Plan is reasonable.

Overhang. Overhang is another measure that is sometimes used to assess the dilutive impact of equity programs such 
as the 2026 Plan.  Overhang indicates the amount by which existing stockholder ownership would be diluted if the shares 
authorized for issuance under the Existing Plan, coupled with the unissued shares subject to outstanding awards under the 
Existing Plan, were issued.  As of September 30, 2025, the overhang stood at 4.6%, which we calculated by dividing (i) the 
number of unissued shares underlying outstanding awards under the Existing Plan plus shares available for future awards 
under the Existing Plan by (ii) the total number of shares of common stock outstanding.  Using the same method of 
calculation, the 1,500,000 shares to be authorized under the 2026 Plan (taking into account that no further grants will be made 
under the Existing Plan if stockholders approve the 2026 Plan) will result in an overhang of between 0.6% and 1.1%, 
depending on the mix of awards.  We believe these levels of overhang should not be viewed as excessive by investors. 

The following description sets forth the material terms of the 2026 Plan.  It does not purport to be complete and is 
qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the 2026 Plan, a copy of which is attached to this proxy statement as 
Appendix A.

Corporate Governance Practices

The 2026 Plan incorporates the following provisions that enable us to maintain sound corporate governance 
practices in granting equity-based awards to employees and directors that we believe are consistent with the interests of 
stockholders, including:

• Limited on Shares Authorized: Based on our current three-year average burn rate, we believe that the shares 
authorized for issuance under the 2026 Plan would be sufficient to make awards for approximately 10 years 
following approval of the 2026 Plan by stockholders

• Limit on Shares Issued for Full Value Awards: The 2026 Plan limits the number of shares which may be issued 
under full value awards (awards other than stock options and stock appreciation rights).  Under the 2026 Plan, 
utilizing shares for full value awards has the effect of reducing the aggregate shares available for issuance on a 2-
for-1 basis.  To the extent a portion of awards are full value awards (for example, time or performance-based 
restricted stock), the actual number of shares that will be issued will be less than the number of shares authorized 
for issuance.  In the event all awards granted under the 2026 Plan are full value awards, then the actual number of 
shares to be issued will be 750,000.

• Annual Limit on Director Awards. The 2026 Plan limits the number of shares of common stock that may be subject 
to awards to non-employee directors.  Not more than 75,000 shares may be covered by awards made to a non-
employee director in any one calendar year.

• No Liberal Shares Recycling Provisions: The 2026 Plan expressly provides that the following shares may not be 
added back (recycled) to the aggregate plan limit: (1) shares tendered in payment of the option exercise price; and 
(2) shares withheld by the Company to satisfy tax withholding obligations.  Nor does the 2026 Plan permit the 
recycling of shares repurchased by the Company with proceeds from option exercises.  The 2026 Plan also 
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expressly provides that the gross number of stock appreciation rights exercised or settled in stock, and not just the 
net shares issued upon exercise or settlement, count against the aggregate limit on the number of shares which may 
be issued under the 2026 Plan.

• Minimum Vesting and Restricted Period: Not more than 5% of the shares authorized for issuance under the 2026 
Plan may be issued with time-vested award schedules that fully vest in less than one year from the grant date (three 
years for the chief executive officer).

• No Discount Stock Options or Stock Appreciation Rights: The 2026 Plan prohibits the granting of stock options or 
stock appreciation rights with an exercise or grant price less than the fair market value of the Company's common 
stock on the date of grant.  Fair market value is the closing price of the Company's common stock on the date of 
grant.

• No Repricing of Stock Options or Stock Appreciation Rights: The 2026 Plan prohibits the repricing of stock 
options and stock appreciation rights without stockholder approval.  It also prohibits the exchange of underwater 
stock options or stock appreciation rights for cash or a different award without stockholder approval.

• "Double-Trigger" Vesting on Change in Control: Under the 2026 Plan, in the event of a change in control, 
outstanding awards under the 2026 Plan that are assumed or replaced with replacement awards will not vest 
automatically (so-called "single-trigger" vesting) but will instead remain outstanding and continue to be governed 
by their terms, except that full vesting will occur if the participant's employment is involuntarily terminated within 
two years following a change in control (the occurrence of the "double trigger").

• Protective Provisions: The 2026 Plan authorizes the Committee (as defined below under "-Administration of the 
2026 Plan") to include clawback, holding period or other protective provisions in the terms of any award.  
Clawback provisions enable the Company to recover amounts which were paid or earned based upon financial 
statements or other metrics which subsequently prove to be erroneous.  Holding period requirements mandate that 
participants retain earned shares in order to further link their interests to the long-term interests of the stockholders.  
Other protective provisions, such as conditioning an award upon the participant's consent to restrictive covenants, 
are additional ways through which participants' interests and those of the Company can be aligned.

• No Dividend Equivalents Paid on Unvested or Unearned Restricted Stock Units, Performance Shares, Performance 
Units, Options or Stock Appreciation Rights: The 2026 Plan prohibits payment of dividends or dividend 
equivalents on unvested or unearned restricted stock units, performance shares or performance units until those 
awards are vested or earned.  It also prohibits the granting of dividends or dividend equivalents on options or stock 
appreciation rights.  Dividends on restricted stock may be paid to the participant at the same time as dividends are 
paid to stockholders of the Company.

• Material Amendments to the Plan Require Stockholder Approval: A material amendment to the 2026 Plan will not 
be effective unless approved by the Company's stockholders.

• Independent Committee Administration: The 2026 Plan is to be administered by a committee of the Company's 
Board of Directors comprised entirely of independent directors.  The Board has designated the Board's 
Compensation Committee (which is comprised entirely of independent directors) as the committee to administer 
the 2026 Plan.

Awards, Shares Authorized and Limitations

The 2026 Plan provides for the grant of the following types of awards to employees and directors (including 
advisory and emeritus directors) of the Company and its subsidiaries (whom we refer to collectively as “participants”):

• options to purchase shares of the Company's common stock, which may be either "incentive stock options" within 
the meaning of Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code (which we refer to as "incentive stock options") or non-
statutory options which do not satisfy the provisions of Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code (which we refer to 
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as "non-qualified stock options") (incentive stock options and non-qualified stock options are together referred to as 
"stock options" or "options"); 

• stock appreciation rights;

• restricted stock and restricted stock units; and

• performance shares and performance units. 

Subject to adjustment as described under "- Changes in Capitalization," the total number of shares available for 
awards under the 2026 Plan will be 1,500,000.  Shares issued under the 2026 Plan may be either authorized but unissued 
shares or shares that have been reacquired by the Company.  Shares subject to awards which terminate, expire or lapse are 
again available for awards under the 2026 Plan.  Shares used to pay the exercise price of an option and shares used to satisfy 
tax withholding obligations will not be available for future awards under the 2026 Plan.  To the extent that shares are 
delivered pursuant to the exercise of a stock appreciation right, the number of underlying shares as to which the exercise 
related will be counted against the limit described above, as opposed to only counting the shares issued. 

The 2026 Plan sets forth annual limits with respect to awards which may be granted to a participant.  A participant 
may receive different types of awards during a calendar year.  Under the 2026 Plan, subject to adjustment as described in 
"Changes in Capitalization," awards granted during a calendar year to any one participant are subject to the following 
limitations: (1) aggregate grants of stock options or stock appreciation rights are subject to an annual limit of 75,000 shares; 
(2) aggregate grants of restricted stock or restricted stock units are subject to an annual limit of 75,000 shares; and (3) 
aggregate grants of performance shares or performance units are subject to an annual limit of 75,000 shares.  In addition, the 
maximum aggregate number of shares that may be covered by awards to any non-employee director in any one calendar year 
is 75,000 shares.  The 2026 Plan provides that up to 750,000 of the shares available for award under the 2026 Plan may be 
issued as incentive stock options. 

Changes in Capitalization

The 2026 Plan provides that in the event of any corporate event or transaction, including, but not limited to, a 
change in the shares of the Company's common stock or the capitalization of the Company, such as may result from a merger, 
consolidation, reorganization, recapitalization, separation, stock dividend, stock split, reverse stock split, split up, spin-off, or 
other distribution of stock or property of the Company, combination of shares, exchange of shares, dividend in kind, or other 
like change in capital structure or distribution, other than normal cash dividends, in order to prevent dilution or enlargement 
of participant rights under the 2026 Plan, the number of shares of common stock authorized for issuance, available for 
issuance or covered by any outstanding award and the exercise price or grant price or other per share amounts applicable to 
any such award, and the various limitations described above, will be adjusted. 

Eligibility 

Any employee or director (including advisory and emeritus directors) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries is 
eligible to receive an award under the 2026 Plan.  As of September 30, 2025, there were approximately 678 employees, 
including 74 part-time employees and seven non-employee directors of the Company and its subsidiaries. 

Administration of the 2026 Plan

The 2026 Plan provides that it is to be administered by a committee of two or more members of the Company's 
Board of Directors, each of whom qualifies as (i) a "Non-Employee Director," as defined in Rule 16b-3 under the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, and (ii) an "Independent Director" under the Listing Rules of the NASDAQ Stock Market.  As noted 
above, the Board has designated the Compensation Committee (which we refer to in this section as the "Committee") as the 
committee to administer the 2026 Plan.

The Committee generally has full power to: 

• determine the size and types of awards; 
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• determine the terms and conditions of awards in a manner consistent with the 2026 Plan; 

• interpret the 2026 Plan and any agreement or instrument entered into under the 2026 Plan; 

• establish, amend or waive rules and regulations for the administration of the 2026 Plan; 

• amend or otherwise modify the 2026 Plan or the terms and conditions of any outstanding award under the 2026 
Plan; 

• make all other determinations which are necessary or advisable for the administration of the 2026 Plan; and 

• delegate its authority under the 2026 Plan to the extent permitted by law, rule or regulation. 

Duration and Modification

The 2026 Plan will remain in effect until terminated in accordance with its terms; however, no award may be made 
under the 2026 Plan on or after the tenth anniversary of its approval by the Company's stockholders (no incentive stock 
option may be granted more than ten years after the adoption of the 2026 Plan by the Company's Board of Directors on 
November 25, 2025).  The Company's Board of Directors or the Committee generally may, at any time, terminate, amend or 
modify the 2026 Plan without approval of participants or the Company's stockholders.  Stockholder approval must be 
obtained if it is required by law, rule or regulation. As a result, stockholder approval will generally be required for material 
amendments to the 2026 Plan, such as amendments to increase the number of shares which may be issued under awards.  
Additionally, the Company's Board of Directors, in its discretion, may voluntarily seek stockholder approval if it so desires. 

No Repricing Without Stockholder Approval

Stock options and stock appreciation rights may not be repriced, replaced or regranted through cancellation, by 
being exchanged for cash or other awards or by lowering the exercise or grant price of a previously granted stock option or 
stock appreciation right (other than as described under "- Changes in Capitalization"), except with the approval of the 
Company's stockholders to the extent required under applicable stock exchange rules. 

Stock Options

General. Stock options may be granted to employees and directors at any time and from time to time by the 
Committee.  The Committee has broad discretion in determining the number of shares subject to options granted to each 
participant.  Each option grant will be evidenced by an option agreement that specifies the exercise price, the duration of the 
option, the number of shares to which the option pertains, the vesting schedule, and such other provisions as the Committee 
determines.  In addition, the option agreement will specify whether the option was intended to be an incentive stock option or 
a non-qualified stock option.  The exercise price must not be less than the fair market value of a share of the Company's 
common stock on the date of grant, provided that the exercise price of an incentive stock option granted to a holder of more 
than ten percent of the Company's common stock must not be less than 110% of fair market value on the date of grant.  The 
duration of a stock option may not exceed ten years, provided that the duration of an incentive stock option granted to a 
holder of more than ten percent of the Company's common stock may not exceed five years. 

Stock Option Exercises. A participant may pay the exercise price of his or her option in cash, by delivering shares of 
the Company's common stock that he or she already owns having a total fair market value equal to the total exercise price, 
through a broker-assisted (cashless) exercise, by net settlement, or by any combination of these methods. 

Exercising Options After Termination of Employment or Service. The termination of a participant's employment or 
service as a director affects his or her ability to exercise options granted under the 2026 Plan. 

Termination of Service or Employment-General. Unless otherwise set forth in the participant's option agreement or 
as described below, if a participant's employment or service terminates, any portion of the participant's option which has not 
yet vested will be forfeited, unless the Committee decides to waive this forfeiture and allow the participant to exercise that 
portion (in addition to the already vested portion) of the option.  Thereafter, unless otherwise provided in the participant's 
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option agreement, the exercisable portion of the participant's option may be exercised for three months after the date of 
termination or until the expiration date of the option, whichever period is shorter.  Unless otherwise set forth in the 
participant's option agreement, should the participant die during the shorter of these two periods, the participant's option may 
be exercised by the participant's designated beneficiary (or, if no beneficiary has been designated, by such person or persons 
who have acquired the participant's rights under the option by will or the laws of descent and distribution) for one year after 
the participant's death or until the expiration date of the option, whichever period is shorter. 

Termination Due to Death. Unless otherwise set forth in the participant's option agreement, if a participant's 
employment or service is terminated due to death, any unvested portion of the participant's option will immediately become 
exercisable and the option may be exercised by the participant's designated beneficiary (or, if no beneficiary has been 
designated, by such person or persons who have acquired the participant's rights under the option by will or the laws of 
descent and distribution) for one year after the participant's death or until the expiration date of the option, whichever period 
is shorter. 

Termination Due to Disability. Unless otherwise set forth in the participant's option agreement, if a participant's 
employment or service is terminated due to permanent and total disability, any unvested portion of the participant's option 
will immediately become exercisable and the option may be exercised for one year after the date of termination or until the 
expiration date of the option, whichever period is shorter.  Unless otherwise set forth in the participant's option agreement, 
should the participant die during the shorter of these two periods, the participant's option may be exercised by the 
participant's designated beneficiary (or, if no beneficiary has been designated, by such person or persons who have acquired 
the participant's rights under the options by will or the laws of descent and distribution) for one year after the participant's 
death or until the expiration date of the option, whichever period is shorter. 

Termination Due to Cause. If a participant's employment or service is terminated for cause, all of his or her 
outstanding options under the 2026 Plan (regardless of vesting status) will immediately be forfeited. 

Transferability. Except as otherwise permitted by the Internal Revenue Code or the regulations under the Internal 
Revenue Code, no incentive stock option may be sold, transferred, pledged, assigned or otherwise alienated or hypothecated, 
other than, upon the participant's death, to the participant's designated beneficiary or, if no beneficiary has been properly 
designated by the participant, by will or by the laws of descent and distribution.  An incentive stock option may be transferred 
incident to a divorce (within the meaning of Section 1041 of the Internal Revenue Code) or pursuant to a qualified domestic 
relations order, but such a transfer will cause the incentive stock option to become a non-qualified stock option as of the day 
of the transfer.  An incentive stock option may be transferred to a grantor trust under which the participant is considered the 
sole beneficial owner of the incentive stock option while it is held by the trust.  No non-qualified stock option may be sold, 
transferred, pledged, assigned or otherwise alienated or hypothecated, other than (1) upon the participant's death, to the 
participant's designated beneficiary or, if no beneficiary has been properly designated by the participant, by will or by the 
laws of descent and distribution, (2) pursuant to a qualified domestic relations order, (3) to a grantor trust, or (4) if specified 
by the Committee in the participant's option agreement, by gift to any member of the participant's immediate family or to a 
trust for the benefit of the participant or one or more of the participant's immediate family members.  For these purposes, a 
participant's "immediate family" means the participant, and the lineal ascendants and lineal descendants of the participant or 
his or her spouse, or any one or more of them.  Unless transferred as permitted under the 2026 Plan, a stock option may be 
exercised during the participant's lifetime only by the participant. 

Stock Appreciation Rights 

The exercise of a stock appreciation right entitles its holder to receive in cash, shares of the Company's common 
stock or a combination of both (as determined by the Committee), an amount equal to (1) the difference between the fair 
market value of a share of the Company's common stock on the date of exercise over the grant (exercise) price, multiplied by 
(2) the number of shares with respect to which the stock appreciation right is exercised. 

Stock appreciation rights may be granted to employees and directors at any time and from time to time as 
determined by the Committee.  The Committee has broad discretion in establishing the terms of stock appreciation rights, 
including the number of shares subject to a particular award, conditions to exercising, grant price (which must be equal to at 
least 100% of the fair market value of a share of the Company's common stock on the date of grant) and duration of the 
award (which may not exceed ten years).  A stock appreciation right may be related to a stock option or be granted 
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independently of any option.  In the case of a stock appreciation right that is related to a stock option, the exercise of one 
award will reduce, on a one-to-one basis, the number of shares covered by the other award.  The plan provisions on 
exercising stock appreciation rights after termination of employment or service and transferability of stock appreciation rights 
are essentially the same as those applicable to stock options. 

Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units

General. Shares of restricted stock and restricted stock units may be granted to employees and directors at any time 
and from time to time by the Committee.  Each restricted stock or restricted stock unit grant will be evidenced by a restricted 
stock or restricted stock unit agreement that specifies the period of restriction (that is, the period during which the entitlement 
of the participant under the award is limited in some way or subject to forfeiture) and any other vesting terms, the number of 
shares of restricted stock or restricted stock units granted, and such other provisions as the Committee may determine, 
including whether the award is subject to vesting upon the achievement of performance goals.  Each restricted stock unit 
agreement will also specify the time at which, after vesting, the award will be settled (i.e., paid out to the participant) and the 
form in which settlement will be made (i.e., in shares of the Company's common stock, in cash, or a combination of both).  In 
addition, the Committee may require that a participant pay a stipulated purchase price for each share of restricted stock or 
restricted stock unit or impose holding requirements or sale restrictions upon vesting of restricted stock or settlement of 
restricted stock units in shares. 

During the period of restriction, a participant holding shares of restricted stock may exercise full voting rights with 
respect to those shares and may be entitled to receive credit for dividends and other distributions paid with respect to those 
shares.  Cash dividends on unvested restricted stock may be paid to the participant at the same time as dividends are paid to 
stockholders of the Company.  If any such dividends or distributions are paid in shares of common stock, those shares will be 
subject to the same restrictions on transferability and forfeitability as the shares of restricted stock with respect to which they 
were paid.  A participant has no voting or dividend rights with respect to shares underlying restricted stock units unless and 
until the shares are issued to the participant in settlement of the restricted stock units.  The Committee may, however, provide 
in the participant's restricted stock unit agreement for the crediting of dividend equivalent units, which will only be paid to 
the participant when (and to the extent) the award becomes vested or earned. 

Termination of Service or Employment. Unless otherwise set forth in the participant's restricted stock or restricted 
stock unit agreement, if a participant's employment or service is terminated due to death or permanent and total disability, the 
period of restriction will lapse as of the date of termination.  Unless otherwise set forth in the participant's restricted stock or 
restricted stock unit agreement, if a participant's employment or service is terminated for any other reason, all unvested shares 
awarded as restricted stock and restricted stock units will immediately be forfeited unless the termination is not for cause and 
the Committee, in its sole discretion, determines to provide for the lapsing of all or a portion of the unvested shares or 
restricted stock units.  

Transferability. Shares of restricted stock and restricted stock units generally may not be sold, transferred, pledged, 
assigned or otherwise alienated or hypothecated until the end of the applicable period of restriction (and in the case of 
restricted stock units, until the date of delivery or other payment), or upon earlier satisfaction of any other conditions, as 
specified by the Committee in its sole discretion and set forth in the restricted stock or restricted stock unit agreement. 

Performance Shares and Performance Units

General. Performance shares and performance stock units may be granted to employees and directors at any time 
and from time to time by the Committee, entitling the participant to future cash payments, shares of the Company's common 
stock or a combination of both, based upon the level of achievement with respect to one or more pre-established performance 
goals over a specified performance period. 

The Committee will establish a maximum amount of a participant's award, denominated in shares of the Company's 
common stock, in the case of performance shares, or units, in the case of performance units.  Each award of performance 
shares or performance units will be evidenced by a performance share or performance unit agreement, which will set forth (1) 
the target and maximum amount payable to the participant, (2) the performance goals and level of achievement versus these 
goals that will determine the amount of payment, (3) the performance period as to which performance will be measured, (4) 
the timing of any payment earned by virtue of performance, (5) whether and the extent to which participants holding 
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performance shares or performance units will receive dividends or dividend equivalents, (6) restrictions on the alienation or 
transfer of the award prior to actual payment and restrictions on the sale or transfer of shares following actual payment of an 
award paid in shares, (7) forfeiture provisions and (8) such other terms as may be determined by the Committee. 

After the end of each performance period, the Committee will determine the extent to which performance goals have 
been attained, and the satisfaction of any other terms and conditions.  The Committee will determine what, if any, payment is 
due with respect to an award and, in the case of performance units, whether the payment will be made in cash, shares of the 
Company's common stock or a combination of both.  Payment will generally be made in a lump sum within 60 days after the 
Committee determines that a payment is due.  Notwithstanding satisfaction of any performance goals, the amount paid under 
an award of performance shares or performance units on account of either financial performance or personal performance 
evaluations may be reduced by the Committee in its discretion, if the terms of the award so provide. 

Termination of Employment or Service. Unless provided otherwise in the participant's agreement evidencing his or 
her award of performance shares or performance units, if the employment or service of a participant terminates before the end 
of a performance period due to death or permanent and total disability, then to the extent it is determined by the Committee 
following the end of the performance period that the performance goals have been attained, the participant will be entitled to 
a pro rata payment based on the number of months' service during the performance period but based on the achievement of 
performance goals during the entire performance period; payment under these circumstances will be made at the time 
payments are made to participants who did not terminate service during the performance period.  Unless provided otherwise 
in the participant's agreement evidencing his or her award of performance shares or performance units, if the employment or 
service of a participant terminates before the end of a performance period for any other reason, all outstanding performance 
shares or performance units awarded to the participant will be canceled; however, if the participant's employment or service 
is terminated by the Company other than for cause, the Committee in its sole discretion may waive the automatic cancellation 
provision and pay out on a pro rata basis as described in the immediately preceding sentence. 

Transferability. Except as otherwise provided in the participant's agreement evidencing his or her award of 
performance shares or performance units, performance shares and performance units may not be sold, transferred, pledged, 
assigned or otherwise alienated or hypothecated, other than upon the participant's death, to the participant's designated 
beneficiary or, if no beneficiary has been designated by the participant, by will or by the laws of descent and distribution. 

Change in Control

Under the 2026 Plan, in the event of a change in control, to the extent that outstanding awards under the Plan are 
assumed or replaced with a replacement award, such awards will not vest automatically (so-called "single-trigger" vesting) 
but instead remain outstanding and continue to be governed by their terms.  However, if, in connection with or during the 
two-year period following a change in control, a participant is involuntarily terminated other than for cause (including 
voluntary resignation for good reason under an applicable plan or agreement), then upon such termination the awards will 
become fully vested (so-called "double-trigger" vesting).  If the Committee determines that existing awards are not 
appropriately assumed or are not appropriately replaced in connection with a change in control, and unless otherwise 
provided by the Committee in the agreement applicable to an award, upon a change in control: 

• each option and stock appreciation right then outstanding shall become fully vested and exercisable; 

• all restrictions on restricted stock will lapse and all restricted stock units will become fully vested; and 

• each performance-based award will be deemed earned and shall be paid to the extent of the greater of (i) the extent, 
as determined by the Committee, to which the performance goals applicable to such performance-based award have 
been met during the applicable performance period up through and including the effective date of the change in 
control or (ii) the target number of performance shares or performance units determined at the date of grant, with 
such target number to be prorated based on the elapsed proportion of the applicable performance period up through 
and including the effective date of the change in control. 
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Federal Income Tax Consequences   

The following discussion is intended for the information of stockholders considering how to vote on the 2026 Plan, 
and not as tax guidance to plan participants.  Under current U.S. federal income tax laws, awards of stock options, stock 
appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance shares and performance stock units under the 2026 
Plan will generally have the following federal income tax consequences: 

(1) The grant of a stock option will not, by itself, result in the recognition of taxable income 
to the participant or entitle the Company to a deduction at the time of grant. 

(2) If the participant exercises an incentive stock option, the exercise of the option will 
generally not, by itself, result in the recognition of taxable income by the participant or entitle the Company 
to a deduction at the time of exercise.  However, the difference between the exercise price and the fair 
market value of the shares of common stock acquired on the date of exercise is an item of adjustment 
included for purposes of calculating the participant's alternative minimum tax. 

If the participant does not hold the shares of common stock acquired upon exercise of an incentive 
stock option for at least one year after the exercise of the stock option and two years after the grant of the stock 
option, the participant will recognize ordinary (compensation) income upon disposition of the shares in an amount 
equal to the difference between the fair market value of the shares on the date of exercise of the stock option and the 
exercise price.  If this happens, the Company will be entitled to a corresponding deduction in the amount of ordinary 
income, if any, that the participant recognizes, subject to the deduction limitations under Section 162(m) of the 
Internal Revenue Code.  The participant also will recognize a capital gain (loss) to the extent the sale price exceeds 
(is less than) the fair market value of the shares of common stock on the date of exercise of the stock option.  The 
Company will not be entitled to a corresponding deduction for any such capital gain.  The capital gain (loss) will be 
characterized as short-term if the participant does not hold the shares for more than one year after the exercise of the 
stock option and long-term if the participant does hold the shares for more than one year after the exercise of the 
stock option. 

If the participant holds the shares of common stock acquired upon exercise of an incentive stock 
option for at least one year after the stock option is exercised and at least two years after the option is granted, the 
participant will recognize a capital gain (loss) upon disposition of the shares to the extent the sale price exceeds (is 
less than) the exercise price.  This capital gain (loss) will be characterized as long-term if the participant does hold 
the shares for more than one year after the exercise of the stock option.  The Company will not be entitled to a 
corresponding deduction for any such capital gain. 

(3) If the participant exercises a non-qualified stock option, the participant will recognize 
ordinary (compensation) income on the date of exercise in an amount equal to the difference between the 
fair market value on the date of exercise of the shares of common stock acquired pursuant to the exercise 
and the exercise price of the non-qualified stock option.  The Company will be allowed a deduction in the 
amount of any ordinary income recognized by the participant upon exercise of the non-qualified stock 
option, subject to the deduction limitations under Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code.  When the 
participant sells the shares acquired upon exercise of a non-qualified stock option, the participant will 
recognize a capital gain (loss) to the extent of any appreciation (depreciation) in the value of the shares 
from the date of exercise to the date of sale.  The Company will not be entitled to a corresponding 
deduction for any such capital gain.  The capital gain (loss) will be short-term if the participant does not 
hold the shares for more than one year after the exercise of the stock option and long-term if the participant 
does hold the shares for more than one year after the exercise of the stock option. 

(4) The grant of a stock appreciation right will not, by itself, result in the recognition of 
taxable income to the participant or entitle the Company to a deduction at the time of grant.  If the 
participant exercises a stock appreciation right, the participant will recognize ordinary (compensation) 
income on the date of exercise in an amount equal to the difference between the fair market value on the 
date of exercise of the shares of Common Stock underlying the stock appreciation right being exercised and 
the grant price of the stock appreciation right.  The Company will be entitled to a corresponding tax 
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deduction, subject to the deduction limitations under Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code.  To the 
extent the stock appreciation right is settled in shares of Common Stock, when the participant sells the 
shares, the participant will recognize a capital gain (loss) to the extent of any appreciation (depreciation) in 
the value of the shares from the date of exercise.  The Company will not be entitled to a corresponding 
deduction for any such capital gain.  The capital gain (loss) will be short-term if the participant does not 
hold the shares for more than one year after the exercise of the stock appreciation right and long-term if the 
participant does hold the shares for more than one year after the exercise of the stock appreciation right.   

(5) The grant of restricted stock will not, by itself, result in the recognition of taxable income 
to the participant or entitle the Company to a deduction at the time of grant.  Holders of shares of restricted 
stock will recognize ordinary (compensation) income on the date that the shares of restricted stock are no 
longer subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture, in an amount equal to the fair market value of the shares on 
that date.  A holder of restricted stock may generally elect under Section 83(b) of the Internal Revenue 
Code to recognize ordinary income in the amount of the fair market value of the shares of restricted stock 
on the date of grant.  The Company will be entitled to a tax deduction equal to the amount of ordinary 
income recognized by the holder, subject to the deduction limitations under Section 162(m) of the Internal 
Revenue Code.  When the participant disposes of shares granted as restricted stock, the difference between 
the amount received by the participant upon the disposition and the fair market value of the shares on the 
date the participant recognized ordinary income will be treated as a capital gain or loss.  The capital gain or 
loss will be short-term if the participant does not hold the shares for more than one year after recognition of 
ordinary income and long-term if the participant does hold the shares for more than one year after the 
recognition of ordinary income.  The holding period begins when the restricted stock vests, unless a Section 
83(b) election is made, in which case the holding period begins upon the restricted stock grant date.  The 
Company will not be entitled to a corresponding deduction for any such capital gain.  Holders of restricted 
stock will also recognize ordinary income equal to any dividend income when such payments are received. 

(6) The grant of restricted stock units will not, by itself, result in the recognition of taxable 
income to the participant or entitle the Company to a deduction at the time of grant.  Upon settlement of the 
restricted stock units, the participant will generally recognize ordinary (compensation) income in the 
amount of the fair market value of the shares of common stock issued to the participant.  The Company will 
be entitled to a tax deduction equal to the amount of ordinary income recognized by the participant, subject 
to the deduction limitations under Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code.  When the participant 
disposes of any shares of common stock paid upon settlement of the restricted stock units, the difference 
between the amount received by the participant upon the disposition and the fair market value of the shares 
on the date the participant recognized ordinary income with respect to the shares will be treated as a capital 
gain or loss.  The capital gain or loss will be short-term if the participant does not hold the shares for more 
than one year after recognition of ordinary income and long-term if the participant does hold the shares for 
more than one year after the recognition of ordinary income.  The Company will not be entitled to a 
corresponding deduction for any such capital gain. 

(7) The grant of performance shares or performance units will not, by itself, result in the 
recognition of taxable income to the participant or entitle the Company to a deduction at the time of grant.  
The participant will recognize ordinary (compensation) income, and the Company will be entitled to a 
corresponding deduction, at the time shares of common stock are delivered in payment of performance 
shares or shares of common stock and/or cash are delivered in payment of performance units.  The amount 
of such ordinary income will be the amount of the fair market value of the shares of common stock and/or 
the amount of cash delivered to the participant.  The Company will be entitled to a tax deduction equal to 
the amount of ordinary income recognized by the participant, subject to the deduction limitations under 
Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code.  When the participant disposes of any shares of common 
stock, the difference between the amount received by the participant upon the disposition and the fair 
market value of the shares on the date the participant recognizes ordinary income will be treated as a capital 
gain or loss.  The capital gain or loss will be short-term if the participant does not hold the shares for more 
than one year after recognition of ordinary income and long-term if the participant does hold the shares for 
more than one year after the recognition of ordinary income.  The Company will not be entitled to a 
corresponding deduction for any such capital gain.
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PROPOSAL IV

RATIFICATION OF APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED 
PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Audit Committee of the Company's Board of Directors has renewed the Company's arrangement for KPMG to 
be the Company's independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2026, subject to the 
ratification of that appointment by the Company's stockholders at the annual meeting.  A representative of KPMG is expected 
to attend the annual meeting to respond to appropriate questions and will have an opportunity to make a statement if he or she 
so desires.

Although not required by the Company's bylaws or otherwise, the Audit Committee and the Board of Directors 
believe it appropriate, as a matter of good corporate governance, to request that the Company's stockholders ratify the 
appointment of KPMG as the Company's independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending 
September 30, 2026.  If the stockholders do not ratify the appointment, the Audit Committee will reconsider the appointment 
and may retain KPMG or retain another firm without re-submitting the matter to the stockholders.  Even if the stockholders 
ratify the appointment, the Audit Committee may, in its discretion, direct the appointment of a different independent 
registered public accounting firm as the Company's independent registered public accounting firm at any time during the 
year.

Change in Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

On January 23, 2024, the Audit Committee, after conducting a request for proposal process, approved the 
appointment of KPMG as the Company's new independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending 
September 30, 2024, and related interim periods, subject to completion of KPMG's standard client acceptance procedures and 
execution of an engagement letter, both of which subsequently occurred.

In connection with its selection of KPMG, on January 23, 2024, the Audit Committee also approved the dismissal of 
Deloitte & Touche LLP as the Company's independent registered public accounting firm, effective as of the date of Deloitte 
& Touche LLP's completion of its services to the Company for the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2023, which occurred 
in conjunction with the filing of the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for that quarter. 

During the Company's fiscal years ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, and the subsequent interim period through 
January 23, 2024, there were no disagreements (as defined in Item 304(a)(1)(iv) of Regulation S-K and the related 
instructions) between the Company and Deloitte & Touche LLP on any matter of accounting principles or practices, financial 
statement disclosure, or auditing scope or procedure which, if not resolved to Deloitte & Touche LLP's satisfaction, would 
have caused Deloitte & Touche LLP to make reference to the subject matter of the disagreement in connection with Deloitte 
& Touche LLP's reports on the Company's consolidated financial statements for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2023 
and 2022.

During the Company's fiscal years ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, and the subsequent interim period through 
January 23, 2024, there were no "reportable events" (as defined in Item 304(a)(1)(v) of Regulation S-K and the related 
instructions).

Deloitte & Touche LLP's reports on the Company's consolidated financial statements for each of the two fiscal years 
ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 did not contain any adverse opinion or disclaimer of opinion and were not qualified or 
modified as to uncertainty, audit scope or accounting principles.

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Fees

For the fiscal years ended September 30, 2025, and 2024, KPMG provided various audit and non-audit services to 
the Company. Set forth below are the aggregate fees billed for these services: 

(a) Audit Fees: Aggregate fees billed for professional services rendered for the audit of the Company's annual 
financial statements, for the audit pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, for the review 
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of financial statements included in the Company's Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, for statutory and 
regulatory audits and for consents: $1,129,869 - 2025; $1,088,629 - 2024.

(b) Audit-Related Fees: $0- 2025; $0 - 2024. 

(c) Tax Fees: Aggregate fees billed for professional services rendered related to tax return preparation and tax 
consultations: $163,174 - 2025; $253,696 - 2024.

(d) All other fees: Aggregate fees billed for all other professional services: $0 - 2025; $0 - 2024.

For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024, Deloitte & Touche LLP provided various audit and non-audit services 
to the Company.  Set forth below are the aggregate fees billed for these services:

(a) Audit Fees: Aggregate fees billed for professional services rendered for the audit of the Company's annual 
financial statements for the review of financial statements included in the Company's Quarterly Reports on 
Form 10-Q, for statutory and regulatory audits and for consents: $165,000.

(b) Audit-Related Fees: Aggregate fees billed for professional services rendered related to the Company's digital 
transformation project and agreed-upon procedures engagements: $73,722. 

(c) Tax Fees: Aggregate fees billed for professional services rendered related to tax return preparation and tax 
consultations: $120,186.

(d) All other fees: Aggregate fees billed for all other professional services, consisting of an accounting research 
tool subscription and transition fees in connection with the change in the Company's independent registered 
public accounting firm: $37,145.

The Audit Committee generally pre-approves all audit and permissible non-audit services to be provided by the 
independent registered public accounting firm.  The Audit Committee has, however, delegated authority to the chairperson of 
the Audit Committee to pre-approve services not pre-approved by the Audit Committee, provided such action is reported to 
the Audit Committee at its next meeting.  None of the services provided by KPMG and Deloitte & Touche LLP described 
above was approved by the Audit Committee pursuant to a waiver of the pre-approval requirements of the SEC's rules and 
regulations. 

The Board of Directors recommends that stockholders vote "FOR" the ratification of the appointment of KPMG as 
the Company's independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2026.
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STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS	AND OTHER INFORMATION
REGARDING THE NEXT ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

In order to be eligible for inclusion in the Company's proxy materials for its next annual meeting of stockholders, 
any stockholder proposal to take action at the meeting must be received at the Company's executive office at 700 S. Kansas 
Avenue, Topeka, Kansas 66603 no later than August 20, 2026.  If, however, the date of the Company's next annual meeting 
of stockholders is before December 28, 2026 or after February 26, 2027, any such proposal must be received at the 
Company's executive office a reasonable time before the Company begins to print and send its proxy materials for that 
meeting to be eligible for inclusion in those proxy materials.  All stockholder proposals submitted for inclusion in the 
Company's proxy materials will be subject to the requirements of the proxy rules adopted under the Securities Exchange Act 
of 1934, as amended, and, as with any stockholder proposal (regardless of whether included in the Company's proxy 
materials), the Company's charter and bylaws.

In addition to the deadline and other requirements referred to above for submitting a stockholder proposal to be 
included in the Company's proxy materials for its next annual meeting of stockholders, the Company's bylaws require a 
separate notification to be made in order for a stockholder proposal to be eligible for presentation at the meeting, regardless 
of whether the proposal is included in the Company's proxy materials for the meeting.  In order to be eligible for presentation 
at the Company's next annual meeting of stockholders, written notice of a stockholder proposal containing the information 
specified in Article I, Section 6(a) of the Company's bylaws must be received by the Secretary of the Company not earlier 
than the close of business on September 29, 2026 and not later than the close of business on October 29, 2026.  If, however, 
the date of the next annual meeting is before January 7, 2027 or after March 28, 2027, the notice of the stockholder proposal 
must instead be received by the Company's Secretary not earlier than the close of business on the 120th calendar day prior to 
the date of the next annual meeting and not later than the close of business on the later of the 90th calendar day before the 
date of the next annual meeting or the tenth calendar day following the first to occur of the day on which notice of the date of 
the next annual meeting is mailed or otherwise transmitted or the day on which public announcement of the date of the next 
annual meeting is first made by the Company.

Stockholders who intend to solicit proxies in support of director nominees other than the Company's nominees in 
connection with the Company's next annual meeting of stockholders must provide notice to the Company that contains the 
information required by Rule 14a-19(b) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, no later than November 28, 
2026.  If, however, the date of the Company's next annual meeting of stockholders is before December 28, 2026 or after 
February 26, 2027, the notice must be provided by the later of 60 calendar days prior to the date of the annual meeting or the 
tenth calendar day following the day on which public announcement of the date of the annual meeting is first made by the 
Company.  This notice is in addition to the notice required under Article I, Section 6(b) of the Company's bylaws for 
stockholders desiring to submit director nominations, which must contain the information specified in Article I, Section 6(b) 
and be received by the Secretary of the Company not less than 90 calendar days or more than 120 calendar days prior to the 
date of the Company's next annual meeting of stockholders.  If, however, less than 100 calendar days' notice or public 
announcement of the date of the next annual meeting is given or made to stockholders, notice pursuant to Article I, Section 
6(b) must instead be received by the Company's Secretary by the earlier of the tenth calendar day following the day on which 
notice of the date of the next annual meeting is mailed or otherwise transmitted or the day on which public announcement of 
the date of the next annual meeting is first made by the Company. 

OTHER MATTERS

The Board of Directors is not aware of any business to come before the annual meeting other than the matters 
described above in this proxy statement.  However, if any other matters should properly come before the meeting, it is 
intended that holders of the proxies will act in accordance with their best judgment.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

The Company will pay the costs of soliciting proxies.  The Company will reimburse brokerage firms and other 
custodians, nominees and fiduciaries for reasonable expenses incurred by them in sending proxy materials to the beneficial 
owners of common stock.  In addition to solicitation by mail, directors, officers and employees of the Company may solicit 
proxies personally or by facsimile, telephone or other means, without additional compensation.
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CAPITOL FEDERAL FINANCIAL, INC.

2026 OMNIBUS INCENTIVE PLAN

ARTICLE 1

ESTABLISHMENT, PURPOSE AND DURATION

1.1 Establishment of the Plan.  The Company hereby establishes an incentive compensation plan to be known 
as the “Capitol Federal Financial, Inc. 2026 Omnibus Incentive Plan” (the “Plan”), as set forth in this document.  The Plan 
permits the granting of Nonqualified Stock Options, Incentive Stock Options, Stock Appreciation Rights, Restricted Stock, 
Restricted Stock Units, Performance Shares and Performance Units.

The Plan has been approved by the Company’s Board, but it will only become effective (the “Effective Date”) when 
it is approved by the Company’s stockholders at the annual meeting of the Company’s stockholders on January 27, 2026 or 
any adjournment or postponement thereof.  Prior to the Effective Date, the Company had in effect the Capitol Federal 
Financial, Inc. 2012 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Prior Plan”).  No further awards shall be made under the Prior Plan after the 
Effective Date, and Shares reserved to make new awards under the Prior Plan shall be released; provided Shares reserved to 
fund issued and outstanding awards under the Prior Plan shall continue to be reserved to provide for those awards.  All 
awards outstanding under the Prior Plan shall remain outstanding in accordance with their terms.  Each outstanding award 
under the Prior Plan shall continue to be governed solely by the terms of the documents evidencing such award, and no 
provision of this Plan shall be deemed to affect or otherwise modify the rights or obligations of the holders of such awards 
with respect to their acquisition of Shares.

1.2 Purpose of the Plan.  The purpose of the Plan is to continue to promote the long-term success, and enhance 
the long-term value, of the Company by linking the personal interests of Employees and Directors with those of Company 
stockholders.  The Plan is further intended to provide flexibility to the Company in its ability to motivate, attract, and retain 
the services of Employees and Directors upon whose judgment, interest, and special effort the successful conduct of its 
operation largely is dependent, in a manner that does not expose the Company to imprudent risks and that is consistent with 
the long-term health of the Company.

1.3 Duration of the Plan.  Subject to approval by the stockholders of the Company, the Plan shall become 
effective on the Effective Date, as described in Section 1.1 herein, and shall remain in effect, subject to the right of the Board 
or the Committee to terminate the Plan at any time pursuant to Article 15 herein.  However, in no event may an Award be 
granted under the Plan on or after the tenth anniversary of the Effective Date.

ARTICLE 2

DEFINITIONS AND CONSTRUCTION

2.1 Definitions.  Whenever used in the Plan, the following terms shall have the meanings set forth below:

(a) “Award” means, individually or collectively, a grant under the Plan of Options, Stock
Appreciation Rights, Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock Units, Performance Shares and Performance Units.

(b) “Bank” means Capitol Federal Savings Bank, a federally chartered savings bank, or any successor
thereto.

(c) “Beneficiary” has the meaning set forth in Article 10 herein.

(d) “Board” or “Board of Directors” means the Board of Directors of the Company.
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(e) “Cause” means a Participant’s personal dishonesty, incompetence, willful misconduct, breach of
fiduciary duty involving personal profit, intentional failure to perform stated duties or willful violation of any law, rule, 
regulation (other than traffic violations or similar offenses) or final cease-and-desist order.  For purposes of this subsection, 
no act, or failure to act, on a Participant’s part shall be considered “willful” unless done, or omitted to be done, not in good 
faith and without reasonable belief that the action or omission was in the best interest of the Company.  In determining 
incompetence, the acts or omissions shall be measured against standards generally prevailing in the financial institutions 
industry.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, if a Participant is a party to an employment, change in control or similar agreement 
with the Company or any Subsidiary and such agreement defines “Cause” (or a variation of that term) in a manner different 
than as set forth above, the definition in such agreement shall apply for purposes of the Plan instead of the above definition.

(f) “Change in Control” means the first to occur of a “change in the ownership” of the Company or
the Bank, a “change in the effective control” of the Company or the Bank or a “change in the ownership of a substantial 
portion” of the Company’s or the Bank’s assets, as those phrases are determined in Section 409A. 

(g) “Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time, or any
successor code thereto, and the rules and regulations thereunder.

(h) “Committee” means the Committee, as specified in Section 3.1 herein, appointed by the Board to
administer the Plan.

(i) “Company” means Capitol Federal Financial, Inc., a Maryland corporation, or any successor
thereto.

(j) “Director” means any individual who is a member of the Board or the board of directors of a
Subsidiary, or an emeritus or advisory director of the Company or a Subsidiary who is not currently an Employee of the 
Company or a Subsidiary.

(k) “Disability” means a permanent and total disability, within the meaning of Code Section 22(e)(3),
as determined by the Committee in good faith, upon receipt of sufficient competent medical advice from one or more 
individuals, selected by the Committee, who are qualified to give professional medical advice.

(l) “Employee” means a full-time or part-time employee of the Company or any Subsidiary.
Directors who are not otherwise employed by the Company or any Subsidiary shall not be considered Employees under the 
Plan.

(m) “Exercise Price” means the price at which a Share may be purchased by a Participant pursuant to
an Option, as determined by the Committee.

(n) “Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended from time to time, or
any successor statute thereto, and the rules and regulations thereunder.

(o) “Fair Market Value” means the closing market price per share of one Share on the relevant date, as
reported by the NASDAQ Stock Market or any other exchange or quotation system on which the Shares are then listed or 
quoted.  If the Shares did not trade on the relevant date, then Fair Market Value shall be the closing market price of one Share 
on the most recently preceding date on which the Shares traded.  If the Shares are not traded on an established exchange, Fair 
Market Value shall be determined by the Committee in good faith.  Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the 
determination of Fair Market Value shall comply with Section 409A.

(p) “Full Value Award” means any Award under the Plan pursuant to which Shares may be issued,
other than an Option or Stock Appreciation Right.

(q) “Grant Price” means the stock price above which a SAR entitles the recipient to any increase in
value, as determined by the Committee.
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(r) “Incentive Stock Option” or “ISO” means an option to purchase Shares, granted under Article 6
herein, which is designated as an Incentive Stock Option and meets the requirements of Section 422 of the Code.

(s) “Nonqualified Stock Option” or “NQSO” means an option to purchase Shares, granted pursuant to
Article 6 herein, which is not an Incentive Stock Option.

(t) “Option” means an Incentive Stock Option or a Nonqualified Stock Option.

(u) “Participant” means an Employee or Director who has outstanding an Award granted under the
Plan.

(v) “Period of Restriction” means the period during which the entitlement of a Participant under an
Award of Restricted Stock or Restricted Stock Units is limited in some way or subject to forfeiture, in whole or in part, based 
on the passage of time, the achievement of performance goals, or upon the occurrence of other events as determined by the 
Committee, in its discretion.

(w) “Person” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 3(a)(9) of the Exchange Act.

(x) “Performance-Based Award” means a Performance Shares Award or a Performance Units Award
based on the achievement of performance goals during a Performance Period.

(y) “Performance Period” means the period of time as specified by the Committee over which
Performance Shares or Performance Units are to be earned.

(z) “Performance Shares” means an Award granted pursuant to Article 9 herein which entitles a
Participant to receive Shares based on the achievement of performance goals during a Performance Period.

(aa) “Performance Units” means an Award granted pursuant to Article 9 herein which entitles a 
Participant to receive cash, Shares or a combination thereof, based on the achievement of performance goals during a 
Performance Period.

(bb) “Qualified Domestic Relations Order” means a domestic relations order that satisfies the 
requirements of Section 414(p) of the Code (or any successor provision) as if such section applied to the applicable Award.

(cc) “Related” means (i) in the case of a SAR or other right, a SAR or other right which is granted in
connection with, and to the extent exercisable, in whole or in part, in lieu of, an Option or another right and (ii) in the case of 
an Option, an Option with respect to which and to the extent a SAR or other right is exercisable, in whole or in part, in lieu 
thereof.

(dd) “Restricted Stock” means an Award of Shares subject to a Period of Restriction granted pursuant
to Article 8 herein.

(ee) “Restricted Stock Units” means an Award denominated in units subject to a Period of Restriction 
granted pursuant to Article 8 herein.

(ff) “Section 409A” means Section 409A of the Code and any regulations or guidance of general 
applicability thereunder.

(gg) “Shares” means shares of the common stock of the Company.

(hh) “Stock Appreciation Right” or “SAR” means an Award, designated as a SAR, granted pursuant to 
Article 7 herein.

A-3



(ii) “Subsidiary” means any corporation in which the Company owns directly, or indirectly through
subsidiaries, at least 50% of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock, or any other entity (including, but not 
limited to, partnerships and joint ventures) in which the Company owns at least 50% of the combined equity thereof.

2.2 Gender and Number.  Except where otherwise indicated by the context, any masculine term used herein 
also shall include the feminine, the plural shall include the singular and the singular shall include the plural.

2.3 Severability.  In the event any provision of the Plan shall be held illegal or invalid for any reason, the 
illegality or invalidity shall not affect the remaining parts of the Plan, and the Plan shall be construed and enforced as if the 
illegal or invalid provision had not been included.

ARTICLE 3

ADMINISTRATION

3.1 The Committee.  The Plan shall be administered by a Committee, consisting of two or more members of the 
Board of Directors, each of whom shall be (i) a “Non-Employee Director,” as defined in Rule 16b-3 under the Exchange Act 
and (ii) an “Independent Director” under the corporate governance rules and regulations imposing independence standards on 
committees performing similar functions promulgated by any national securities exchange or quotation system on which 
Shares are listed.

3.2 Authority of the Committee.  The Committee shall have full power except as limited by law or by the 
charter or bylaws of the Company or by resolutions adopted by the Board, and subject to the provisions herein, to determine 
the size and types of Awards; to determine the terms and conditions of such Awards in a manner consistent with the Plan; to 
construe and interpret the Plan and to determine the terms and provisions of, and interpret, any agreement or instrument 
evidencing an Award or entered into under the Plan (which agreement or instrument may be in electronic format); to 
establish, amend or waive rules and regulations for the Plan’s administration; and (subject to the provisions of Article 13 
herein) to amend or otherwise modify the Plan or the terms and conditions of any outstanding Award to the extent such terms 
and conditions are within the discretion of the Committee as provided in the Plan and, if the Award is subject to 
Section 409A, does not cause the Plan or the Award to violate Section 409A.  Further, the Committee shall make all other 
determinations which may be necessary or advisable for the administration of the Plan.  As permitted by law, rule or 
regulation, the Committee may delegate its authorities as identified hereunder.

3.3 Decisions Binding.  All determinations and decisions made by the Committee pursuant to the provisions of 
the Plan and all related orders or resolutions of the Board shall be final, conclusive and binding on all parties having an 
interest therein, including the Company, its stockholders, Employees, Directors, Participants and their respective successors.

ARTICLE 4

SHARES SUBJECT TO THE PLAN

4.1 Number of Shares.  Subject to adjustment as provided in Section 4.4 herein: 

(a) The total number of Shares available for issuance under the Plan shall be 1,500,000 (the “Limit”).
These Shares may be either authorized but unissued, or Shares that have been reacquired by the Company.  Full Value 
Awards will be counted against the Limit on a 2-to-1 basis, subject to adjustment as provided in Section 4.4 herein.  To the 
extent Shares subject to a Full Value Award again become available for issuance for reasons described in Section 4.3 below, 
such Shares shall be available for issuance under Full Value Awards.  Awards that are not settled in Shares shall not be 
counted against the Limit.

(b) Subject to adjustment as provided in Section 4.4 herein, all of the Shares that may be issued under
this Plan may be issued pursuant to SARs or Options granted hereunder, provided that the number of Shares that may be 
issued under this Plan pursuant to Options which are Incentive Stock Options shall be limited to 750,000.
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(c) All Awards granted pursuant to this Plan shall have at the time of grant a minimum vesting period 
of at least one year from the date of grant (at least three years for full vesting for the chief executive officer), provided that 
Awards for up to 5% of the maximum Shares available under the Plan (for any Participant other than the chief executive 
officer) under this Plan may provide for a shorter vesting period at the time of grant. 

4.2 Maximum Awards.  Participants may receive one or more Awards during a calendar year. Subject to 
adjustment as provided in Section 4.4, the following limits (each an “Annual Award Limit” and, collectively, “Annual 
Award Limits”) shall apply to grants of such Awards under the Plan during each calendar year:  

(a) The maximum aggregate number of Shares subject to Options and/or SARs granted in any one 
calendar year to any one Participant shall be 75,000 Shares.

(b) The maximum aggregate number of Shares subject to Awards of Restricted Stock and/or 
Restricted Stock Units granted in any one calendar to any one Participant shall be 75,000.

(c) The maximum aggregate number of Shares covered by Awards of Performance Shares and/or 
Performance Units granted in any one calendar year to any one Participant shall be 75,000.

(d) The maximum aggregate number of Shares that may be covered by Awards granted to any 
Director in any one calendar year shall be 75,000 Shares.

4.3 Lapsed Awards.  If any Award granted under the Plan terminates, expires or lapses for any reason, any 
Shares subject to such Award again shall be available for the grant of an Award under the Plan.  Shares used to pay the 
Exercise Price of an Option and Shares used to satisfy tax withholding obligations shall not be available for future Awards 
under the Plan.  To the extent that Shares are delivered pursuant to the exercise of a SAR, the number of underlying Shares as 
to which the exercise related shall be counted against the Limit set forth in Section 4.1, as opposed to only counting the 
Shares issued.

4.4 Adjustments in Authorized Shares.  In the event of any corporate event or transaction (including, but not 
limited to, a change in the Shares of the Company or the capitalization of the Company) after the Effective Date, such as a 
merger, consolidation, reorganization, recapitalization, separation, stock dividend, stock split, reverse stock split, split up, 
spin-off, or other distribution of stock or property of the Company, combination of Shares, exchange of Shares, dividend in 
kind, or other like change-in-capital structure or distribution (other than normal cash dividends) to stockholders of the 
Company, or any similar corporate event or transaction, the Committee, in order to prevent dilution or enlargement of a 
Participant’s rights under the Plan, shall substitute or adjust, as applicable, the number and kind of Shares that may be issued 
under the Plan or under particular forms of Awards, the number and kind of Shares subject to outstanding Awards, the 
Exercise Price or Grant Price applicable to outstanding Awards, the Annual Award Limits, and other value determinations 
applicable to outstanding Awards. In addition, the Committee is authorized to make adjustments in the terms and conditions 
of, and the criteria included in, Awards (including, without limitation, cancellation of Awards in exchange for the in-the-
money value, if any, of the vested portion thereof, or substitution of Awards using stock of a successor or other entity) in 
recognition of unusual or nonrecurring events (including, without limitation, events described in the preceding sentence) 
affecting the Company or any Subsidiary or the financial statements of the Company or any Subsidiary, or in response to 
changes in applicable laws, regulations or accounting principles.

4.5 Dividends and Dividend Equivalents.  The Committee may provide that any Award under the Plan earn 
dividends or dividend equivalents; provided however, that dividend equivalent rights may not be granted in connection with 
any Option or SAR granted hereunder.  Dividends on Restricted Stock may be paid to the participant at the same time as 
dividends are paid to stockholders of the Company, while dividend equivalents on Restricted Stock Units, Performance 
Shares and Performance stock Units shall only be paid to the Participant when (and to the extent) the Award becomes vested 
or earned.  Any crediting of dividends or dividend equivalents may be subject to such restrictions and conditions as the 
Committee may establish, including reinvestment in additional Shares or Share equivalents.
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ARTICLE 5

ELIGIBILITY AND PARTICIPATION

5.1 Eligibility.  Persons eligible to participate in the Plan include all Employees, including Employees who are 
members of the Board or the board of directors of any Subsidiary, and all Directors, including Directors of the Company and 
its Subsidiaries.

5.2 Actual Participation.  Subject to the provisions of the Plan, the Committee may, from time to time, select 
from all Employees and Directors, those to whom Awards shall be granted and shall determine the nature and amount of each 
Award.  No Employee or Director shall be entitled to be granted an Award under the Plan.

ARTICLE 6

STOCK OPTIONS

6.1 Grant of Options.  Subject to the terms and provisions of the Plan, Options may be granted to Employees 
and Directors at any time and from time to time as shall be determined by the Committee.  Subject to Sections 4.1 and 4.2, 
the Committee shall have complete discretion in determining the number of Shares subject to Options granted to each 
Participant; provided however, no ISOs may be granted more than ten (10) years after November 25, 2025, which is the date 
the Plan was adopted by the Company’s Board. Options granted to Directors shall consist only of NQSOs and not ISOs.  Any 
Option under this Plan which is designated by the Committee as an ISO but fails to qualify as an ISO for any reason shall be 
treated as a NQSO to the extent of such failure.  

6.2 Option Agreement.  Each Option grant shall be evidenced by an Option agreement that shall specify the 
Exercise Price, the duration of the Option, the number of Shares to which the Option pertains, the amount or percentage of 
the Option that becomes exercisable on specified dates, and such other provisions as the Committee shall determine.  The 
Option agreement also shall specify whether the Option is intended to be an ISO or a NQSO.

6.3 Exercise Price.  The Exercise Price for each grant of an Option shall be determined by the Committee, 
provided that the Exercise Price shall not be less than the Fair Market Value of a Share on the date the Option is granted.  In 
the event any holder of more than 10% of the Shares receives a grant of ISOs, the Exercise Price shall be not less than 110% 
of the Fair Market Value of a Share on the date of grant.  Notwithstanding the authority granted to the Committee pursuant to 
Section 3.2, and except for adjustments pursuant to Section 4.4, once an Option is granted, the Committee shall have no 
authority to reduce the Exercise Price, nor may any Option granted under the Plan be surrendered to the Company as 
consideration for the grant of a new Option with a lower Exercise Price, or be exchanged for cash or another Award if the 
Exercise Price of the exchanged Option is greater than the then-current Fair Market Value of a Share, without the approval of 
the Company’s stockholders.

6.4 Duration of Options.  Each Option granted shall expire at such time as the Committee shall determine at the 
time of grant; provided, however, that no Option shall be exercisable later than the tenth anniversary of the date of its grant, 
and provided further that no ISO granted to a holder of more than 10% of the Shares shall be exercisable later than the fifth 
anniversary of the date of its grant. 

6.5 Exercise of Options.  Options granted under the Plan shall be exercisable at such times and be subject to 
such restrictions and conditions as the Committee shall in each instance approve, which need not be the same for each grant.

6.6 Payment.  Options shall be exercised by the delivery of a written notice of exercise to the Company, or by 
complying with any alternative procedures which may be authorized by the Committee, setting forth the number of Shares 
with respect to which the Option is to be exercised, accompanied by payment in full of the Exercise Price.

Unless otherwise set forth in the Option agreement provided for in Section 6.2 herein, upon exercise of any Option, 
the Exercise Price shall be payable to the Company in full either (a) in cash or its equivalent, (b) by tendering previously 
acquired Shares having an aggregate Fair Market Value at the time of exercise equal to the aggregate Exercise Price, (c) by 
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broker-assisted (cashless) exercise, (d) by withholding of Shares issuable upon exercise (net settlement) or (e) by any 
combination of (a) through (d). 

As soon as practicable after receipt of a notification of exercise and payment in full of the Exercise Price, the 
Company shall deliver Share certificates, or cause Shares to be issued by book-entry procedures, in an appropriate amount 
based upon the number of Shares purchased under the Option(s).

6.7 Restrictions on Share Transferability.  The Committee shall impose such restrictions on any Shares 
acquired pursuant to the exercise of an Option under the Plan as it may deem advisable, including, without limitation, 
requiring the Participant to hold the Shares acquired upon exercise for a specified period of time, and restrictions under 
applicable federal securities laws, under the requirements of any stock exchange or market upon which such Shares are then 
listed and/or traded, and under any blue sky or state securities laws applicable to such Shares.  No restriction on Share 
transferability shall be imposed that causes either the Shares or the Options to which the Shares relate to violate 
Section 409A.

6.8 Termination of Employment or Service Due to Death or Disability.

(a) Termination by Death.  Unless otherwise set forth in the Option agreement provided for in 
Section 6.2 herein, in the event the employment or service of a Participant is terminated by reason of death, any outstanding 
Options granted to that Participant that are not exercisable as of the date of termination shall immediately become 
exercisable, and all Options granted to such Participant shall remain exercisable until their respective expiration dates or for 
one year after the date of the Participant’s death, whichever period is shorter, by the Participant’s Beneficiary or, if no 
Beneficiary has been properly designated by the Participant, by such other Person or Persons as shall have acquired the 
Participant’s rights under the Option by will or by the laws of descent and distribution.

(b) Termination by Disability.  Unless otherwise set forth in the Option agreement provided for in 
Section 6.2 herein, in the event the employment or service of a Participant is terminated by reason of Disability, any 
outstanding Options granted to that Participant that are not exercisable as of the date of termination shall immediately become 
exercisable, and all Options granted to such Participant shall remain exercisable until their respective expiration dates, or for 
one year after the date that the Participant’s employment or service is terminated by reason of Disability, whichever period is 
shorter.  Unless otherwise set forth in the Option agreement provided for in Section 6.2 herein, should the Participant die 
during the shorter of these two periods, exercisability of the Participant’s Options by the Participant’s Beneficiary (or, if no 
Beneficiary has been properly designated by the Participant, by such other Person or Persons as shall have acquired the 
Participant’s rights under the Options by will or by the laws of descent and distribution) shall be permitted until their 
respective expiration dates or for one year following the date of the Participant’s death, whichever period is shorter.

(c) Exercise Limitations on ISOs.  In the case of ISOs, the tax treatment prescribed under Section 422 
of the Code may not be available if the Options are not exercised within the time periods provided by Section 422 for each of 
the various types of employment termination.

6.9 Termination of Employment or Service for Other Reasons.  Unless otherwise set forth in the Option 
agreement provided for in Section 6.2 herein, if the employment or service of a Participant shall terminate for any reason 
other than the reasons set forth in Section 6.8 herein, except for Cause, all outstanding Options that are not exercisable as of 
the date of termination immediately shall expire and terminate (and shall once again become available for grant under the 
Plan).  However, the Committee, in its sole discretion, shall have the right to waive such termination and to immediately 
make exercisable all or any portion of such Options.  Thereafter, unless otherwise set forth in the Option agreement provided 
for in Section 6.2 herein, all such exercisable Options shall remain exercisable until their respective expiration dates, or for 
three months after the date of termination, whichever period is shorter.  Unless otherwise set forth in the Option agreement 
provided for in Section 6.2 herein, should the Participant die during the shorter of these two periods, exercisability of the 
Participant’s Options by the Participant’s Beneficiary (or, if no Beneficiary has been properly designated by the Participant, 
by such other Person or Persons as shall have acquired the Participant’s rights under the Options by will or by the laws of 
descent and distribution) shall be permitted until their respective expiration dates or for one year following the date of the 
Participant’s death, whichever period is shorter.
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If the employment or service of a Participant shall terminate for Cause, all outstanding Options shall immediately be 
forfeited to the Company regardless of the exercisability status of the Options (and shall once again become available for 
grant under the Plan).

6.10 Additional Requirements with Respect to Incentive Stock Options.

(a) Notice of Sale.  Each Participant who receives Shares upon exercise of an Option that is an ISO
shall give the Company prompt notice of any sale of Shares prior to a date which is two years from the date the Option was 
granted or one year from the date the Option was exercised.  Such sale shall disqualify the Option as an ISO.

(b) Maximum Dollar Value of ISOs Vesting Per Year.  The aggregate Fair Market Value (determined
with respect to each ISO at the time such ISO is granted) of the Shares with respect to which ISOs are exercisable for the first 
time by a Participant during any calendar year (under this Plan or any other plan of the Company or a Subsidiary) shall not 
exceed $100,000.

6.11 Transferability of Options.  Except as otherwise permitted by the Code or the regulations thereunder, no 
ISO may be sold, transferred, pledged, assigned or otherwise alienated or hypothecated, other than, upon the Participant’s 
death, to the person designated as the Participant’s Beneficiary or, if no Beneficiary has been properly designated by the 
Participant, by will or by the laws of descent and distribution.  An ISO may be transferred incident to a divorce (within the 
meaning of Code Section 1041) or pursuant to a Qualified Domestic Relations Order, but such transfer shall cause the ISO to 
become a NQSO as of the day of the transfer.  An ISO may be transferred to a grantor trust if, under Code Section 671 and 
applicable state law, the Participant is considered the sole beneficial owner of the ISO while it is held by the trust.  No NQSO 
may be sold, transferred, pledged, assigned or otherwise alienated or hypothecated, other than (i) upon the Participant’s death, 
to the person designated as the Participant’s Beneficiary or, if no Beneficiary has been properly designated by the Participant, 
by will or by the laws of descent and distribution, (ii) pursuant to a Qualified Domestic Relations Order, (iii) to a grantor trust 
if, under Code Section 671 and applicable state law, the Participant is considered the sole beneficial owner of the NQSO 
while it is held by the trust or (iv) if specified by the Committee in the Participant’s Option agreement, by gift to any member 
of the Participant’s immediate family or to a trust for the benefit of the Participant or one or more of the Participant’s 
immediate family members.  For purposes of this Section 6.11, a Participant’s “immediate family” shall mean the Participant, 
and the lineal ascendants and lineal descendants of such Participant or his or her spouse, or any one or more of them.  Unless 
transferred as permitted hereby, an Option shall be exercisable during the Participant’s lifetime only by the Participant.

ARTICLE 7

STOCK APPRECIATION RIGHTS

7.1 Grant of SARs.  Subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan, SARs may be granted to Employees and 
Directors at any time and from time to time as shall be determined by the Committee.  A SAR may be Related to an Option or 
may be granted independently of any Option as the Committee shall from time to time in each case determine.  In the case of 
a Related Option, such Related Option shall cease to be exercisable to the extent of the Shares with respect to which the 
Related SAR was exercised.  Upon the exercise or termination of a Related Option, any Related SAR shall terminate to the 
extent of the Shares with respect to which the Related Option was exercised or terminated.

The Committee shall have complete discretion in determining the number of SARs granted to each Participant 
(subject to Sections 4.1 and 4.2 herein) and, consistent with the provisions of the Plan, determining the terms and conditions 
pertaining to such SARs.  However, the Grant Price of a SAR shall be at least equal to the Fair Market Value of a Share on 
the date of grant of the SAR.  The Grant Price of a Related SAR shall be equal to the Exercise Price of the Related Option.  
The terms and conditions of any SAR shall not include provisions that provide for the deferral of compensation other than the 
recognition of income until the exercise of the SAR (so that the SAR will not be subject to Section 409A).  Once a SAR has 
been granted, the Grant Price with respect thereto may not be changed except for any adjustments pursuant to Section 4.4 
herein.

7.2 Exercise of SARs.  SARs may be exercised upon whatever terms and conditions the Committee, in its sole 
discretion, imposes upon the SARs.  Notwithstanding the authority granted to the Committee pursuant to Section 3.2, and 
except for any adjustments pursuant to Section 4.4 of the Plan, once a SAR is granted, the Committee shall have no authority 
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to reduce the Grant Price fixed by the Committee at the date of grant pursuant to Section 7.1 above, nor may any SAR 
granted under the Plan be surrendered to the Company as consideration for the grant of a new SAR with a lower price at the 
date of grant, or be exchanged for cash or another Award if the Grant  Price of the exchanged SAR is greater than the then-
current Fair Market Value of a Share, without the approval of the Company’s stockholders.

7.3 SAR Agreement.  Each SAR grant shall be evidenced by a SAR agreement that shall specify the Grant 
Price, the term of the SAR, the number of Shares covered by the SAR, the amount or percentage of the SAR that becomes 
exercisable on specified dates, and such other provisions as the Committee shall determine.

7.4 Term of SARs.  The term of a SAR granted under the Plan shall be determined by the Committee, in its 
sole discretion; provided however, such term shall not exceed ten years.

7.5 Payment of SAR Amount.  Upon exercise of a SAR, a Participant shall be entitled to receive payment from 
the Company in an amount determined by multiplying:

(a) The difference between the Fair Market Value of a Share on the date of exercise over the Grant 
Price; and

(b) The number of Shares with respect to which the SAR is exercised.

At the discretion of the Committee, the payment upon exercise of a SAR may be in cash, in Shares of equivalent 
value, or in some combination thereof.

7.6 Restrictions on Share Transferability.  The Committee shall impose such restrictions on any Shares 
acquired pursuant to the exercise of a SAR under the Plan as it may deem advisable, including, without limitation, requiring 
the Participant to hold the Shares acquired upon exercise for a specified period of time, and restrictions under applicable 
federal securities laws, under the requirements of any stock exchange or market upon which such Shares are then listed and/
or traded, and under any blue sky or state securities laws applicable to such Shares.  No restriction on Share transferability 
shall be imposed that causes either the Shares or the SAR to which the Shares relate to violate Section 409A.

7.7 Termination of Employment or Service Due to Death or Disability.

(a) Termination by Death.  Unless otherwise set forth in the SAR agreement provided for in 
Section 7.3 herein, in the event the employment or service of a Participant is terminated by reason of death, any outstanding 
SARs granted to that Participant that are not exercisable as of the date of termination shall immediately become exercisable, 
and all SARs granted to such Participant shall remain exercisable until their respective expiration dates or for one year after 
the date of the Participant’s death, whichever period is shorter, by the Participant’s Beneficiary or, if no Beneficiary has been 
properly designated by the Participant, by such other Person or Persons as shall have acquired the Participant’s rights under 
the SARs by will or by the laws of descent and distribution.

(b) Termination by Disability.  Unless otherwise set forth in the SAR agreement provided for in 
Section 7.3 herein, in the event the employment or service of a Participant is terminated by reason of Disability, any 
outstanding SARs granted to that Participant that are not exercisable as of the date of termination shall immediately become 
exercisable, and all SARs granted to such Participant shall remain exercisable until their respective expiration dates, or for 
one year after the date the Participant’s employment or service is terminated by reason of Disability, whichever period is 
shorter.  Unless otherwise set forth in the SAR agreement provided for in Section 7.3 herein, should the Participant die during 
the shorter of these two periods, exercisability of the Participant’s SARs by the Participant’s Beneficiary (or, if no 
Beneficiary has been properly designated by the Participant, by such other Person or Persons as shall have acquired the 
Participant’s rights under the SARs by will or by the laws of descent and distribution) shall be permitted until their respective 
expiration dates or for one year following the date of the Participant’s death, whichever period is shorter.

7.8 Termination of Employment or Service for Other Reasons.  Unless otherwise set forth in the SAR 
agreement provided for in Section 7.3 herein, if the employment or service of a Participant shall terminate for any reason 
other than the reasons described in Section 7.7 herein, except for Cause, all outstanding SARs held by the Participant that are 
not exercisable as of the date of termination immediately shall expire and terminate (and shall once again become available 
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for grant under the Plan).  However, the Committee, in its sole discretion, shall have the right to waive such termination and 
to make exercisable all or any portion of such SARs.  Thereafter, unless otherwise set forth in the SAR agreement provided 
for in Section 7.3 herein, all such exercisable SARs shall remain exercisable until their expiration dates, or for three months 
after the date of termination, whichever period is shorter.  Unless otherwise set forth in the SAR agreement provided for in 
Section 7.3 herein, should the Participant die during the shorter of these two periods, exercisability of the Participant’s SARs 
by the Participant’s Beneficiary (or, if no Beneficiary has been properly designated by the Participant, by such other Person 
or Persons as shall have acquired the Participant’s rights under the SARs by will or by the laws of descent and distribution) 
shall be permitted until their respective expiration dates or for one year following the date of the Participant’s death, 
whichever period is shorter.

If the employment or service of the Participant shall terminate for Cause, all outstanding SARs shall immediately be 
forfeited to the Company regardless of the exercisability status of the SARs (and shall once again become available for grant 
under the Plan) and no additional exercise period shall be allowed.

7.9 Transferability of SARs.  A SAR that is Related to an ISO may not be sold, transferred, pledged, assigned 
or otherwise alienated or hypothecated, other than upon the Participant’s death, to the Participant’s Beneficiary or, if no 
Beneficiary has been properly designated by the Participant, by will or by the laws of descent and distribution.  Any other 
SAR, whether or not related to a NQSO, may not be sold, transferred, pledged, assigned or otherwise alienated or 
hypothecated, other than (i) upon the Participant’s death, to the Participant’s Beneficiary or, if no Beneficiary has been 
properly designated by the Participant, by will or by the laws of descent and distribution, (ii) pursuant to a Qualified 
Domestic Relations Order, (iii) to a grantor trust described in Section 6.11 or (iv) if specified by the Committee in the 
Participant’s SAR agreement, by gift to any member of the Participant’s immediate family or to a trust for the benefit of the 
Participant, or one or more of the Participant’s immediate family members.  For purposes of this Section 7.9, a Participant’s 
“immediate family” shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Section 6.11.  Unless transferred as permitted hereby, a SAR 
shall be exercisable during the Participant’s lifetime only by the Participant.

ARTICLE 8

RESTRICTED STOCK AND RESTRICTED STOCK UNITS

8.1 Grant of Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units.  Subject to the limitations set forth in Sections 4.1 
and 4.2 herein, and the other terms and provisions of the Plan, the Committee, at any time and from time to time, may grant 
Shares of Restricted Stock and/or Restricted Stock Units to Employees and Directors in such amounts as the Committee shall 
determine.  

8.2 Restricted Stock or Restricted Stock Unit Agreement.  Each Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Unit 
grant shall be evidenced by a Restricted Stock or Restricted Stock Unit agreement that shall specify the Period of Restriction 
and any other vesting terms, the number of Shares of Restricted Stock or Restricted Stock Units granted, and such other 
provisions as the Committee shall determine.  Each Restricted Stock Unit agreement shall comply with Section 409A.

8.3 Non-transferability.  Except as otherwise provided in this Plan or the Restricted Stock or Restricted Stock 
Unit agreement, Shares of Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units granted hereunder may not be sold, transferred, 
pledged, assigned or otherwise alienated or hypothecated until the end of the applicable Period of Restriction specified in the 
Restricted Stock or Restricted Stock Unit agreement (and in the case of Restricted Stock Units until the date of delivery or 
other payment), or upon earlier satisfaction of any other conditions, as specified by the Committee in its sole discretion and 
set forth in the Restricted Stock or Restricted Stock Unit agreement.  All rights with respect to the Restricted Stock and/or 
Restricted Stock Units granted to a Participant under the Plan shall be available during his or her lifetime only to such 
Participant, except as otherwise provided in the Restricted Stock or Restricted Stock Unit agreement.

8.4 Other Restrictions.  In addition to the restrictions set forth in Section 8.1 herein, the Committee may impose 
such restrictions on any Shares of Restricted Stock or Restricted Stock Units granted pursuant to the Plan as it may deem 
advisable, including restrictions under applicable federal or state securities laws; and may legend the certificate representing 
Restricted Stock to give appropriate notice of such restrictions.  The Committee may also require that Participants pay a 
stipulated purchase price for each Share of Restricted Stock or Restricted Stock Unit, or impose holding requirements or sale 
restrictions upon vesting of Restricted Stock or settlement of Restricted Stock Units in Shares.
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8.5 Certificate Legend.  In addition to any legends placed on certificates pursuant to Section 8.4 herein, each 
certificate representing Shares of Restricted Stock granted pursuant to the Plan shall bear the following legend:

 “The sale or other transfer of the shares of stock represented by this certificate, whether voluntary, 
involuntary or by operation of law, is subject to certain restrictions on transfer as set forth in the Capitol 
Federal Financial, Inc. 2026 Omnibus Incentive Plan and in a Restricted Stock agreement dated ____, 
20__.  A copy of the Plan and such Restricted Stock agreement may be obtained from the Corporate 
Secretary of Capitol Federal Financial, Inc.”

8.6 Removal of Restrictions.  Except as otherwise provided in this Section, Shares of Restricted Stock covered 
by each Restricted Stock grant made under the Plan shall become freely transferable by the Participant after the last day of 
the Period of Restriction.  Once the Shares are released from the restrictions, the Participant shall be entitled to have the 
legend required by Section 8.5 herein removed from his or her Share certificate.

8.7 Voting Rights.  During the Period of Restriction, Participants holding Shares of Restricted Stock granted 
hereunder may exercise full voting rights with respect to those Shares.  Participants shall have no voting rights with respect to 
Shares underlying Restricted Stock Units unless and until such Shares are issued to the Participant in settlement of the 
Restricted Stock Units.

8.8 Dividends and Other Distributions.  Subject to Section 4.5 herein, during the Period of Restriction, 
Participants holding Shares of Restricted Stock granted hereunder may be entitled to receive credit for dividends and other 
distributions paid with respect to those Shares.  If any such dividends or distributions are paid in Shares, the Shares shall be 
subject to the same restrictions on transferability and forfeitability as the Shares of Restricted Stock with respect to which 
they were paid.  Participants shall have no rights to dividends or other distributions paid on the Shares underlying Restricted 
Stock Units other than dividends and distributions with a record date on or after the date on which the Shares are issued to the 
Participant.  Subject to Section 4.5 herein, the Committee may provide for dividend equivalent units in the Participant’s 
Restricted Stock Unit agreement.

8.9 Termination of Employment or Service Due to Death or Disability.  Unless otherwise set forth in the 
Restricted Stock or Restricted Stock Unit agreement, in the event that a Participant’s employment or service is terminated by 
reason of death or Disability, the Period of Restriction with respect to the Participant’s Shares of Restricted Stock or 
Restricted Stock Units shall lapse as of the date of termination.

8.10 Termination of Employment or Service for Other Reasons.  Unless otherwise set forth in the Restricted 
Stock or Restricted Stock Unit agreement, if the employment or service of the Participant shall terminate for any reason other 
than those reasons described in Section 8.9 herein, including for Cause, all unvested Shares of Restricted Stock and 
Restricted Stock Units held by the Participant at that time immediately shall be forfeited and, in the case of Restricted Stock, 
the Shares shall be returned to the Company (and shall once again become available for grant under the Plan); provided, 
however, that with the exception of a termination of employment or service for Cause, the Committee, in its sole discretion, 
shall have the right to provide for lapsing of the Period of Restriction with respect to Restricted Stock or Restricted Stock 
Units following termination of employment or service for any reason other than those described in Section 8.9 herein, upon 
such terms and provisions as it deems proper.

8.11 Settlement of Restricted Stock Units.  Restricted Stock Units shall be settled (paid) at such time as is 
specified in the Restricted Stock Unit agreement.  When and if Restricted Stock Units become payable, a Participant having 
received the grant of such units shall be entitled to receive payment from the Company in cash, Shares or a combination 
thereof, as determined by the Committee at its sole discretion.
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ARTICLE 9

PERFORMANCE SHARES AND PERFORMANCE UNITS

9.1 Grant of Performance Shares and Performance Units.  Subject to the limitations set forth in Sections 4.1 
and 4.2 herein and the other terms of the Plan, the Committee, at any time and from time to time, may grant Performance 
Shares, or Performance Units entitling the Participant to future cash payments or Shares or a combination thereof, based upon 
the level of achievement with respect to one or more pre-established performance goals established for a Performance Period.

9.2 Amount of Award.  The Committee shall establish a maximum amount of a Participant’s Award, which 
amount shall be denominated in Shares in the case of Performance Shares or in units in the case of Performance Units.

9.3 Award Agreement.  Each Award of Performance Shares or Performance Units shall be evidenced by a 
Performance Share or Performance Unit agreement, which shall contain provisions regarding (i) the target and maximum 
amount payable to the Participant pursuant to the Award, (ii) the performance goals and level of achievement versus these 
goals that shall determine the amount of such payment, (iii) the Performance Period as to which performance shall be 
measured for determining the amount of any payment, (iv) the timing of any payment earned by virtue of performance, 
(v) whether and the extent to which Participants holding Performance Shares or Performance Units will receive dividends or
dividend equivalents with respect to dividends declared with respect to the Shares, which, if any, shall be subject to
Section 4.5 herein, (vi) restrictions on the alienation or transfer of the Award prior to actual payment and restrictions on the
sale or transfer of Shares following actual payment of an Award paid in Shares, (vii) forfeiture provisions, and (viii) such
further terms and conditions, in each case not inconsistent with the Plan, as may be determined from time to time by the
Committee.

9.4 Performance Goals.  Performance goals established by the Committee shall relate to Company or 
Subsidiary-wide, group or individual performance, and be based upon such measures as are determined by the Committee.  
Multiple performance goals may be used, and the components of multiple performance goals may be given the same or 
different weighting in determining the amount of an Award earned and may relate to absolute performance or relative 
performance measured against other groups, individuals or entities.

9.5 Discretionary Adjustments.  Notwithstanding satisfaction of any performance goals, the amount paid under 
an Award of Performance Shares or Performance Units on account of either financial performance or personal performance 
evaluations may be reduced by the Committee on the basis of such further considerations as the Committee shall determine, if 
so provided in the terms of the Award.

9.6 Payment of Awards.  Following the conclusion of each Performance Period, the Committee shall determine 
the extent to which performance goals have been attained, and the satisfaction of any other terms and conditions with respect 
to an Award relating to such Performance Period.  The Committee shall determine what, if any, payment is due with respect 
to an Award and, in the case of Performance Units, whether such payment shall be made in cash, Shares or a combination 
thereof.  Payment shall be made in a lump sum within 60 days after the Committee determines that a payment is due (or at 
such other time as provided for in the Performance Share or Performance Unit agreement that either qualifies as a short-term 
deferral that is exempt from Section 409A, or satisfies Section 409A).

9.7 Termination of Employment or Service Due to Death or Disability.  Unless provided otherwise in the 
Participant’s agreement evidencing his or her Performance Shares or Performance Units, if the employment or service of a 
Participant shall terminate before the end of a Performance Period by reason of death or Disability, then to the extent it is 
determined by the Committee following the end of the Performance Period in accordance with Section 9.6 that the 
performance goals have been attained, the Participant shall be entitled to a pro rata payment based on the number of months’ 
service during the Performance Period but based on the achievement of performance goals during the entire Performance 
Period; payment under these circumstances shall be made at the time payments are made to Participants who did not 
terminate service during the Performance Period, subject to Section 9.6 herein.

9.8 Termination of Employment or Service for Other Reasons.  Unless provided otherwise in the Participant’s 
agreement evidencing his or her Performance Shares or Performance Units, if the employment or service of a Participant 
shall terminate before the end of a Performance Period for any other reason, all outstanding Awards of Performance Shares or 
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Performance Units to such Participant shall be cancelled; provided, however, that in the event of a termination of the 
employment or service of the Participant by the Company other than for Cause, the Committee in its sole discretion may 
waive the foregoing automatic cancellation provision and pay out on a pro rata basis as set forth in Section 9.7 herein.

9.9 Non-transferability.  Except as otherwise provided in the Participant’s agreement evidencing his or her 
Award of Performance Shares or Performance Units, Performance Shares and Performance Units may not be sold, 
transferred, pledged, assigned or otherwise alienated or hypothecated, other than upon the Participant’s death, to the 
Participant’s Beneficiary or, if no Beneficiary has been designated by the Participant, by will or by the laws of descent and 
distribution.  Further, except as otherwise provided in the Participant’s agreement evidencing his or her Award of 
Performance Shares or Performance Units, a Participant’s rights under the Plan shall inure during his or her lifetime only to 
such Participant.

ARTICLE 10

BENEFICIARY DESIGNATION

Each Participant under the Plan may, from time to time, name any beneficiary or beneficiaries (who may be named 
contingently or successively) to whom any benefit or right under the Plan is to be paid or transferred in case of his or her 
death before he or she receives any or all of such benefits or rights (a “Beneficiary” or “Beneficiaries”).  Each such 
designation shall revoke all prior designations by the same Participant, shall be in a form prescribed by the Company, and 
will be effective only when filed by the Participant in writing with the Company during the Participant’s lifetime.  In the 
absence of any such designation, benefits or rights remaining at the Participant’s death shall be paid or transferred to the 
Participant’s estate.

ARTICLE 11

RIGHTS OF EMPLOYEES AND DIRECTORS

11.1 Employment or Service.  Nothing in the Plan shall interfere with or limit in any way the right of the 
Company or any Subsidiary to terminate any Participant’s employment or service at any time, nor confer upon any 
Participant any right to continue in the employ or service of the Company or any Subsidiary.  For purposes of the Plan, unless 
the Committee provides otherwise in an Award agreement, service includes service of a Participant in any capacity as a 
director, advisory or emeritus director, officer or employee of the Company or any Subsidiary, including an Employee who 
subsequently becomes a Director.

11.2 Participation.  No Employee or Director shall be entitled to be selected to receive an Award under the Plan, 
or, having been so selected, to be selected to receive a future Award.

ARTICLE 12

CHANGE IN CONTROL

12.1 Effect of Change in Control.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Plan to the contrary, the 
provisions of this Article 12 shall apply in the event of a Change in Control.  The Board has final authority to determine the 
exact date on which a Change in Control has been deemed to have occurred.

12.2 Conditional Vesting.  Upon a Change in Control, except to the extent that another Award meeting the 
requirements of Section 12.3 (a "Replacement Award") is provided to the Participant to replace an outstanding Award (the 
"Replaced Award") and except as otherwise provided by the Committee in the applicable Award Agreement:

(a) Each SAR and Option then outstanding shall become fully vested and exercisable;

(b) Any remaining Period of Restriction applicable to Restricted Stock or Restricted Stock Units shall 
automatically terminate and the Shares of Restricted Stock shall thereby be free of restrictions and be fully transferable, and 
distribution of Shares or cash with respect to Restricted Stock Units shall occur pursuant to Section 8.11 above, provided, 
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however, that with respect to any Restricted Stock or Restricted Stock Unit Award subject to performance-based vesting 
conditions, the effect of a Change in Control on such Award shall be determined applying the principles of Section 12.2(c) 
below as if such Award was a Performance Share Award; and

(c) Each Performance Unit or Performance Share Award held by the Participant shall be deemed 
earned and shall be paid to the extent of the greater of (i) the extent, as determined by the Committee, to which the 
Performance Goals applicable to such Performance-Based Award have been met during the applicable Performance Period 
up through and including the effective date of the Change in Control or (ii) the target number of Performance Units or 
Performance Shares determined at the date of grant, with such target number to be pro-rated based on the elapsed proportion 
of the applicable Performance Period up through and including the effective date of the Change in Control.

12.3 Replacement Awards.  An Award shall meet the conditions of this Section 12.3 (and hence qualify as a 
Replacement Award) if:

(a) it has a value at least equal to the value of the Replaced Award;

(b) it relates to publicly traded equity securities of the Company or its successor in the Change in 
Control or another entity that is affiliated with the Company or its successor following the Change in Control; 

(c) it meets the requirements of Section 12.4 below; and

(d) its other terms and conditions are not less favorable to the Participant than the terms and 
conditions of the Replaced Award (including the provisions that would apply in the event of a subsequent Change in Control 
and the provisions of Section 12.4).

(e) Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Replacement Award may take the form of a 
continuation of the Replaced Award if the requirements of the preceding sentence are satisfied.  The determination of 
whether the conditions of this Section 12.3 are satisfied shall be made by the Committee, as constituted immediately before 
the Change in Control, in its sole discretion.

12.4 Separation from Service.  Upon an involuntary separation from service of a Participant (other than for 
Cause but including voluntary resignation for good reason under an applicable plan or agreement) occurring in connection 
with or during the period of two (2) years after a Change in Control, all Replacement Awards held by the Participant, to the 
extent not vested as of such separation, shall become fully vested and (if applicable) exercisable and free of restrictions.

ARTICLE 13

AMENDMENT, MODIFICATION AND TERMINATION

13.1 Amendment, Modification and Termination.  The Board or the Committee may, at any time and from time 
to time, terminate, amend or modify the Plan without the consent of stockholders or Participants, except that any such action 
will be subject to the approval of the Company’s stockholders if, when and to the extent such stockholder approval is 
necessary or required for purposes of any applicable federal or state law or regulation or the rules of any stock exchange or 
automated quotation system on which the Shares may then be listed or quoted, or if the Board, in its discretion, determines to 
seek such stockholder approval.  In addition, Options and SARs issued under the Plan may not be repriced, replaced or re-
granted through cancellation, by being exchanged for cash or other Awards or by lowering the Exercise or Grant Price of a 
previously granted Option or SAR (other than as described in Section 4.4 herein), except with the approval of the Company’s 
stockholders to the extent required under the rules of any stock exchange or automated quotation system on which the Shares 
may then be listed or quoted and, to the extent applicable, in compliance with Section 409A and except that SARs may be 
settled in cash in accordance with Section 7.5.  Neither the Board nor the Committee may materially waive any conditions of, 
or rights of the Company under, or modify or amend the terms of any outstanding Award, nor may the Board or Committee 
amend, alter, suspend, discontinue or terminate any outstanding Award without the consent of the Participant or holder 
thereof, except as otherwise herein provided, including, without limitation as provided in Section 13.2 herein.
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13.2 Awards Previously Granted.  No termination, amendment or modification of the Plan shall in any manner 
adversely affect any Award previously granted under the Plan, without the written consent of the Participant; provided, 
however, that the Participant shall not be required to consent to any amendment or modification required by law or for the 
Plan to comply with Section 409A.

ARTICLE 14

WITHHOLDING

The Company shall have the power and the right to deduct or withhold, or require a Participant to remit to the 
Company, an amount sufficient to satisfy federal, state and local taxes (including the Participant’s FICA obligation) required 
by law to be withheld with respect to any grant, exercise or payment made under or as a result of the Plan.  The Committee 
may provide for Participants to satisfy withholding requirements by having the Company withhold Shares or the Participant 
making other arrangements acceptable to the Committee.

ARTICLE 15

SUCCESSORS

All obligations of the Company under the Plan, with respect to Awards granted hereunder, shall be binding on any 
successor to the Company.

ARTICLE 16

REQUIREMENTS OF LAW

16.1 Requirements of Law.  The granting of Awards and the issuance of Shares under the Plan shall be subject 
to all applicable laws, rules and regulations, and to such approvals by any governmental agencies or national securities 
exchanges as may be required.

16.2 Governing Law.  To the extent not preempted by federal law, the Plan and all agreements hereunder shall 
be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the State of Maryland.

16.3 Regulatory Requirements.  Anything in this Plan or an Award to the contrary notwithstanding, it is 
intended, to the extent required, that this Plan and Awards granted hereunder comply with the requirements of legislative or 
regulatory limitations or requirements which are or may become applicable to the Company and the Awards made hereunder 
(collectively, the “Regulatory Requirements”), including, but not limited to, provisions limiting payment of certain bonus, 
incentive or retention compensation or “golden parachute payments” to certain officers or highly compensated employees, 
requiring that the Company may recover (claw back) bonus and incentive compensation in certain circumstances, and 
precluding bonus and incentive arrangements that encourage unnecessary or excessive risks that threaten the value of the 
Company or any Subsidiary, in each case within the meaning of the Regulatory Requirements, and only to the extent 
applicable to the Company (or a Subsidiary) and a Participant.  The application of this Section 16.3 is intended to, and shall 
be interpreted, administered and construed to, cause the Plan and Awards to comply with the Regulatory Requirements and, 
to the maximum extent consistent with this Section 16.3 and the Regulatory Requirements, to permit the operation of the Plan 
and each Award in accordance with the terms and provisions thereof before giving effect to the provisions of this 
Section 16.3 or the Regulatory Requirements.

A-15



ARTICLE 17

ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS

17.1 Notices.  Any communication required or permitted to be given under the Plan, including any notice, 
direction, designation, comment, instruction, objection or waiver, shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been given 
at such time as it is delivered personally or three (3) days after mailing if mailed, postage prepaid, by registered or certified 
mail, return receipt requested, addressed to such party at the address listed below, or at such other address as one such party 
may by written notice specify to the other party:

(a) If to the Committee:

 Capitol Federal Financial, Inc.

 700 South Kansas Avenue

 Topeka, Kansas 66603

 Attention: Corporate Secretary

(b) If to a Participant, to such person’s address as shown in the Company’s records.

17.2 Election to Defer.  To the extent provided by the Committee under this Plan or an applicable deferral plan 
established by the Company or a Subsidiary, the receipt of payment of cash or delivery of Shares that would otherwise be due 
to a Participant pursuant to an Award hereunder, other than Options and SARs, may be deferred at the election of the 
Participant.  Any such deferral elections and the payment of any amounts so deferred shall be made in accordance with such 
rules and procedures as the Committee may establish under this Plan or the applicable deferral plan, which rules and 
procedures shall comply with Section 409A of the Code.

17.3 Other Restrictions, Limitations and Clawback; Compliance with Law, Rules and Regulations.  The 
Committee may provide that a Participant’s rights, payments and benefits with respect to an Award shall be subject to 
reduction, cancellation, forfeiture or recoupment, to delayed or deferred payment or to holding period requirements upon the 
occurrence of certain specified events or circumstances in addition to any otherwise applicable vesting or performance 
conditions of an Award.  Such events may include, but shall not be limited to, (a) termination of employment or service for 
Cause, (b) fraudulent or illegal actions or other misconduct, (c) violation of any Company and/or Subsidiary code of ethics, 
conflict of interest, insider trading or similar policy, code of conduct or general clawback policy applicable to the Participant, 
(d) failure to enter into, or the breach of, any noncompetition, non-solicitation, confidentiality, or other restrictive covenant 
that may apply to the Participant, (e) other conduct by the Participant that is detrimental to the business or reputation of the 
Company and/or its Subsidiaries or (f) requirements of applicable laws, rules or regulations, including the Regulatory 
Requirements (as described in Section 16.3).  If the Company is required to prepare an accounting restatement due to the 
material noncompliance of the Company, as a result of misconduct, with any financial reporting requirement under the 
securities laws, if the Participant knowingly or grossly negligently engaged in the misconduct, or knowingly or grossly 
negligently failed to prevent the misconduct, or if the Participant is one of the individuals subject to automatic forfeiture 
under Section 304 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (and not otherwise exempted), or in other circumstances subjecting 
Participants to the obligation to repay, and for the Company to recoup (claw back) incentive or other compensation, the 
Participant shall reimburse the Company with respect to payments received upon exercise or in settlement of an Award 
earned or accrued, and/or outstanding Awards shall be reduced, surrendered or cancelled, in such amount and with respect to 
such time period as the Committee shall determine to be required by applicable law, rule or regulation.

17.4 Compliance with Section 409A.  This Plan is intended to comply with and shall be administered in a 
manner that is intended to comply with Section 409A and shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with such intent.  
To the extent that an Award or the payment, settlement or deferral thereof is subject to Section 409A, the Award shall be 
granted, paid, settled or deferred in a manner that will comply with Section 409A, except as otherwise determined by the 
Committee.  Any provision of this Plan that would cause the grant of an Award or the payment, settlement or deferral thereof 
to fail to satisfy Section 409A shall be amended to comply with Section 409A on a timely basis, which may be made on a 
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retroactive basis, in accordance with regulations and other guidance issued under Section 409A.  In the case of amounts not 
intended to be deferrals of compensation subject to Section 409A, such as, but not limited to, annual incentive Awards, 
payment or settlement of amounts under such Awards shall occur not later than March 15 of the year following the year in 
which the Participant has a legally-binding right to payment or settlement.  In the case of amounts intended to be deferrals of 
compensation subject to Section 409A, the initial deferral election shall be made and become irrevocable no later than 
December 31 of the year immediately preceding the year in which the Participant first performs services related to such 
compensation, provided that the timing of such initial deferral election may be later as provided in Section 409A with respect 
to initial participation in the Plan and for “performance-based compensation” as defined under Section 409A.  If an amount 
payable under an Award as a result of the separation from service (other than due to death) occurring while the Participant is 
a “specified employee” (as defined in Section 409A) constitutes a deferral of compensation subject to Section 409A, then 
payment of such amount shall not occur until six (6) months and a day after the date of the Participant’s “separation from 
service” except as permitted under Section 409A. With respect to any Award that is not exempt from Section 409A, all 
references in this Plan to a  termination of employment or service or a “separation from service” shall mean a cessation or 
reduction in the Participant’s services for the Company (and any other affiliated entities that are deemed to constitute a 
“service recipient” as defined in Treasury Regulation §1.409A-1(h)(3)) that constitutes a “Separation from Service” as 
determined under Section 409A of the Code, taking into account all of the facts, circumstances, rules and presumptions set 
forth in Treasury Regulation §1.409A-1(h).
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Private Securities Litigation Reform Act-Safe Harbor Statement

Capitol Federal Financial, Inc. (the "Company"), and Capitol Federal Savings Bank ("Capitol Federal Savings" or the 
"Bank"), may from time to time make written or oral "forward-looking statements," including statements contained in 
documents filed or furnished by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC").  These forward-
looking statements may be included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and the exhibits attached to it, in the Company's 
reports to stockholders, in the Company's press releases, and in other communications by the Company, which are made in 
good faith pursuant to the "safe harbor" provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.  

These forward-looking statements include statements about our beliefs, plans, objectives, goals, expectations, anticipations, 
estimates and intentions, which are subject to significant risks and uncertainties, and are subject to change based on various 
factors, some of which are beyond our control.  The words "may," "could," "should," "would," "believe," "anticipate," 
"estimate," "expect," "intend," "plan" and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements.  The 
following factors, among others, could cause our future results to differ materially from the beliefs, plans, objectives, goals, 
expectations, anticipations, estimates and intentions expressed in the forward-looking statements:  

• our ability to maintain overhead costs at reasonable levels;
• our ability to generate a sufficient volume of loans in order to maintain the loan portfolio balance at a level desired by

management;
• our ability to invest funds in wholesale or secondary markets at favorable yields;
• our ability to access cost-effective funding and maintain sufficient liquidity;
• our ability to expand our commercial banking and trust asset management expertise across our market areas;
• fluctuations in deposit flows;
• transactions or activities that would result in the recapture of base-year, tax basis bad debt reserves;
• the future earnings and capital levels of the Bank, the impact of potential pre-1988 bad debt recapture and the continued

non-objection by our primary federal banking regulators, to the extent required, to distribute capital from the Bank to the
Company, which could affect the Company's income tax expense and the Company's ability to pay dividends in
accordance with its dividend policy and/or repurchase shares;

• the strength of the U.S. economy in general and the strength and/or the availability of labor in the local economies in
which we conduct operations, including areas where we have purchased large amounts of correspondent loans, originated
commercial loans, and entered into commercial loan participations;

• changes in real estate values, unemployment levels, general economic trends, and the level and direction of loan
delinquencies and charge-offs may require changes in the estimates of the adequacy of the allowance for credit losses
("ACL"), and may adversely affect our business;

• increases in classified and/or non-performing assets, which may require the Bank to increase the ACL, charge-off loans
and incur elevated collection and carrying costs, or not recognize income for a period of time, related to such non-
performing assets;

• results of examinations of the Bank and the Company by their respective primary federal banking regulators, including
the possibility that the regulators may, among other things, require us to increase our ACL;

• changes in accounting principles, policies, or guidelines;
• the effects of, and changes in, monetary and interest rate policies of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve

System ("FRB");
• the effects of, and changes in, trade and fiscal policies and laws of the United States government;
• the effects of, and changes in, foreign and military policies of the United States government;
• inflation, interest rate, market, monetary, and currency fluctuations and the effects of a potential economic recession or

slower economic growth;
• the impact of bank failures or adverse developments at other banks and related negative press about the banking industry

in general on investor or depositor sentiment;
• the timely development and acceptance of new products and services and the perceived overall value of these products

and services by users, including the features, pricing, and quality compared to competitors' products and services;
• the willingness of users to substitute competitors' products and services for our products and services;
• our success in gaining regulatory approval of our products and services and branching locations, when required;
• the impact of interpretations of, and changes in, financial services laws and regulations, including laws concerning taxes,

banking, securities, consumer protection, trust and insurance and the impact of other governmental initiatives affecting
the financial services industry;
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• the ability to attract and retain skilled employees;
• implementing business initiatives may be more difficult or expensive than anticipated;
• significant litigation;
• technological changes and the costs thereof;
• our ability to maintain the security of our financial, accounting, technology, and other operating systems and facilities,

including the ability to withstand cyberattacks;
• changes in consumer spending, borrowing and saving habits; and
• our success at managing the risks involved in our business.

This list of factors is not all inclusive.  See "Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors" for a discussion of risks and uncertainties related 
to our business that could adversely impact our operations and/or financial results.  We do not undertake to update any 
forward-looking statement, whether written or oral, that may be made from time to time by or on behalf of the Company or 
the Bank.

PART I
As used in this Form 10-K, unless we specify or the context indicates otherwise, "the Company," "we," "us," and "our" refer 
to Capitol Federal Financial, Inc. a Maryland corporation, and its subsidiaries.  "Capitol Federal Savings," and "the Bank," 
refer to Capitol Federal Savings Bank, a federal savings bank and the wholly-owned subsidiary of Capitol Federal Financial, 
Inc. 

Item 1.  Business

General

The Company is a Maryland corporation with its common stock traded on the Global Select tier of the NASDAQ Stock 
Market.  The Bank is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and is a federally chartered and insured savings bank 
headquartered in Topeka, Kansas.  The Bank continues to transition from a retail oriented financial institution to one with an 
expanded focus on commercial customers by strategically growing all aspects of commercial banking through investment in 
technology, people, products, and services. 

We attract deposits primarily from the general public and from businesses, and invest those funds primarily in commercial 
loans, either secured by real estate or for commercial and industrial purposes, and in permanent loans secured by first 
mortgages on owner-occupied, one- to four-family residences.  The Bank is active in commercial lending markets even when 
the lending opportunity is outside of the Bank's local footprint.  We also participate with other lenders in commercial loans, 
and have previously purchased loans from correspondent lenders secured by mortgages on one- to four-family residences but 
we suspended that line of business in June 2024.  The Bank invests in certain investment securities and mortgage-backed 
securities ("MBS").  The Bank funds our lending and investing activities from deposits and Federal Home Loan Bank of 
Topeka ("FHLB") borrowings.  

We offer a variety of deposit accounts having a wide range of interest rates and terms, which generally include savings 
accounts, money market accounts, interest-bearing and non-interest-bearing checking accounts, and certificates of deposit 
with terms ranging from 91 days to 120 months.  We also offer a broad range of banking services, including a full suite of 
treasury management services designed to support commercial customers in managing their financial operations efficiently 
and securely.  By leveraging treasury management services, we help businesses streamline their operations, reduce financial 
risk, and maximize liquidity while growing the Bank's non-interest-bearing deposit base and diversifying fee-based income.  
We also offer tailored banking services for our small business customers and are actively expanding our suite of private 
banking and trust and wealth management products and services.

The Company's results of operations are primarily dependent on net interest income, which is the difference between the 
interest earned on loans, securities, and cash, and the interest paid on deposits and borrowings.  On a weekly basis, 
management reviews deposit flows, loan demand, cash levels, and changes in several market interest rates to assess all 
pricing strategies.  The Bank's pricing strategy for commercial loans is generally based on competitor pricing and the credit 
risk of the borrower, with consideration given to the overall relationship of the borrower.  Pricing for first mortgage loan 
products includes setting interest rates based on secondary market prices and competitor pricing for our local lending 
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markets.  Generally, deposit pricing is based upon a survey of competitors in the Bank's market areas, and the need to attract 
funding and retain maturing deposits.

The Company is significantly affected by prevailing economic conditions, including federal monetary and fiscal policies and 
federal regulation of financial institutions.  Deposit balances are influenced by a number of factors, including interest rates 
paid on competing investment products, the level of personal income, and the personal rate of savings within our market 
areas.  Lending activities are influenced by the demand for business and housing activity levels, our loan underwriting 
guidelines compared to those of our competitors, as well as the interest rate environment and interest rate pricing competition 
from other lending institutions. 

Management Strategy

We seek to offer a comprehensive suite of commercial and consumer banking products and services to our customers.  We 
strive to enhance stockholder value while maintaining a sound asset quality position and strong capital position.  To achieve 
these goals, we focus on the following strategies:

Lending.  We offer both commercial and one- to four-family loan products to our customers.  We continue to strategically 
grow our commercial loan portfolio through prospecting for new relationships and maintaining and expanding existing 
relationships.  We maintain strong relationships with local real estate agents to attract one- to four-family loan business.  We 
rely on our marketing efforts and customer service reputation to be top of mind for commercial customers and attract 
business from walk-in customers, customers that apply online, and existing customers.  

We offer several commercial lending options and participate in commercial loans with other lenders, both locally and outside 
our market areas.  We offer both fixed- and adjustable-rate products with various terms to maturity and pricing options.  We 
monitor concentration levels such as collateral type, geographic location, tenant brand name, borrowing relationships, and, in 
the case of participation loans, lending relationships, among other factors.

We are one of the leading originators of conventional one- to four-family loans in the state of Kansas.  We originate these 
loans primarily for our own portfolio, and we generally service the loans we originate.  Historically, we purchased one- to 
four-family loans from correspondent lenders but suspended that activity during fiscal year 2024.  We also originate a variety 
of consumer loans, the majority of which are home equity loans and lines of credit for which the Bank also has the first 
mortgage or is in the first lien position.  

Deposit Services. We offer a wide array of deposit products and services to our commercial and retail customers.  Our 
deposit product offerings include checking, savings, money market, certificates of deposit, and retirement accounts.  Deposit 
services are provided through our network of traditional branches and retail in-store locations, our call center (which operates 
on extended hours), mobile banking, telephone banking, and online banking and bill payment services.  

We offer a competitive suite of treasury management services to meet the needs of our commercial customers.  Our treasury 
management solutions include services such as cash flow optimization, fraud prevention tools, and payment services tailored 
to our commercial customers.  We listen to the needs of our commercial clients that utilize these services and actively 
evaluate new technology in order to capture a larger share of their business with additional products and services.  We have 
also deployed a team of business development officers tasked with growing the deposit base within the small business 
customer segment, focusing on serving small businesses in our market areas with specialized products specifically designed 
for these customers.  

We are preparing to implement a comprehensive suite of private banking products and services in fiscal year 2026 to better 
serve our customers and grow our non-interest revenue.  We believe that our private banking line of business will bridge the 
gap between high-net-worth depository customers, small business owners or commercial customers, and corporate trustee 
opportunities for the Bank.   
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Cost Control.  We generally are effective at controlling our costs of operations.  We believe our investments in developing a 
full suite of commercial products and services, and our expanded services in private banking and trust and wealth 
management, are appropriate and that their successful execution can generate revenue in excess of the related costs.  We 
centralize our loan servicing and deposit support functions for efficient processing.  We serve a broad range of customers 
through relatively few branch locations.  Our average deposit base per traditional branch at September 30, 2025 was 
approximately $128.5 million.  This large average deposit base per branch helps to control costs.  Our prudent underwriting 
requirements and our effective management of credit risk allow us to service a large portfolio of loans at efficient levels 
because it costs less to service a portfolio of performing loans. 

Asset Quality.  Maintaining strong asset quality has always been a top priority for us, and is even more important now, as we 
expand our commercial loan portfolio.  We utilize underwriting standards for all of our lending products, including the loans 
we purchase and participate in, that are designed to limit our exposure to credit risk.  We require complete documentation for 
both loans originated by the Bank and for commercial participation loans and make credit decisions based on our assessment 
of the borrower's ability to repay the loan in accordance with its terms.  We monitor concentration levels by collateral type, 
geographic location, and borrowing relationship.  We also monitor the credit quality of existing loans and borrowers, which 
includes monitoring financial performance at least annually for commercial borrowers with total loans of $2.5 million or 
more.  We strive to work proactively with customers, especially if they face challenging financial conditions.  

Capital Position.  Our policy has always been to protect the safety and soundness of the Bank through credit and operational 
risk management, balance sheet strength, and sound operations.  The end result of these activities has been capital ratios that 
meet or exceed the well-capitalized standards set by the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (the "OCC").  We believe 
that maintaining a strong capital position safeguards the long-term interests of the Bank, the Company, and our stockholders.

Stockholder Value.  We strive to provide long-term, sustainable stockholder value while maintaining a strong capital 
position.  We continue to generate returns to stockholders through dividend payments and share repurchases.  Total dividends 
declared and paid during fiscal year 2025 were $44.3 million.  The Company also repurchased 618,260 shares for $3.9 
million during fiscal year 2025, all of which occurred during the fourth quarter of the fiscal year.  The Company's cash 
dividend payout policy is reviewed quarterly by management and the Board of Directors, and the ability to pay dividends 
under the policy depends upon a number of factors, including the Company's financial condition and results of operations, 
regulatory capital requirements, regulatory limitations on the Bank's ability to make capital distributions to the Company, the 
Bank's current tax earnings and accumulated earnings and profits, and the amount of cash at the holding company level.  For 
fiscal year 2026, it is the intention of the Company's Board of Directors to pay out a regular quarterly cash dividend of $0.085 
per share, totaling $0.34 per share for the year, and to seek further opportunities for value-enhancing share repurchases.

Interest Rate Risk Management.  Changes in interest rates are our primary market risk as our balance sheet is almost 
entirely comprised of interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities.  Therefore, fluctuations in interest rates have a 
significant impact not only upon our net income but also upon the cash flows related to those assets and liabilities and the 
market value of our assets and liabilities.  To maintain what we believe to be acceptable levels of net interest income in 
varying interest rate environments, we actively manage our interest rate risk and assume a moderate amount of interest rate 
risk consistent with policies approved by the Board of Directors. 

Market Area and Competition

Our corporate office is located in Topeka, Kansas.  As of September 30, 2025, we had a network of 46 branches (44 
traditional branches and two in-store branches) located in nine counties throughout Kansas and three counties in Missouri.  
We primarily serve the metropolitan areas of Topeka, Wichita, Lawrence, Manhattan, Emporia, and Salina, Kansas and a 
portion of the metropolitan area of greater Kansas City. 

We operate in a highly competitive environment for quality commercial banking relationships across the markets we serve.  
Larger national, regional and local financial institutions, as well as credit unions, farm credit lenders, commercial finance 
companies, insurance companies, and other non-bank lenders have increased their presence in our market areas thereby 
increasing competition.  Additionally, we face competition from smaller local institutions that often offer aggressive pricing 
and specialized loan structures and banking services.  We compete in a number of ways, including a comprehensive suite of 
products and services, competitive loan pricing, and a strong reputation in the market areas we serve.  We provide 
competitive interest rates on both deposit and lending products and offer a full suite of treasury management services to 
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commercial customers.  Through our treasury management services, we pair our commercial customers with experienced 
relationship managers who offer a broad range of customized services, digital platforms and sophisticated cash management 
tools tailored to their business.  We offer specialized products and services to our small business customers and have a team 
of bankers focused on the deposit and loan needs of small businesses in our market areas.  We are focused on the financial 
needs of customers and strategically invest in all aspects of commercial banking by aligning technology, people, products and 
services to expand the offering of products and services to our customers to remain competitive and grow commercial 
banking.

Competition in originating one- to four-family and consumer loans and attracting retail deposits primarily comes from local, 
regional, and national banks, savings institutions, credit unions, mortgage brokerage firms, investment banking and brokerage 
firms, and online competitors that are not confined to any specific market area.  As noted above, the Bank has consistently 
been one of the top originators of residential one- to four-family loans in the state of Kansas.  This has been achieved through 
strong relationships with real estate agents and marketing which emphasizes the strength of Capitol Federal's brand, 
competitive pricing, and the Bank's history as a portfolio lender.  The Bank offers a diversified retail deposit product line, and 
we are actively expanding our suite of private banking and trust and wealth management products and services by 
strategically investing in staff and technology.  Management considers our well-established banking network and our 
reputation for financial strength and customer service to be major factors in our success at attracting and retaining customers 
in our market areas.  The Bank ranked second in deposit market share, at 6.2%, in the state of Kansas as reported in the 
June 30, 2025 Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC") "Summary of Deposits - Market Share Report."  

Available Information

Financial and other Company information, including press releases, Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on 
Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and all amendments to those reports can be obtained free of charge from our 
investor relations website, https://ir.capfed.com.  SEC filings are available on our website immediately after they are 
electronically filed with or furnished to the SEC, and are also available on the SEC's website at www.sec.gov.

Regulation and Supervision

The Bank is examined and regulated by the OCC, its primary regulator, and its deposits are insured up to applicable limits by 
the Deposit Insurance Fund ("DIF"), which is administered by the FDIC.  The Company, as a savings and loan holding 
company, is examined and regulated by the FRB.

Set forth below is a description of certain laws and regulations that are applicable to the Company and the Bank.  This 
description is intended as a brief summary of selected features of such laws and regulations and is qualified in its entirety by 
reference to the laws and regulations applicable to the Company and the Bank.

General.  The Bank, as a federally chartered savings bank, is subject to regulation and oversight by the OCC in all aspects of 
its operations.  This regulation and oversight of the Bank is intended for the protection of depositors and other customers and 
not for the purpose of protecting the Company's stockholders.  The investment and lending authority of the Bank is 
prescribed by federal laws and regulations and the Bank is prohibited from engaging in any activities not permitted by such 
laws and regulations.  The Bank and Company are required to maintain minimum levels of regulatory capital and the Bank is 
subject to limitations on making capital distributions to the Company. 

The Company is a unitary savings and loan holding company within the meaning of the Home Owners' Loan Act ("HOLA").  
As such, the Company is registered with the FRB and subject to FRB regulations, examinations, supervision, and reporting 
requirements.  In addition, the FRB has enforcement authority over the Company.  Among other things, this authority permits 
the FRB to restrict or prohibit activities by the Company that are determined to be a serious risk to the Bank. 

The enforcement authority of the OCC and of the FRB includes, among other things, the ability to assess civil monetary 
penalties, to issue cease-and-desist or removal orders, and to initiate injunctive actions.  In general, these enforcement actions 
may be initiated for violations of laws and regulations and unsafe or unsound practices.  Other actions or inactions may 
provide the basis for enforcement action, including misleading or untimely filed reports.  Except under certain circumstances, 
public disclosure of final enforcement actions by the OCC or the FRB is required by law.
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As a federally chartered savings bank, the Bank is required to maintain a significant portion of its assets in residential 
housing-related loans and investments in at least nine months of the most recent 12-month period.  An institution that fails to 
do so is immediately subject to restrictions on its operations, including a prohibition against capital distributions, except with 
the prior approval of both the OCC and the FRB.  Failure to meet this qualification is a statutory violation subject to 
enforcement action.  As of September 30, 2025, the Bank met the qualification.

The Bank's relationship with its depositors and borrowers is regulated to a great extent by federal laws and regulations, 
especially in such matters as the ownership of savings accounts and the form and content of mortgage requirements.  In 
addition, the branching authority of the Bank is regulated by the OCC.  The Bank is generally authorized to branch 
nationwide.  

The Bank is subject to a statutory lending limit on aggregate loans to one person or a group of related persons.  The general 
limit is 15% of the Bank's unimpaired capital and surplus, plus an additional 10% for loans fully secured by readily 
marketable collateral.  At September 30, 2025, the Bank's lending limit under this restriction was $144.7 million.  The Bank 
has no loans or loan relationships in excess of its lending limit.  Loan commitments and loans outstanding to the Bank's 
largest borrowing relationship totaled $103.2 million at September 30, 2025, all of which was current according to its terms.  
As of September 30, 2025, the lending relationship was composed of several commercial and industrial loans with a 
combined gross balance of $85.1 million and multiple commercial real estate loans with a combined gross balance of $18.1 
million.  The borrower is located in Kansas and the properties securing the commercial real estate loans are located in 
Kansas.

The OCC has adopted guidelines establishing safety and soundness standards on matters such as loan underwriting and 
documentation, asset quality, earnings standards, internal controls and audit systems, interest rate risk exposure, and 
compensation and other employee benefits.  The Bank is subject to periodic examinations by the OCC regarding these and 
related matters.  During these examinations, the examiners may require the Bank to increase its ACL, change the 
classification of loans, and/or recognize additional charge-offs based on their judgments, which can impact our capital and 
earnings.  In October 2025, the OCC announced several regulatory changes aimed at reducing burdens and tailoring oversight 
for community banks.  Effective January 1, 2026, the OCC will eliminate certain mandatory, non-statutory examination 
requirements, allowing examiners to adjust exam scope and frequency based on each bank’s size, complexity, and risk 
profile.  The agency also introduced initiatives to simplify model risk-management expectations for smaller institutions and 
expand eligibility for streamlined licensing procedures for well-managed community banks.  Together, these measures are 
designed to make supervision more risk-focused and less prescriptive, while maintaining safety and soundness standards. 

Regulatory Capital Requirements.  The Bank and the Company are required to maintain specified levels of regulatory capital 
under regulations of the OCC and FRB, respectively.  See "Part II, Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data - 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements - Note 13. Regulatory Capital Requirements" for additional regulatory capital 
information.  At September 30, 2025, the Bank was considered well capitalized under OCC regulations.

The OCC can establish individual minimum capital requirements for a particular institution which vary from the capital 
levels that would otherwise be required under the applicable capital regulations based on such factors as concentrations of 
credit risk, levels of interest rate risk, the risks of non-traditional activities, and other circumstances.  The OCC has not 
imposed any such requirements on the Bank.

The OCC is authorized and, under certain circumstances, required to take certain actions against federal savings banks that 
are not adequately capitalized because they fail to meet the minimum requirements associated with their elected capital 
framework.  Any such institution must submit a capital restoration plan for OCC approval and may be restricted in, among 
other things, increasing its assets, acquiring another institution, establishing a branch or engaging in any new activities, and 
may not make capital distributions.  Institutions that are deemed by the OCC to be "critically undercapitalized" are subject to 
the appointment of a conservator or receiver.  As of September 30, 2025, the Bank and the Company met all capital adequacy 
requirements to which they are subject.

Limitations on Dividends and Other Capital Distributions.  OCC regulations impose restrictions on savings institutions with 
respect to their ability to make distributions of capital, which include dividends, stock redemptions or repurchases, cash-out 
mergers and other transactions charged to the capital account.  Under FRB and OCC safe harbor regulations, a savings 
institution generally may make capital distributions during any calendar year equal to net income of the previous two 
calendar years and current year-to-date net income (to the extent not previously distributed).  A savings institution that is a 
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subsidiary of a savings and loan holding company, such as the Company, that proposes to make a capital distribution must 
submit written notice to the OCC and FRB 30 days prior to such distribution.  The OCC and FRB may object to the 
distribution during that 30-day period based on safety and soundness or other concerns.  Savings institutions that desire to 
make a larger capital distribution, are under special restrictions, or are not, or would not be, sufficiently capitalized following 
a proposed capital distribution must file an application and obtain regulatory non-objection prior to making such a 
distribution. 

The long-term ability of the Company to pay dividends to its stockholders is based primarily upon the ability of the Bank to 
make capital distributions to the Company.  So long as the Bank remains well capitalized after each capital distribution, and 
operates in a safe and sound manner, it is management's belief that the OCC and FRB will continue to allow the Bank to 
distribute its earnings to the Company, although no assurance can be given in this regard.  

Insurance of Accounts and Regulation by the FDIC.  The Bank also is subject to regulation and examination by the FDIC, 
which insures the deposits of the Bank to the maximum extent permitted by law.  The DIF of the FDIC insures deposit 
accounts in the Bank up to applicable limits, with a maximum amount of deposit insurance for banks and savings institutions 
of $250 thousand per separately insured deposit ownership right or category.  

The FDIC assesses deposit insurance premiums on all FDIC-insured institutions quarterly based on annualized rates.  Under 
these rules, assessment rates for an institution with total assets of less than $10 billion are determined by CAMELS composite 
rating (capital adequacy, asset quality, management, earnings, liquidity, and sensitivity to market rates) and certain financial 
ratios, and range from 2.5 to 32.0 basis points, subject to certain adjustments.  Assessment rates for an institution with $10 
billion or more in total assets are assigned an individual rate based on a scorecard that measures the institution's composite 
rating, ability to withstand asset-related and funding-related stress and the magnitude of potential losses to the FDIC in the 
event of failure.  The current assessment rates were set in October 2022, when the FDIC adopted a final rule that increased 
the initial base deposit assessment rate schedule uniformly by two basis points, beginning with the first quarterly assessment 
period of 2023.  The increased assessment rate will remain in effect unless and until the reserve ratio meets or exceeds 2%, 
absent further action by the FDIC's Board of Directors.  For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2025, the Bank paid $4.3 
million in FDIC premiums.  Assessment rates are applied to an institution's assessment base, which is its average 
consolidated total assets minus its average tangible equity during the assessment period.
 
The FDIC has authority to increase insurance assessments in the future, and any significant increases could have a material 
adverse effect on the operating expenses and results of operations of the Company.  Management cannot predict what 
assessment rates will be in the future.  In a banking industry emergency, the FDIC may also impose a special assessment. 

Insurance of deposits may be terminated by the FDIC upon a finding that an institution has engaged in unsafe or unsound 
practices, is in an unsafe or unsound condition to continue operations or has violated any applicable law, regulation, rule, 
order or condition imposed by the FDIC.  We do not know of any practice, condition, or violation that may lead to 
termination of our deposit insurance.

Community Reinvestment and Consumer Protection Laws.  In connection with its lending activities, the Bank is subject to a 
number of federal laws designed to protect borrowers and promote lending to various sectors of the economy and population.  
These include the Equal Credit Opportunity Act, the Truth-in-Lending Act, the Home Mortgage Disclosure Act, the Real 
Estate Settlement Procedures Act, the Secure and Fair Enforcement for Mortgage Licensing Act of 2008 ("SAFE Act"), 
Service Members Civil Relief Act, and the Community Reinvestment Act ("CRA").  With respect to federal consumer 
protection laws, regulations are generally promulgated by the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau ("CFPB"), but the OCC, 
rather than the CFPB, currently examines the Bank for compliance with such laws and regulations because the Bank's 
regulatory assets have yet to exceed $10 billion for four consecutive quarter-ends.

The CRA requires the appropriate federal banking agency, in connection with its examination of an FDIC-insured institution, 
to assess its record in meeting the credit needs of the communities served by the institution, including low and moderate 
income neighborhoods.  The federal banking regulators take into account the institution's record of performance under the 
CRA when considering applications for mergers, acquisitions, and branches.  Under the CRA, institutions are assigned a 
rating of outstanding, satisfactory, needs to improve, or substantial non-compliance.  The Bank received a satisfactory rating 
in its most recently completed CRA evaluation. 
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Bank Secrecy Act /Anti-Money Laundering Laws.  The Bank is subject to the Bank Secrecy Act and other anti-money 
laundering laws, including the USA PATRIOT Act of 2001 and regulations thereunder.  These laws and regulations require 
the Bank to implement policies, procedures, and controls to detect, prevent, and report money laundering and terrorist 
financing, and to verify the identity and source of deposits and wealth of its customers.  Violations of these laws and 
regulations can result in substantial civil and criminal sanctions.  In addition, provisions of the USA PATRIOT Act require 
the federal financial institution regulatory agencies to consider the effectiveness of a financial institution's anti-money 
laundering activities when reviewing mergers and acquisitions. 

Federal Reserve System.  In response to the Coronavirus Disease 2019 ("COVID-19") pandemic, the FRB reduced reserve 
requirement ratios to zero percent effective March 26, 2020, to support lending to households and businesses.  At 
September 30, 2025, the reserve requirement of zero percent was still in place.  

The Bank is authorized to borrow from the Federal Reserve Bank "discount window."  An eligible institution need not 
exhaust other sources of funds before going to the discount window, nor are there restrictions on the purposes for which the 
institution can use primary credit.  At September 30, 2025, the Bank had no outstanding borrowings from the discount 
window.

Federal Home Loan Bank System.  The Bank is a member of one of 11 regional Federal Home Loan Banks, each of which 
serves as a reserve, or central bank, for its members within its assigned region and is funded primarily from proceeds derived 
from the sale of consolidated obligations of the Federal Home Loan Bank System.  The Federal Home Loan Banks make 
loans, known as advances, to members and provide access to a line of credit in accordance with policies and procedures 
established by the Board of Directors of FHLB, which are subject to the oversight of the Federal Housing Finance Agency.  
At September 30, 2025, the Bank had $1.95 billion of FHLB advances, at par.  See "Part II, Item 8. Financial Statements and 
Supplementary Data – Notes to Financial Statements – Note 8. Deposits and Borrowed Funds" for additional information 
regarding FHLB advances.

As a member, the Bank is required to purchase and maintain capital stock in FHLB.  The minimum required FHLB stock 
amount is generally 4.5% of the Bank's FHLB advances and outstanding balance against the FHLB line of credit, and 2% of 
the outstanding principal balance of loans sold into the Mortgage Partnership Finance Program.  At September 30, 2025, the 
Bank had $90.7 million in FHLB stock, which was in compliance with the FHLB's stock requirement.  In past years, the 
Bank has received dividends on its FHLB stock, although no assurance can be given that these dividends will continue.  See 
"Part II, Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data – Notes to Financial Statements – Note 1. Summary of 
Significant Accounting Policies" for additional information regarding FHLB stock.

Federal Savings and Loan Holding Company Regulation.  The HOLA prohibits a savings and loan holding company 
(directly or indirectly, or through one or more subsidiaries) from acquiring another savings association, or holding company 
thereof, without prior written approval from the FRB; acquiring or retaining, with certain exceptions, more than 5% of a non-
subsidiary savings association, a non-subsidiary holding company, or a non-subsidiary company engaged in activities other 
than those permitted by the HOLA; or acquiring or retaining control of a depository institution that is not federally insured.  
In evaluating applications by savings and loan holding companies to acquire savings associations, the FRB must consider the 
financial and managerial resources and future prospects of the company and institution involved, the effect of the acquisition 
on the risk to the insurance funds, the convenience and needs of the community, competitive factors, and other factors. 

The FRB has long set forth in its regulations its "source of strength" policy, which requires bank holding companies to act as 
a source of strength to their subsidiary depository institutions by providing capital, liquidity and other support in times of 
financial stress.  This policy also applies to savings and loan holding companies.

Transactions with Affiliates.  Transactions between the Bank and its affiliates are required to be on terms as favorable to the 
institution as transactions with non-affiliates.  Certain of these transactions are restricted to a percentage of the Bank's capital, 
and, in the case of loans, require eligible collateral in specified amounts.  The Bank may not lend to any affiliate engaged in 
activities not permissible for a bank holding company or purchase or invest in the securities of affiliates.  In addition, 
transactions with affiliates must be consistent with safe and sound banking practices and not involve the purchase of low-
quality assets.  
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Taxation

Federal Taxation.  The Company and the Bank are subject to federal income taxation in the same general manner as other 
corporations.  The Company files a consolidated federal income tax return.  The Company has not received notification from 
the Internal Revenue Service of any potential tax liability for any years still subject to audit.  For federal income tax purposes, 
the Bank currently reports its income and expenses on the accrual method of accounting and uses a fiscal year ending on 
September 30 for filing its federal income tax return.  Changes to the corporate federal income tax rate would result in 
changes to the Company's effective income tax rate and would require the Company to remeasure its deferred tax assets and 
liabilities based on the tax rate in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. 

Prior to the enactment of the Small Business Job Protection Act (the "1996 Act"), the Bank was permitted to deduct, up to a 
specified formula limit, a certain percentage of income as bad debts, for which the Bank was not required to establish a 
deferred tax liability.  The difference between actual bad debts and the formula limit bad debt amount ("excess reserves") was 
recorded in the Bank's retained earnings.  As a result of the 1996 Act, savings institutions, like the Bank, were required to use 
the specific charge-off method in computing bad debts on their tax returns beginning with their 1996 Federal tax returns.  The 
1996 Act required the recapture of excess reserves over the base year, which was September 30, 1988 for the Bank.  The 
excess reserves established prior to September 30, 1988 remain in retained earnings ("pre-1988 bad debt reserves") subject to 
recapture by the Bank on the occurrence of certain distributions in excess of current earnings and profits accumulated in tax 
years beginning after December 31, 1951 ("accumulated earnings and profits").  The Bank had $75.9 million in pre-1988 bad 
debt reserves at September 30, 2025, which equates to an unrecorded deferred tax liability of $15.9 million.  See additional 
discussion regarding the Bank's pre-1988 bad debt recapture in "Part IA. Risk Factors - Other Risks" and "Part II, Item 8. 
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data - Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements - Note 9. Income Taxes".

State Taxation.  The earnings/losses of Capitol Federal Financial, Inc., Capitol Funds, Inc. and Capital City Investments, Inc. 
are combined for purposes of filing a consolidated Kansas corporate tax return.  The Kansas corporate tax rate is 4.0%, plus a 
surcharge of 3.0% on earnings greater than $50 thousand.

The Bank files a Kansas privilege tax return.  For Kansas privilege tax purposes, the minimum tax rate was 4.18% of earnings 
during fiscal year 2025, which is calculated based on federal taxable income, subject to certain adjustments.  The Bank has 
not received notification from the state of any potential tax liability for any years still subject to audit.

Additionally, the Bank files state tax returns in 16 other states and two cities where it has significant loan balances.  In these 
states and cities, the Bank has either established a nexus under an economic nexus theory or has exceeded enumerated nexus 
thresholds based on the amount of interest income derived from loans within the state.

Employees and Human Capital Resources

At September 30, 2025, we had a total of 678 employees, including 74 part-time employees.  The full-time equivalent of our 
total employees at September 30, 2025 was 655, an increase from 636 at September 30, 2024. 

Our employees are not represented by any collective bargaining group.  Management considers its employee relations to be 
good.  We believe our ability to attract and retain employees is a key to our success.  Accordingly, we strive to offer 
competitive salaries and employee benefits to all employees and monitor salaries in our market areas.  Physical well-being is 
supported by the Company's health, dental, vision, life and various other insurances, and a wellness program that encourages 
employees to live a healthy and balanced lifestyle.  Volunteer opportunities are provided and encouraged for all employees.  
Capitol Federal employees recorded over 4,976 hours in volunteer time for local organizations and charities during fiscal year 
2025.

Our Company seeks to recognize and develop the unique contributions each individual brings to our Company, and we are 
fully committed to maintaining a culture that supports our corporate values.  We strive to maintain a workforce reflective of 
the communities we serve.  In addition, our Board of Directors is comprised of members with varying backgrounds, 
education and experiences to help us understand and support our customers and stockholders.  Since 1977, at least one 
woman has served as a director of the Bank and, since its inception in 1999, at least one woman has served on the Board of 
Directors of the Company.  In addition, since 2012, at least one underrepresented minority has served as a director of the 
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Company and the Bank.  The Board of Directors annually reviews the Company's recruitment efforts and employment 
statistics.

The Company recruits employees through sources and organizations across a variety of networks and communities.  The 
Company also provides multiple opportunities for professional development and growth, including continuing education 
when applicable and specialty education within banking.  Leadership development is supported through our Leadership 
Forum services, on a biannual basis, for mid-level leaders within the organization.  Education for this program is currently 
provided by Banktastic.  Annual employee educational requirements include respectful treatment of all other employees and 
customers.  All employees receive annual training on providing fair, high-quality service and understanding the causes of 
legal ramifications of discrimination.

Our employees, together with the Capitol Federal Foundation, contribute to programs that promote educational opportunities 
in all communities as well as housing in low-and-moderate income communities.

Item 1A.  Risk Factors

There are risks inherent in the Bank's and Company's business.  The following is a summary of material risks and 
uncertainties relating to the operations of the Bank and the Company.  Adverse experiences with these could have a material 
impact on the Company's financial condition and results of operations.  Some of these risks and uncertainties are interrelated, 
and the occurrence of one or more of them may exacerbate the effect of others.  These material risks and uncertainties are not 
necessarily presented in order of significance.  In addition to the risks set forth below and the other risks described in this 
Annual Report, there may be risks and uncertainties that are not currently known to us or that we currently deem to be 
immaterial that could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition or operating results.

Risks Related to Macroeconomic Conditions

Changes in interest rates could have an adverse impact on our results of operations and financial condition.
Our results of operations are primarily dependent on net interest income, which is the difference between the interest earned 
on loans, securities, cash at the FRB and dividends received on FHLB stock, and the interest paid on deposits and 
borrowings.  Changes in interest rates could have an adverse impact on our results of operations and financial condition 
because the majority of our interest-earning assets are long-term, fixed-rate loans, while the majority of our interest-bearing 
liabilities are shorter term, and therefore subject to a greater degree of interest rate fluctuations.  This type of risk is known as 
interest rate risk and is affected by prevailing economic and competitive conditions that are beyond the Company's control, 
including general economic conditions, inflationary trends and/or monetary policies of the FRB and fiscal policies of the 
United States federal government.  

The impact of changes in interest rates is generally observed on the income statement.  The magnitude of the impact will be 
determined by the difference between the amount of interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities, both of which 
either reprice or mature within a given period of time, in addition to the yields earned on interest-earning assets and rates paid 
on interest-bearing liabilities.  This difference provides an indication of the extent to which our net interest rate spread will be 
impacted by changes in interest rates.  In addition, changes in interest rates will impact the expected level of repricing of the 
Bank's mortgage-related assets and callable debt securities.  Generally, as interest rates decline, the amount of interest-
earning assets expected to reprice will increase as borrowers have an economic incentive to reduce the cost of their mortgage 
or debt, which would negatively impact the Bank's interest income to the extent deposits are not repriced lower at a faster 
pace.  Conversely, as interest rates rise, the amount of interest-earning assets expected to reprice will decline as the economic 
incentive to refinance the mortgage or debt is diminished.  As this occurs, the amount of interest-earning assets repricing 
could diminish to the point where interest-bearing liabilities reprice to a higher interest rate at a faster pace than interest-
earning assets, thus negatively impacting the Bank's net interest income.  For additional information about the interest-rate 
risk we face, see "Part II, Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk." 

Changes in interest rates can also have an adverse effect on our financial condition, as available-for-sale ("AFS") securities 
are reported at estimated fair value.  Stockholders' equity, specifically, accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 
("AOCI"), is increased or decreased by the amount of change in the estimated fair value of our AFS securities, net of deferred 
income taxes.  Increases in interest rates generally decrease the fair value of AFS securities, which adversely impacts 
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stockholders' equity.  For additional information, see "Part II, Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data – Notes 
to Consolidated Financial Statements – Note 15. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income." 

Changes in interest rates, as they relate to customers, can also have an adverse impact on our financial condition and results 
of operations.  In times of rising interest rates, default risk may increase among borrowers with adjustable-rate loans as the 
rates on their loans adjust upward and their payments increase.  Fluctuations in interest rates also affect customer demand for 
loan and deposit products.  Competition from financial institutions and others could affect our ability to attract and retain 
deposits and could result in the Bank paying more for deposits.

In addition to general changes in interest rates, changes that affect the shape of the yield curve could negatively impact the 
Bank.  The Bank's interest-bearing liabilities are generally priced based on short-term interest rates while the majority of the 
Bank's interest-earning assets are priced based on long-term interest rates.  Income for the Bank is primarily driven by the 
spread between these rates.  As a result, a steeper yield curve, meaning long-term interest rates are higher than short-term 
interest rates, would provide the Bank with a better opportunity to increase net interest income.  When the yield curve is flat, 
meaning long-term interest rates and short-term interest rates are essentially the same, or when the yield curve is inverted, 
meaning long-term interest rates are lower than short-term interest rates, the net yield between interest-earning assets and 
interest-bearing liabilities that reprice is compressed or diminished and would likely negatively impact the Bank's net interest 
income.  See "Part II, Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk" for additional information about 
the Bank's interest rate risk management. 

An economic downturn, including a decline in real estate values, especially affecting our geographic market areas and 
certain regions of the country where we have commercial real estate loans or purchased loans secured by one- to four-
family properties, could have an adverse impact on our business and financial results. 
As we strategically grow our commercial real estate lending portfolio, we have continued to prospect for new relationships 
and maintain existing relationships not only in our local markets but in geographically diverse markets.  As a result, we are 
particularly exposed to downturns in regional housing and commercial real estate markets and, to a lesser extent, housing and 
commercial real estate markets nationwide, along with changes in the levels of unemployment or underemployment.  We 
monitor the current status and trends of local and national employment levels and trends and current conditions in the real 
estate and housing markets, as well as commercial real estate markets, in our local market areas and certain areas where we 
have commercial real estate loans and purchased one- to four-family loans.  Decreases in real estate values could adversely 
affect the value of the property used as collateral for our commercial real estate and one- to four-family loans, which could 
cause us to realize a loss in the event of a foreclosure.  Additionally, if insurance obtained by our borrowers is insufficient to 
cover any losses sustained to the collateral, the decreases in the value of collateral securing our loans as a result of natural 
disasters or other related events could adversely impact our financial condition and results of operations.  If insurance 
coverage is unavailable to our borrowers due to the reluctance of insurance companies to renew policies covering the 
collateral or due to other factors, the resulting increase in cost of home ownership could affect the ability of borrowers to 
repay loans.  Adverse conditions in our local economies and in certain areas where we have commercial real estate loans and 
purchased one-to four-family loans, such as inflation, unemployment, supply chain disruptions, recession, natural disasters or 
pandemics, or other factors beyond our control, could adversely impact the ability of our borrowers to repay their loans.  
Declines in collateral values and adverse economic conditions could result in increased delinquencies, non-performing assets, 
loan losses, and future loan loss provisions.  

Risks Related to Lending Activities

The increase in commercial loans in our loan portfolio exposes us to increased lending and credit risks, which could 
adversely impact our financial condition and results of operations.
As part of the Company's strategic initiatives to develop a full-service commercial banking business, we are growing our 
commercial loan portfolio.  Maintaining strong asset quality in association with the commercial loan growth is a top priority 
for the Bank.  We are applying disciplined underwriting and ongoing credit and performance monitoring and we monitor 
concentration levels by collateral type, geographic location and borrowing relationship.  However, there are still lending and 
credit risks that could adversely impact our financial condition and results of operations as commercial loans are generally 
considered to have different and greater credit risks than one- to four-family residential real estate loans. 

Commercial loans typically have larger loan balances than one- to four-family residential loans and may involve multiple 
loans to groups of related borrowers.  Repayment of commercial loans often depends on the successful operation of a 
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business or of the underlying property which may be affected by factors outside the borrower's control, such as adverse 
conditions in the real estate market, the economy, the implementation of tariffs, environmental factors, natural disasters or 
pandemics, and/or changes in government regulation.  Also, there are risks inherent in commercial real estate construction 
lending as the value of the project is uncertain prior to the completion of construction and subsequent lease-up.  A sudden 
downturn in the economy, labor and/or supply chain issues, or other unforeseen events could result in stalled projects or 
collateral shortfalls, thus exposing us to increased credit risk. Additionally, if we foreclose on these loans, our holding period 
for the collateral may be longer than for a one- to-four family residential property as there are generally fewer potential 
purchasers of this type of collateral.

Commercial and industrial loans are primarily made based on the identified cash flow of the borrower and secondarily on the 
collateral underlying the loans. A borrower's cash flow may prove to be unpredictable, and collateral securing these loans 
may fluctuate in value.  Most often, this collateral consists of accounts receivable, inventory and equipment.  Significant 
adverse changes in a borrower's industries and businesses could cause rapid declines in values of, and collectability 
associated with, those business assets, which could result in inadequate collateral coverage for our commercial and industrial 
loans and expose us to future losses.  In the case of loans secured by accounts receivable, the availability of funds for the 
repayment of these loans may be substantially dependent on the ability of the borrower to collect amounts due from its 
clients.  Inventory and equipment may depreciate over time, may be difficult to appraise, may be illiquid and may fluctuate in 
value based on the success of the business.  If the cash flow from business operations is reduced, the borrower's ability to 
repay the loan may be impaired.  

The deterioration of one commercial loan or a commercial borrowing relationship could cause a significant increase in the 
dollar amount of delinquencies, non-performing assets, net charge-offs, and future loan loss provisions.  An increase in 
valuation allowances and charge-offs related to our commercial loan portfolio could have an adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition, results of operations and future prospects.

Risks Related to Cybersecurity, Third Parties, and Technology.

The occurrence of any information system failure or interruption, breach of security or cyberattack, at the Company, 
at its third-party service providers or counterparties may have an adverse effect on our business, reputation, financial 
condition and results of operations.
Information systems are essential to the conduct of our business, as we use such systems to manage our customer 
relationships, our general ledger, our deposits and our loans.  In the normal course of our business, we collect, process, retain 
and transmit (by email and other electronic means) sensitive and confidential information regarding our customers, 
employees and others.  We also outsource certain aspects of our data processing, data processing operations, remote network 
monitoring, engineering and managed security services to third-party service providers.  In addition to confidential 
information regarding our customers, employees and others, we, and in some cases a third party, compile, process, transmit 
and store proprietary, non-public information concerning our business, operations, plans and strategies. 

Information security risks for financial institutions continue to increase in part because of evolving technologies, the use of 
the internet and telecommunications technologies (including mobile devices) to conduct financial and other business 
transactions and the increased sophistication and activities of organized crime, perpetrators of fraud, hackers, terrorists and 
others.  Cyber criminals use a variety of tactics, such as ransomware, denial of service, and theft of sensitive business and 
customer information to extort payment or other concessions from victims.  In some cases, these attacks have caused 
significant impacts on other businesses' access to data and ability to provide services.  We are not able to anticipate or 
implement effective preventive measures against all incidents of these types, especially because the techniques used change 
frequently and because attacks can originate from a wide variety of sources, including attacks on third-party vendors and their 
applications and products used by the Bank. 

We use a variety of physical, procedural and technological safeguards to prevent or limit the impact of system failures, 
interruptions and security breaches and to protect confidential information from mishandling, misuse or loss, including 
detection and response mechanisms designed to contain and mitigate security incidents.  However, there can be no assurance 
that such events will not occur or that they will be promptly detected and adequately addressed if they do, and early detection 
of security breaches may be thwarted by sophisticated attacks and malware designed to avoid detection.  If there is a failure in 
or breach of our information systems, or those of a third-party service provider, the confidential and other information 
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processed and stored in, and transmitted through, such information systems could be jeopardized, or could otherwise cause 
interruptions or malfunctions in our operations or the operations of our customers, employees, or others. 

Our business and operations depend on the secure processing, storage and transmission of confidential and other information 
in our information systems and those of our third-party service providers.  Although we devote significant resources and 
management focus to ensuring the integrity of our information systems through information security measures, risk 
management practices, relationships with threat intelligence providers and business continuity planning, our facilities, 
computer systems, software and networks, and those of our third-party service providers, may be vulnerable to external or 
internal security breaches, acts of vandalism, unauthorized access, misuse, computer viruses or other malicious code and 
cyberattacks that could have a security impact.  In addition, breaches of security may occur through intentional or 
unintentional acts by those having authorized or unauthorized access to our confidential or other information or the 
confidential or other information of our customers, employees or others.  While we regularly conduct security and risk 
assessments on our systems and those of our third-party service providers, there can be no assurance that their information 
security protocols are sufficient to withstand a cyberattack or other security breach.  Across our industry, the cost of 
minimizing these risks and investigating incidents has continued to increase with the frequency and sophistication of these 
threats.  

The occurrence of any of the foregoing could subject us to litigation or regulatory scrutiny, cause us significant reputational 
damage or erode confidence in the security of our information systems, products and services, cause us to lose customers or 
have greater difficulty in attracting new customers, have an adverse effect on the value of our common stock or subject us to 
financial losses that may not be covered by insurance, any of which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition and results of operations.  As information security risks and cyber threats continue to evolve, we may be required to 
expend significant additional resources to further enhance or modify our information security measures and/or to investigate 
and remediate any information security vulnerabilities or other exposures arising from operational and security risks.  

New or revised laws and regulations may significantly impact our current and planned privacy, data protection and 
information security-related practices, the collection, use, sharing, retention and safeguarding of consumer and employee 
information, and current or planned business activities.  Compliance with current or future privacy, data protection and 
information security laws could result in higher compliance and technology costs and could restrict our ability to provide 
certain products and services, which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of 
operations.

Our customers are also targets of cyberattacks and identity theft.  There continues to be instances involving financial services 
and consumer-based companies reporting the unauthorized disclosure of client or customer information or the destruction or 
theft of corporate data.  Large scale identity theft could result in customers' accounts being compromised and fraudulent 
activities being performed in their names.  We have implemented certain safeguards against these types of activities, but they 
may not fully protect us from financial losses.  The occurrence of a security breach involving our customers' information, 
regardless of its origin, could damage our reputation and result in a loss of customers and business, subject us to additional 
regulatory scrutiny, and expose us to litigation and possible financial liability.  Any of these events could have an adverse 
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.  See "Part I, Item 1C. Cybersecurity" for additional 
discussion related to cybersecurity. 

Third-party vendors subject the Bank and the Company to potential business, reputation and financial risks. 
Third-party vendors are sources of operational and information security risk to the Bank and the Company, including risks 
associated with operation errors, information system interruptions or breaches, and unauthorized disclosures of sensitive or 
confidential customer information.  The Bank and the Company require third-party vendors to maintain certain levels of 
information security; however, vendors may remain vulnerable to breaches, unauthorized access, misuse, computer viruses, 
and/or other malicious attacks that could ultimately compromise sensitive information.  We have developed procedures and 
processes for selecting and monitoring third-party vendors, but ultimately are dependent on these third-party vendors to 
secure their information.  If these vendors encounter any of these types of issues, or if we have difficulty communicating with 
them, we could be exposed to disruption of operations, loss of service or connectivity to customers, reputational damage, and 
litigation risk that could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The failure of an external vendor to perform in accordance with the contracted arrangements under service level agreements, 
because of changes in the vendor's organizational structure, financial condition, support for existing products and services or 
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strategic focus or for any other reason, could be disruptive to our operations, which could have an adverse effect on our 
business and, in turn, our financial condition and results of operations.  Additionally, replacing certain third-party vendors 
could also entail significant delay and expense.

We are heavily reliant on technology, and a failure to effectively implement technology initiatives or anticipate future 
technology needs or demands could adversely affect our business or performance. 
Like most financial institutions, the Bank significantly depends on technology to deliver its products and services and to 
otherwise conduct business.  The Bank continues to invest in new technological solutions, system upgrades, and other 
technology initiatives, which allows us to offer new and competitive products and services to our customers.  Many of these 
solutions and initiatives have a significant duration, are tied to critical information systems, and require substantial resources.  
Although the Bank takes steps to mitigate the risks and uncertainties associated with these solutions and initiatives, there is 
no guarantee that they will be implemented on time, within budget, or without negative operational or customer impact.  The 
Company and its third-party vendors may develop or incorporate artificial intelligence technology into certain business 
processes, services or products.  The use of artificial intelligence presents several risks, including an uncertain and evolving 
legal and regulatory environment, along with the reliability of information generated and the complexity and rapid pace of 
change in artificial intelligence models.  The Bank also may not succeed in anticipating its future technology needs, the 
technology demands of its customers, or the competitive landscape for technology.  If the Bank were to falter in any of these 
areas, it could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Risks Related to Competition

Strong competition may limit our growth and profitability.  
The Company operates in a highly competitive environment for quality commercial banking relationships, one-to four-family 
lending relationships and attracting and growing deposits.  Our competition includes larger national, regional and local 
financial institutions, savings institutions, credit unions, investment banking and mortgage brokerage firms, farm credit 
lenders, commercial finance companies, insurance companies, online competitors that are not confined to any specific market 
area, and non-bank lenders and smaller local institutions that offer aggressive pricing and specialized loan structures and 
banking services.  We compete by offering a comprehensive suite of products and services, competitive loan pricing, and we 
have a strong reputation in the market areas we serve.

Our competitors may offer products and services that we do not or cannot provide if the offerings fall outside our accepted 
level of risk.  Additionally, they may offer deposit and loan rates that we cannot offer as it may adversely impact our net 
interest income.  The Bank cannot grow profitably without growing our deposit portfolio as those funds are generally used to 
fund loan growth.  Our profitability depends upon our ability to compete with other entities for the same customer base.  

Risks Related to Regulation

We operate in a highly regulated environment, which limits the manner and scope of our business activities, and we 
may be adversely affected by new and/or changes in laws and regulations or interpretation of existing laws and 
regulations.
We are subject to extensive regulation, supervision, and examination by the OCC, the FRB, and the FDIC.  These regulatory 
authorities exercise broad discretion in connection with their supervisory and enforcement activities, including the ability to 
impose restrictions on a bank's operations, reclassify assets, determine the adequacy of a bank's ACL, and determine the level 
of deposit insurance premiums assessed.  The CFPB has broad powers to supervise and enforce consumer protection laws, 
including a wide range of consumer protection laws that apply to all banks and savings institutions, like the authority to 
prohibit unfair, deceptive or abusive acts and practices.  The CFPB also has examination and enforcement authority over all 
banks with regulatory assets exceeding $10 billion at four consecutive quarter-ends.  There are increased direct costs, 
additional regulatory burdens with indirect costs, and lost revenue, mainly related to interchange fees, associated with the 
Bank being over $10 billion in regulatory assets at certain points in time and for four consecutive quarter-ends.  As long as 
the Bank does not exceed $10 billion in regulatory assets for four consecutive quarter ends, it will continue to be examined 
for compliance with consumer protection laws and the regulations of the CFPB by the Bank's primary bank regulator, the 
OCC.  The Dodd-Frank Act also weakens the federal preemption rules that have been applicable for national banks and 
federal savings associations and gives state attorneys general the ability to enforce federal consumer protection laws.
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Any change in such regulation and oversight, whether in the form of regulatory policy, regulations, legislation, interpretation 
or application, could have an adverse impact on our operations.  Bank regulatory agencies, such as the OCC, the FRB and the 
FDIC, govern the activities in which we may engage, primarily for the protection of depositors' funds, the DIF and the safety 
and soundness of the banking system as a whole, and not for the protection or benefit of investors.  The CFPB enforces 
consumer protection laws and regulations for the benefit of consumers and not the protection or benefit of investors.  In 
addition, changes in laws and regulations, or the application of these laws and regulations, may continue to impact our costs 
of regulatory compliance and of doing business, and otherwise affect our operations.  New Presidential Executive Orders, 
laws and regulations may significantly affect the markets in which we do business, the markets for and value of our loans and 
securities, the products we offer, the fees we can charge and our ongoing operations, costs, and profitability.

The Company is also directly subject to the requirements of entities that set and interpret accounting standards such as the 
Financial Accounting Standards Board, and indirectly subject to the actions and interpretations of the Public Company 
Accounting Oversight Board, which establishes auditing and related professional practice standards for registered public 
accounting firms and inspects registered firms to assess their compliance with certain laws, rules, and professional standards 
in public company audits.  These regulations, along with existing tax, accounting, securities, and monetary laws, regulations, 
rules, standards, policies and interpretations, control the methods by which financial institutions and their holding companies 
conduct business, engage in strategic and tax planning, implement strategic initiatives, and govern financial reporting. 

The Company's failure to comply with laws, regulations or policies, including Presidential Executive Orders, could result in 
civil or criminal sanctions and money penalties by state and federal agencies, and/or reputational damage, which could have 
an adverse effect on the Company's business, financial condition and results of operations.  See "Part I, Item 1. Business - 
Regulation and Supervision" for more information about the regulations to which the Company is subject.

Other Risks

The Company's ability to pay dividends and repurchase shares is subject to the ability of the Bank to make capital 
distributions to the Company.  
The long-term ability of the Company to pay dividends to its stockholders and repurchase shares is based primarily upon the 
ability of the Bank to generate sufficient earnings to make capital distributions to the Company and on the availability of cash 
at the holding company level in the event the Bank's earnings are not sufficient to make capital distributions to the Company.  
Under certain circumstances, capital distributions from the Bank to the Company may be subject to regulatory approvals.  See 
"Item 1. Business – Regulation and Supervision" for additional information.

The Company values constructive input from stockholders, and our Board of Directors and management team are 
committed to acting in the best interests of all stockholders.  All publicly traded companies face the risk that stockholders 
may disagree with the composition of the Board of Directors, the Company's strategic direction, or the way the Company is 
managed and may seek to effect change through various strategies that range from private engagement to public filings, 
proxy contests, efforts to force transactions not supported by the Board of Directors, and litigation.  Responding to these 
actions may be costly and time-consuming, disrupt the Company's operations and/or divert the attention of the Board of 
Directors and executive management.  Such activities could interfere with the Company's ability to execute its strategic plan 
and to attract and retain qualified executive leadership, as well as create perceived uncertainty as to the Company's future 
direction, which could also affect the market price and volatility of the Company's common stock.

The Bank's bad debt recapture amount may impact the amount and timing of capital distributions to the Company.
The Bank reported a net loss on its fiscal year 2024 federal tax return due to the sale of securities in October 2023 associated 
with the securities strategy which resulted in negative current and accumulated earnings and profits for fiscal year 2024.  As a 
result of the negative current and accumulated earnings and profits, capital distributions from the Bank to the holding 
company during fiscal year 2024 were deemed to be drawn out of the Bank's pre-1988 bad debt reserves and resulted in the 
recognition of income tax expense based on the amount of the capital distribution multiplied by the then-current Bank income 
tax rate.  This additional tax expense reduced the amount of Bank earnings available to be distributed to the holding company 
during fiscal year 2024.  During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2025, the Bank reached a point where there was sufficient 
taxable income to replenish the Bank's tax accumulated earnings and profits to a positive level, allowing the Bank to make 
distributions to the holding company and not have that distribution subject to the pre-1988 bad debt recapture tax.  Due to the 
Bank's expected continuing positive tax accumulated and earnings profit balance, it is anticipated that the Bank will be in a 
position to distribute earnings to the holding company during fiscal year 2026.  Earnings distributions from the Bank to the 
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holding company will be limited to the extent necessary to prevent the Bank from re-entering a negative accumulated 
earnings and profit position which would require the payment of the pre-1988 bad debt recapture tax on earnings moved from 
the Bank to the holding company.  See additional discussion regarding the Bank's pre-1988 bad debt recapture in "Part I, Item 
1. Business - Taxation" and "Part II, Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data - Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements - Note 9. Income Taxes".

Our risk management and compliance programs and functions may not be effective in mitigating risk and loss.
We maintain an enterprise risk management program that is designed to identify, quantify, monitor, report, and control the 
risks that we face.  These risks include: interest-rate, credit, liquidity, operations, compliance and litigation.  We also 
maintain a compliance program to identify, measure, assess, and report on our adherence to applicable laws, policies and 
procedures.  While we assess and improve these programs on an ongoing basis, there can be no assurance that our risk 
management or compliance programs, along with other related controls, will effectively mitigate all risk and limit losses in 
our business.  If conditions or circumstances arise that expose flaws or gaps in our risk management or compliance programs, 
or if our controls do not function as designed, the performance and value of our business could be adversely affected. 

The Company may not be able to attract and retain skilled employees.
The Company's success depends, in large part, on its ability to attract and retain key people.  Competition for the best people 
can be intense, and the Company spends considerable time and resources attracting and hiring qualified people for its 
operations.  The unexpected loss of the services of one or more of the Company's key personnel could have an adverse 
impact on the Company's business because of their skills, knowledge of the Company's market, and years of industry 
experience, as well as the difficulty of promptly finding qualified replacement personnel.

The Bank and the Company may be adversely affected by an increasing prevalence of fraud and other financial 
crimes.
Reported instances of fraud and related financial crimes are rising nationwide.  Like all financial institutions, the Bank and 
the Company are vulnerable to increasing fraud losses as fraud schemes perpetrated against the Bank, the Company, and our 
customers continue to evolve and become more sophisticated.  While the Bank and the Company have procedures and 
systems in place to detect, prevent, and mitigate fraud losses, fraud losses may still occur and could be material to the Bank 
and the Company's results of operations.

Item 1B.  Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 1C.  Cybersecurity
Risk Management and Strategy 

Information security and privacy are an important part of our culture and are foundational to our goal of delivering safe, 
secure and quality products and services.  This philosophy is emphasized throughout the Bank by its Board of Directors, 
senior leaders, officers, managers and other employees to promote a Bank-wide culture of cybersecurity risk management.

As a financial institution we collect, store, and transmit sensitive, confidential, and proprietary data and other information, 
including intellectual property, business information, funds-transfer instructions, payment card data, and personally 
identifiable information of our customers and employees.  This information can be of significant value to criminal actors, 
and, as described in "Item 1A. Risk Factors - Risks Related to Cybersecurity, Third Parties, and Technology", cybersecurity 
incidents and other security breaches involving this information at the Bank, at our service providers or counterparties, may 
negatively impact our business or performance.  Unauthorized access to our customers' confidential or proprietary 
information as a result of a cybersecurity incident or otherwise could expose us to reputational harm and litigation and 
adversely affect our ability to attract and retain customers.

We have implemented a strategy to address threats to Bank assets and confidential information. Our information security 
program, under the responsibility of the Chief Information Officer and the Chief Compliance & Risk Management Officer, 
balances security risks with business goals and provides appropriate protections for the confidentiality, integrity and 
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availability of Bank and customer information.  We annually benchmark our information security program to assess its 
strength as measured against recommended industry security best practices.

Due to our heavy reliance on the strength and capability of our technology systems, which we use both to interface with our 
customers and to manage our internal financial reporting and other systems, we utilize a layered cybersecurity model 
designed to protect our systems and sensitive data.  This model is composed of a variety of different components including 
administrative controls, technical controls and other safeguards.  These components are centrally managed and monitored, 
creating a multi-layered and interlocking cybersecurity defense system.  

We maintain programs and policies to support the management of cybersecurity risk with a focus on prevention, detection 
and recovery processes.  These programs and policies leverage frameworks and controls from the National Institute of 
Standards and Technology ("NIST") Cybersecurity Framework, Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council 
("FFIEC") cybersecurity guidance, Center for Internet Security ("CIS") Benchmarks, Cyber Risk Institute Profile, as well as 
various other regulatory requirements and industry-specific standards.  The Bank also participates in the federally recognized 
Financial Services Information Sharing and Analysis Center and requires its employees and contractors to complete various 
education and training programs related to information security.

The Bank's Information Technology ("IT") and Compliance and Risk Management ("C&RM") teams have the primary 
responsibility for establishing appropriate policies and procedures that are responsive to cybersecurity threats and other 
information security risks.  Members of these teams have a wide variety of relevant certifications, such as Certified 
Information Systems Security Professional, Certified Information Security Manager, Certification in Risk Management 
Assurance and Certified in Risk and Information Systems Control.  Our C&RM team provides risk management oversight to 
the IT team.  The Bank's Internal Audit function, using internal and outside expertise, independently oversees, reviews and 
validates the IT and C&RM activities and reports to the Board of Directors' Audit Committee on the effectiveness of 
governance, risk management and internal controls.

We have established an Enterprise Risk Management program.  As part of this program, the C&RM team reviews our IT risk 
management practices, which are designed to identify, assess, manage, monitor, and report cybersecurity risks.  The IT team 
is responsible for implementing risk management practices set forth in the IT risk management program. 

As one of the critical elements of the Bank's overall risk management approach, our cybersecurity risk management program 
and strategy is focused on the following key areas:

• Incident Response and Recovery Planning: The Bank has implemented a comprehensive, cross-functional approach
to identifying, preventing and mitigating cybersecurity threats and incidents, while also implementing controls and
procedures that provide for the prompt escalation of certain cybersecurity incidents so that decisions regarding the
public disclosure and reporting of such incidents can be made by management in a timely manner.

• Technical Safeguards: The Bank deploys technical safeguards that are designed to protect the sensitive information
systems from cybersecurity threats, including firewalls, intrusion prevention and detection systems, anti-malware
functionality and multifactor authentication and other access controls, which are evaluated and improved through
vulnerability assessments and cybersecurity threat intelligence.

• Outside Experts: The Bank routinely works with outside experts, consultants, auditors and other third parties in
connection with managing its cybersecurity risks and for advice regarding best practices and technical expertise.

• Education and Awareness: The Bank provides regular, mandatory training for personnel regarding cybersecurity
threats on matters such as phishing and email security best practices to equip our personnel with effective tools to
address cybersecurity threats, and to communicate the Bank's evolving information security policies, standards,
processes and practices.

While processes are in place to minimize the chance of a successful cyberattack, the Bank has established incident response 
procedures to address a cyberattack that may occur despite these safeguards.  The response procedures are designed to 
identify, analyze, contain and remediate any such cyber incident that occurs.

The Bank engages in the periodic assessment and testing of our policies, standards, processes and practices that are designed 
to address cybersecurity threats and incidents.  These efforts include a wide range of activities, including audits, assessments, 
tabletop exercises, threat modeling, vulnerability testing and other exercises focused on evaluating the effectiveness of our 
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cybersecurity measures and planning.  We regularly engage third parties to perform assessments on our cybersecurity 
measures, including information security maturity assessments, audits, penetration tests and independent reviews of our 
information security control environment and operating effectiveness.  The results of such assessments, audits and reviews 
are analyzed by the cybersecurity team and the Information Technology Oversight Committee ("ITOC") and provided to the 
Bank's Board of Directors.  We adjust our cybersecurity policies, standards, processes and practices as necessary based on the 
information provided by these assessments, audits and reviews.

We have implemented a third-party risk program to oversee and manage information security and privacy risks associated 
with third-party relationships.  The program includes the assessment of third parties that provide key services or will access, 
store, process, or transmit sensitive information during initial onboarding and throughout the lifecycle of the relationship, and 
management of applicable contractual requirements relating to confidentiality, integrity, availability and privacy obligations, 
including timely notification of incidents.  Third-party services related to advice, assessments, auditing, testing and support 
related to cybersecurity and information technology processes and services, where appropriate, are also subject to the third-
party risk program.

Like other financial institutions, the Bank is targeted with malicious cyber activity on an ongoing basis directed at its 
websites, computer systems, software, networks and users.  This malicious activity includes attempts at unauthorized access 
and implantation of computer viruses or malware.  The Bank is also targeted with large volumes of phishing and other forms 
of social engineering attempted for the purpose of perpetuating fraud.  Notwithstanding the breadth of our information 
security and privacy program, it may not be successful in preventing or mitigating a cybersecurity incident that could have a 
material adverse impact.  Unauthorized access to our computer systems or stored data could result in theft, including cyber 
theft, or improper disclosure of confidential information, and the deletion or modification of records could cause interruptions 
in our operations.  The impact of a material information technology event could have a materially adverse effect on our 
competitive position, reputation, results of operations, financial condition or cash flows.

Board Governance

The members of the Boards of Directors of the Company and the Bank are identical.  The Bank's Board of Directors oversees 
cybersecurity risk management and strategy for both entities through management updates regarding the policies, practices 
and security results related to the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act, IT risk management, IT security metrics, penetration testing, 
tabletop exercises, IT risk assessments, disaster recovery testing, and security awareness testing and training.  Management is 
responsible for designing and implementing policies, processes and procedures, and deploying physical and virtual 
technology and safeguards to measure, monitor, and control cybersecurity risk.  The Bank's Chief Information Officer 
provides an annual comprehensive update to the Board of Directors on the status of IT, and the plans for the future as well as 
quarterly updates which include any cyber incidents.  The Bank's Chief Information Officer or delegate provides annual 
training on cyber security topics and reports to the Board of Directors on the Bank's cyber incidents, if any.  Cyber incidents 
with (i) the potential of materiality, pursuant to SEC cybersecurity disclosure rules; (ii) anticipated publicity; or (iii) 
anticipated written notices to a significant number of customers; have been promptly reported to the Board with ongoing 
updates during regular Board meetings.  The Bank's Chief Information Officer presents updates on new security measures, 
programs and services to ITOC.  The minutes and materials from the ITOC meetings are available to the Board of Directors 
on the Directors' Board Portal.  The Bank's Information Security Officer provides the Board of Directors with an annual 
report on all aspects of Information Security, including steps taken to minimize the risk of cyber incidents through training 
and testing employees on phishing, social engineering, etc.  This annual report also includes an independent third-party 
assessment of the Bank's information security systems together with information on steps taken to address any identified 
weaknesses.  The Board of Directors also participates in an annual evaluation of enterprise risk and is presented with 
management's assessment of the top risks, which generally include several cybersecurity components.  

Material Cybersecurity Incidents

As of September 30, 2025, we were not aware of any cybersecurity incidents that have materially affected or are reasonably 
likely to materially affect the Bank, including its business strategies, results of operations or financial condition.  For more 
information on our cybersecurity-related risks, see "Item 1A. Risk Factors – Risks Related to Cybersecurity, Third Parties, 
and Technology". 
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Item 2.  Properties 

At September 30, 2025, we had 44 traditional branch offices and two in-store branch offices.  As of September 30, 2025, the 
Bank owned the office building and related land in which its home office and executive offices are located, and 35 of its other 
branch offices.  The remaining 10 branches are either leased or partially owned.  

For additional information regarding our lease obligations, see "Part II, Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data 
– Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements – Note 5. Premises, Equipment and Leases." 

Management believes that the number of branch offices we currently have meets the present and immediately foreseeable 
needs of our customers.  Management will continue to evaluate the performance of these locations through a number of 
metrics, including but not limited to, customer traffic, and determine on at least an annual basis whether or not we are 
branched in a way that most effectively serves our existing and prospective customer bases.

Item 3.  Legal Proceedings

In the normal course of business, the Company and the Bank are involved as parties to various routine legal actions.  In our 
opinion, after consultation with legal counsel, we believe it is unlikely that any such pending legal actions will have a 
material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or liquidity.

On November 2, 2022, the Bank was served a putative class action lawsuit, captioned Jennifer Harding, et al. vs. Capitol 
Federal Savings Bank (Case No. 2022-CV-00598), filed in the Third Judicial District Court, Shawnee County, Kansas against 
the Bank, alleging the Bank improperly charged overdraft fees on (1) debit card transactions that were authorized for 
payment on sufficient funds but later settled against a negative account balance (commonly known as "authorize positive 
purportedly settle negative" or "APPSN" transactions) and (2) merchant re-presentments of previously rejected payment 
requests.  The complaint asserts a breach of contract claim (including breach of an implied covenant of good faith and fair 
dealing) for each practice and seeks restitution for alleged improper fees, alleged actual damages, costs and disbursements, 
and injunctive relief.  On April 5, 2023, the district court granted the Bank's motion to dismiss the complaint, with prejudice.  
The plaintiffs appealed this decision to the Kansas Court of Appeals, which issued an opinion on October 4, 2024 reversing 
the district court's ruling.  On October 17, 2025, the Kansas Supreme Court affirmed the ruling of the Court of Appeals, 
remanding the case to the District Court for further proceedings.

The Company assesses the liabilities and loss contingencies in connection with pending or threatened legal and regulatory 
proceedings on at least a quarterly basis and establishes accruals when it is believed to be probable that a loss may be 
incurred and that the amount of such loss can be reasonably estimated.  

Item 4.  Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis is intended to assist in understanding the financial condition, results of operations, 
liquidity, and capital resources of the Company.  The Bank comprises almost all of the consolidated assets and liabilities of 
the Company and the Company is dependent primarily upon the performance of the Bank for the results of its operations.  
Because of this relationship, references to management actions, strategies and results of actions apply to both the Bank and 
the Company except where the context indicates otherwise.

Executive Summary 

The following summary should be read in conjunction with the Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations section in its entirety.

The Company recognized net income of $68.0 million, or $0.52 per share, for fiscal year 2025 compared to net income of 
$38.0 million, or $0.29 per share, for the prior fiscal year.  The increase in net income was due mainly to higher net interest 
and non-interest income, partially offset by higher non-interest expense.  Non-interest income was lower in the prior fiscal 
year due mainly to the net losses on the sale of securities associated with the securities strategy.  See additional discussion 
regarding the securities strategy in the "Securities Strategy to Improve Earnings" section below.  Excluding the effects of the 
net loss associated with the securities strategy, earnings per share ("EPS") would have been $0.37 for the prior fiscal year.  
The increase in EPS, excluding the effects of the net loss associated with the securities strategy, was due primarily to higher 
net interest income in the current fiscal year.  

The net interest margin increased 19 basis points, from 1.77% for the prior fiscal year to 1.96% for the current fiscal year.  
The increase was due mainly to higher yields on the loan portfolio due to the continued shift of loan balances from the one- to 
four-family loan portfolio to the higher yielding commercial loan portfolio, which outpaced the increase in the cost of 
deposits.

The Bank continues to transition from a primarily retail oriented financial institution to one with an expanded focus on 
commercial customers by strategically growing all aspects of commercial banking through investments in technology, people, 
products, and services.  The Bank is active in commercial lending markets even when the lending opportunity is outside of 
the Bank's local footprint.  For additional discussion, see the "Strategic Banking Initiatives" section below. 

The Company's efficiency ratio was 58.33% for the current fiscal year compared to 66.91% for the prior fiscal year.  
Excluding the net losses from the securities strategy, the efficiency ratio would have been 61.97% for the prior fiscal year.  
The improvement in the efficiency ratio, excluding the net losses from the securities strategy, was due primarily to higher net 
interest income compared to the prior fiscal year, partially offset by higher non-interest expense.  The Company's operating 
expense ratio for the current fiscal year was 1.22% compared to 1.17% for the prior fiscal year.  The operating expense ratio 
was higher in the current fiscal year due mainly to higher non-interest expense.

Total assets were $9.78 billion at September 30, 2025, an increase of $251.1 million from September 30, 2024.  The increase 
was due primarily to growth in the loan portfolio, which was largely funded with deposit growth, mainly through the Bank's 
high yield savings account offering.  

Total loans receivable increased $204.6 million from September 30, 2024.  The increase was due mainly to the commercial 
loan portfolio, which increased $607.0 million, or approximately 40%, during the current fiscal year, due primarily to 
commercial real estate loan growth.  The increase was partially offset by a decrease of $400.0 million in one- to four-family 
loans.  It is expected that repayments from our one- to four-family loan portfolio will continue to be directed toward 
supporting commercial loan growth, aligning with our ongoing commitment to expand commercial banking services.  
Maintaining strong credit quality remains a top priority as we grow our commercial loan portfolio.  The weighted average 
debt service coverage ratio ("DSCR") for commercial loan originations and purchases during the current fiscal year was 
1.76x and the weighted average loan-to-value ("LTV") for commercial real estate and construction loans originated and 
purchased was 65%.  The weighted average DSCR and LTV for our commercial real estate and construction loans was 1.65x 
and 61%, respectively, at September 30, 2025. 

The Bank's asset quality remains strong, reflected in the continued low level of loan delinquency and charge-off ratios.  At 
September 30, 2025, loans 30 to 89 days delinquent were 0.15% of total loans receivable, net, and loans 90 or more days 

22



delinquent or in foreclosure were 0.09% of total loans receivable, net.  See "Management's Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operation - Asset Quality - Delinquent and nonaccrual loans and other real estate owned 
("OREO")" below for additional discussion.  During the current fiscal year, net charge-offs ("NCOs") were $198 thousand.

Total liabilities at September 30, 2025 were $8.73 billion, an increase of $235.7 million from September 30, 2024.  The 
increase was due mainly to deposit growth, largely through the Bank's high yield savings account offering, which increased  
$364.5 million.  Management has continued to focus on retaining and growing deposits through the Bank's high yield savings 
account product, which, as of September 30, 2025, had an annual percentage yield of 4.00% for accounts that meet the $10 
thousand minimum balance requirement.  The increase in deposits was partially offset by a $228.8 million decrease in 
borrowings due to principal repayments made on the Bank's amortizing FHLB advances, along with borrowings that matured 
but were not replaced.  Management estimates that the Bank had $2.92 billion in liquidity available at September 30, 2025, 
based on the Bank's blanket collateral agreement with FHLB and unencumbered securities.

Stockholders' equity totaled $1.05 billion at September 30, 2025, an increase of $15.4 million from September 30, 2024.  As 
of September 30, 2025, the Bank's capital ratios exceeded the well-capitalized requirements. The Bank's community bank 
leverage ratio ("CBLR") as of September 30, 2025 was 9.6%.  During the current fiscal year, the Company paid regular 
quarterly cash dividends totaling $44.2 million, or $0.34 per share and repurchased 618,260 shares for $3.9 million.  

At September 30, 2025, the gap between the Bank's interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities projected to reprice 
within one year was $(983.6) million, or (10.1)% of total assets, compared to $(1.51) billion, or (15.8)% of total assets, at 
September 30, 2024.  As of September 30, 2025, the Bank exceeded internal policy thresholds for sensitivity to changes in 
interest rates.  See additional discussion in "Part II, Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk."

Securities Strategy to Improve Earnings
In October 2023, the Company initiated a securities strategy (the "securities strategy") by selling $1.30 billion of securities, 
representing 94% of its securities portfolio.  Since the Company did not have the intent to hold the $1.30 billion of securities 
to maturity at September 30, 2023, the Company recognized an impairment loss on those securities of $192.6 million which 
was reflected in the Company's financial statements for the quarter and fiscal year ended September 30, 2023.  The securities 
strategy allowed the Company to improve its earnings stream going forward, beginning in the quarter ended December 31, 
2023, by redeploying most of the proceeds into then-current market rate securities.  The Company utilized the remaining 
proceeds to deleverage the balance sheet.  During the quarter ended December 31, 2023, the Company completed the sale of 
securities and recognized $13.3 million ($10.0 million net of tax), or $0.08 per share, of additional loss.  See additional 
information regarding the impact of the securities strategy on our financial measurements in "Management's Discussion and 
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation - Average Balance Sheets" below.  The $1.30 billion of securities 
sold had a weighted average yield of 1.22% and an average duration of 3.6 years.  With the proceeds from the sale of the 
securities, the Company purchased $632.0 million of securities yielding 5.75%, paid down $500.0 million of borrowings with 
a weighted average cost of 4.70%, and held the remaining cash at the FRB of Kansas City earning interest at the reserve 
balance rate until such time as it could be used to fund commercial lending activities or for other Bank operations.  

Strategic Banking Initiatives

The Company is committed to its progression to a full-service commercial bank and is investing in technology, people, 
products and services to make that happen.  Our investments in technology to date have allowed us to launch new services 
and products, while the addition of seasoned and well-connected commercial bankers, and trust and wealth advisors gives us 
access to an exciting new customer group.  Expanding our product suite of treasury management services enables us to 
service this new customer group, and expanded marketing and business development has increased the depth of customer 
relationships.  Having completed the second year since embarking on our digital transformation, we have seen our efforts 
bear fruit and expect progress to accelerate going forward.

Strategic Actions.  The long-term success of this transformation is predicated on management's continued focus on 
deepening relationships with consumer and commercial customers.  Management and the Board have committed resources 
through the growth of talented, skilled and experienced bankers, investments in technology, expanded marketing and 
outreach, as well as the development and increased internal monitoring of performance metrics that ensure we are on the path 
to achieve our performance objectives.  Through our experienced relationship managers, we deliver customized solutions 
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using advanced digital platforms, and sophisticated cash management tools.  Additionally, we are leveraging our centralized 
organizational structure to respond quickly to customers.  We are actively pursuing opportunities to expand our non-interest-
bearing deposit base and diversify fee-based revenue streams through strategic growth in treasury management services, trust 
and wealth management services, insurance, and small business banking.  

Commercial Lending.  During the current fiscal year, we closed on $901.9 million in commercial loans compared to $350.6 
million in the prior fiscal year and commercial loans continue to grow as a percentage of our overall loan portfolio.  As of 
September 30, 2025, commercial loans comprised 26% of our loan portfolio compared to 19% at the prior fiscal year end.  To 
maintain strong credit quality, in addition to disciplined underwriting and ongoing credit administration, we monitor 
concentration levels by collateral type, geographic location and borrowing relationship.  During the current fiscal year, the 
Bank implemented commercial loan pricing and profitability software that provides insights based on the full customer 
banking relationship.  We also implemented software that provides market insight regarding competitor pricing to assist loan 
officers when preparing a loan offering.  This has increased our ability to profitably compete with other financial institutions 
in our markets as well as those outside our markets.

Treasury Management.  The Bank services commercial customers through a competitive suite of treasury management 
products and an experienced team of treasury management officers.  This team is focused on the deposit and cash 
management needs of commercial customers and growing this line of business through the acquisition of new customers 
located both in our immediate market areas, and those who we lend to outside of our local market areas.  Additionally, this 
fiscal year, the Bank deployed a team of business development officers tasked with growing the deposit base within the small 
business customer segment, focused on serving small businesses in our market areas with a dedicated line of products 
specifically designed for these customers.  The Bank expects to introduce digital onboarding for small business customers 
using industry-leading risk management and screening tools, which will replace many manual verification tasks.  
Additionally, as we add more sophisticated commercial clients, we are evaluating new technology in order to capture a larger 
share of their business with additional products and services.  Within calendar year 2026, we expect to implement new 
technology for lockbox services, integrated accounts receivables, purchase cards and corporate cards.  While the majority of 
our commercial deposit growth in fiscal year 2025 resulted from commercial loan covenants and provisions, our treasury 
management officers and business development officers often land depository relationships independent of a lending 
relationship.  This will be a focus area for our sales teams as the Bank continues to diversify funding sources and seeks to 
increase fee revenue tied to depository accounts. 

Digital Banking.  We are advancing towards a seamless digital banking experience for all customers, enhancing the Bank's 
ability to attract and retain deposits.  This strategy includes a new deposit account onboarding platform that was implemented 
in November 2024 and digital banking enhancements for debit cardholders which will allow customers to begin using their 
card immediately online and in digital wallets without waiting for the delivery of a physical card.  These enhancements are 
projected to be implemented in the second quarter of fiscal year 2026.  Since changing core and digital providers in August 
2023, the Bank has taken advantage of our open-source platforms through the evaluation of add-on technologies that will 
integrate into our digital banking experience for consumers, small businesses, and commercial customers.

Private Banking, Trust and Wealth Management.  We are preparing to implement a comprehensive suite of private 
banking products and services which is a new line of business for the Bank.  During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2025, the 
Bank added several seasoned and well-connected wealth management professionals to focus on these products and services.  
Their expertise in private banking and related areas will support our new private banking efforts and is expected to transform 
our trust and wealth management business.  Private banking relationships are defined as customers with $5 million or more in 
personal relationships with the Bank by way of loans, deposits, or assets under management.  Private banking customers 
began onboarding during the first quarter of fiscal year 2026.  We believe that our private banking line of business will be a 
gateway to driving off-balance sheet revenue and bridge the gap between high-net-worth depository customers, small 
business owners or key commercial customers, and corporate trustee opportunities for the Bank.

Stockholder Value.  Delivering long-term sustainable stockholder value will continue to be our North Star while also 
maintaining a strong capital position.  As part of our historically robust and disciplined approach to capital management, our 
approach continues to generate returns to stockholders through dividend payments and share repurchases.  Total dividends 
declared and paid during fiscal year 2025 were $44.3 million.  The Company repurchased 618,260 shares for $3.9 million 
during fiscal year 2025, all of which occurred in the last quarter of the fiscal year.  Since completing our second-step 
conversion in December 2010, we have returned $2.01 billion to stockholders through $1.57 billion in cash dividends and 
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$439.9 million of share repurchases.  For fiscal year 2026, it is the intention of the Board of Directors to continue the regular 
quarterly cash dividend of $0.085 per share and to seek further opportunities for value-enhancing share repurchases. 

Critical Accounting Estimates

Our most critical accounting estimate is the methodology used to determine the ACL and reserve for off-balance sheet credit 
exposures. This estimate is important to the presentation of our financial condition and results of operations, involves a high 
degree of complexity, and requires management to make difficult and subjective judgments that may require assumptions 
about highly uncertain matters.  The use of different judgments, assumptions, and estimates could affect reported results 
materially.  This critical accounting estimate and its application is reviewed at least annually by our audit committee.  The 
following is a description of our critical accounting estimate and an explanation of the methods and assumptions underlying 
its application.  

Allowance for Credit Losses and Reserve for Off-Balance Sheet Credit Exposures.  The ACL is a valuation amount that 
is deducted from the amortized cost basis of loans and represents management's estimate of total expected credit losses for 
the Company's loans over their remaining contractual lives, as of the balance sheet date.  The reserve for off-balance sheet 
credit exposures represents expected credit losses on unfunded portions of existing loans and commitments to originate or 
purchase loans that are not unconditionally cancellable by the Company, as of the balance sheet date.  

Management estimates the ACL utilizing a discounted cash flow model by projecting future loss rates which are dependent 
upon forecasted economic indices and applying qualitative factors when deemed appropriate by management. The key 
assumptions used in projecting future loss rates include the economic forecast, the forecast and reversion to mean time 
periods, and prepayment and curtailment assumptions. The assumptions are used to calculate and aggregate estimated cash 
flows for the time period that remains in each loan's contractual life. The cash flows are discounted back to the balance sheet 
date using each loan's effective yield, to arrive at a present value of expected cash flows, which is compared to the amortized 
cost basis of the loan pool to determine the amount of ACL required by the calculation. Management then considers 
qualitative factors when assessing the overall level of ACL. See "Allowance for Credit Losses on Loans Receivable" and 
"Reserve for Off-Balance Sheet Credit Exposures" within "Part II, Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data – 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements – Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies" for additional 
information.

One of the most significant judgments used in projecting loss rates when estimating the ACL is the macroeconomic forecast 
provided by a third party.  The economic indices sourced from the macroeconomic forecast and used in projecting loss rates 
are the national unemployment rate, changes in commercial real estate prices, changes in home values, changes in the United 
States consumer price index, and changes in the United States gross domestic product.  The economic index used in the 
calculation to which the calculation is most sensitive is the national unemployment rate.  Each reporting period, several 
macroeconomic forecast scenarios are considered by management.  Management selects the macroeconomic forecast(s) that 
is/are most reflective of expectations at that point in time.  Changes in the macroeconomic forecast could significantly impact 
the calculated estimated credit losses between reporting periods. 

Other key assumptions used in the discounted cash flow model include the forecast and reversion to mean time periods and 
prepayment and curtailment assumptions.  The calculation is less sensitive to these assumptions than the macroeconomic 
forecasts.  The macroeconomic forecast is applied for a reasonable and supportable time period before reverting to long-term 
historical averages for each economic index.  The forecast and reversion to mean time period used for each economic index at 
September 30, 2025 was four quarters.  Prepayment and curtailment assumptions are generally based on the Company's 
historical experience and are adjusted by management as deemed necessary.  The prepayment and curtailment assumptions 
vary for each respective loan pool in the model.  

The reserve for off-balance sheet credit exposures is calculated by applying the ACL to loan ratio for each respective loan 
pool, as calculated by the discounted cash flow model discussed above, to an adjusted off-balance sheet credit exposures 
balance.  The off-balance sheet credit exposures balance is adjusted to account for the likelihood that funding of the related 
balance will occur.  Management generally determines the likelihood of funding based on historical experience, but it may be 
adjusted by management as deemed necessary based upon their knowledge of the composition of the underlying off-balance 
sheet credit exposure balances.
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The ACL and reserve for off-balance sheet credit exposures may be materially affected by qualitative factors, for items not 
reflected in the economic forecast and/or discounted cash flow model, but which are deemed appropriate by management's 
current assessment of the risks related to the loan portfolio and/or external factors.  Such qualitative factors may include 
changes in the Company's loan portfolio composition and credit concentrations, changes in the balances and/or trends in asset 
quality and/or loan credit performance, changes in lending underwriting standards, the effect of other external factors such as 
significant unique events or conditions, and actual and/or expected changes in economic conditions, real estate values, and/or 
other economic developments.  Management applied qualitative factors at September 30, 2025 to account for large dollar 
commercial real estate loan concentrations and potential risk of loss in market value for newer one- to four-family loans.  The 
qualitative factors applied at September 30, 2025, and the importance and levels of the qualitative factors applied, may 
change in future periods depending on the level of changes to items such as the uncertainty of economic conditions and 
management's assessment of the level of credit risk within the loan portfolio as a result of such changes, compared to the 
amount of ACL calculated by the model.  The evaluation of qualitative factors is inherently imprecise and requires significant 
management judgment.  See "Part II, Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data – Notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statements – Note 4. Loans Receivable and Allowance for Credit Losses - Allowance for Credit Losses" for 
additional information regarding the qualitative factors applied at September 30, 2025. 

The ACL and the reserve for off-balance sheet credit exposures were $24.0 million and $5.5 million, respectively, at 
September 30, 2025, compared to $23.0 million and $6.0 million, respectively, at September 30, 2024.  During the current 
fiscal year, the Company updated the regression analyses used in the discounted cash flow model which resulted in some 
changes to the amounts and levels of ACL calculated by the model for commercial loans.  The regression analyses were 
updated in order to assist management in estimating expected credit losses in the commercial loan portfolio due to growth in 
this portfolio, including growth in market areas outside of the Bank's local market footprint.  See "Management's Discussion 
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation - Allowance For Credit Losses" for additional information 
regarding the regression analysis update that occurred during fiscal year 2025.  

While management utilizes its best judgment and information available, the adequacy of the ACL and reserve for off-balance 
sheet credit exposures is determined by certain factors outside of the Company's control, such as the performance of our loan 
portfolio, changes in the economic environment including economic uncertainty, changes in interest rates, and the view of the 
regulatory authorities toward classification of assets and the level of ACL and reserve for off-balance sheet credit exposures.  
Additionally, the level of ACL and reserve for off-balance sheet credit exposures may fluctuate based on the balance and mix 
of the loan portfolio and off-balance sheet credit exposures.  If actual results differ significantly from our assumptions, our 
ACL and reserve for off-balance sheet credit exposures may not be sufficient to cover inherent losses in our loan portfolio, 
resulting in additions to our ACL and an increase in the provision for credit losses.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

For a discussion of Recent Accounting Pronouncements, see "Part II, Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data – 
Notes to Financial Statements – Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies."
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The Bank originates owner-occupied construction-to-permanent loans secured by one- to four-family residential real estate.  
The majority of these loans are secured by properties located in Kansas and Missouri.  The Bank's owner-occupied 
construction-to-permanent loan program combines the construction loan and the permanent loan into one loan, allowing the 
borrower to secure the same interest rate structure throughout the construction period and the permanent loan term. 

The Bank's commercial loan portfolio is composed of commercial real estate loans, commercial construction loans and 
commercial and industrial loans.  Our commercial real estate loans include a variety of property types, including hotels, 
senior housing facilities, multi-family dwellings, retail buildings, and office buildings located in Kansas, Missouri, Texas, 
and 19 other states as of September 30, 2025.  The Bank's commercial and industrial loan portfolio consists largely of loans 
secured by accounts receivable, inventory and equipment. These loans are generally made to borrowers located in Kansas and 
Missouri.  The Bank regularly monitors the level of risk in the entire commercial loan portfolio, including concentrations in 
such factors as geographic location, collateral type, tenant profile, borrowing relationship, and lending relationship in the case 
of participation loans, among other factors.

Commercial borrowers are generally required to provide financial information annually, including borrower financial 
statements, subject property rental rates and income, maintenance costs, updated real estate property tax and insurance 
payments, and personal financial information for the guarantor(s).  This allows the Bank to monitor compliance with loan 
covenants and review the borrower's performance, including cash flows from operations, debt service coverage, and 
comparison of performance to projections and year-over-year performance trending.  Additionally, the Bank monitors and 
performs site visits, or in the case of participation loans, obtains updates from the lead bank as needed to determine the 
condition of the collateral securing the loan.  Depending on the financial strength of the project and/or the complexity of the 
borrower's financials, the Bank may also perform a global analysis of cash flows to account for all other properties owned by 
the borrower or guarantor.  If signs of weakness are identified, the Bank may begin performing more frequent financial and/
or collateral reviews or initiate contact with the borrower, or the lead bank will contact the borrower if the loan is a 
participation loan, to ensure cash flows from operations are maintained at a satisfactory level to meet the debt requirements. 

The Bank mitigates the risk of commercial real estate construction lending during the construction period by monitoring 
inspection reports from an independent third-party, project budget, percentage of completion, on-site inspections and 
percentage of advanced funds.  Commercial and industrial loans are monitored through a review of borrower performance as 
indicated by borrower financial statements, borrowing base reports, accounts receivable aging reports, and inventory aging 
reports.  These reports are required to be provided by the borrowers monthly, quarterly, or annually depending on the nature 
of the borrowing relationship.  

The Bank offers a variety of secured consumer loans, including home equity loans and lines of credit, home improvement 
loans, vehicle loans, and loans secured by savings deposits.  The Bank also originates a very limited amount of unsecured 
loans.  Generally, consumer loans are originated in the Bank's market areas.  The majority of our consumer loan portfolio is 
comprised of home equity lines of credit, which have adjustable interest rates. As of September 30, 2025, the Bank had the 
first mortgage, or was in the first lien position on the majority of the unpaid principal balance of the Bank's home equity lines 
of credit.  
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Liquidity refers to our ability to generate sufficient cash to fund ongoing operations, to repay maturing certificates of deposit 
and other deposit withdrawals, to repay maturing borrowings, and to fund loan commitments.  Liquidity management is both 
a daily and long-term function of our business management.  The Company's most available liquid assets are represented by 
cash and cash equivalents and AFS securities.  The Bank's primary sources of funds are deposits, FHLB borrowings, 
repayments and maturities of outstanding loans and MBS and other short-term investments, and funds provided by 
operations.  The Bank's long-term borrowings primarily have been used to manage long-term liquidity needs and the Bank's 
interest rate risk with the intention to improve the earnings of the Bank while maintaining capital ratios that meet or exceed 
the regulatory standards for well-capitalized financial institutions.  In addition, the Bank's focus on managing risk has 
provided additional liquidity capacity by maintaining a balance of MBS and investment securities available as collateral for 
borrowings.

We generally intend to manage cash reserves sufficient to meet short-term liquidity needs, which are routinely forecasted for 
10, 30, and 365 days.  Additionally, on a monthly basis, we perform a liquidity stress test in accordance with the Interagency 
Policy Statement on Funding and Liquidity Risk Management.  The liquidity stress test incorporates both short-term and 
long-term liquidity scenarios in order to identify and to quantify liquidity risk.  Management also monitors key liquidity 
statistics related to items such as wholesale funding gaps, borrowings capacity, and available unpledged collateral, as well as 
various liquidity ratios.

In the event short-term liquidity needs exceed available cash, the Bank has access to a line of credit at the FHLB, in addition 
to the FRB of Kansas City's discount window.  Per FHLB's lending guidelines, total FHLB borrowings cannot exceed 40% of 
Bank Call Report total assets without the pre-approval of FHLB senior management.  The Bank's FHLB borrowing limit was 
45% of Bank Call Report total assets as of September 30, 2025, as approved by FHLB senior management.  At September 30, 
2025, the ratio of the par value of the Bank's FHLB borrowings to the Bank's Call Report total assets was 20%.  The Bank's 
borrowing limit approved by FHLB senior management became 44% starting November 1, 2025.  The borrowing limit as of 
November 1, 2025 was calculated based on a FHLB collateral analysis that is part of FHLB's overall borrowing capacity 
framework.  FHLB borrowings are secured by certain qualifying loans pursuant to a blanket collateral agreement with FHLB.  
The amount that can be borrowed from the FRB of Kansas City's discount window is based upon the fair value of securities 
pledged as collateral.  At September 30, 2025, the amount of securities pledged for the discount window was $91.1 million.  
At September 30, 2025, there were no borrowings from the FRB of Kansas City's discount window.  Management tests the 
Bank's access to the FRB of Kansas City's discount window at least annually with a nominal overnight borrowing.  

If management observes unusual trends in the amount and frequency of line of credit utilization and/or short-term borrowings 
that are not in conjunction with a planned strategy, the Bank will likely utilize term wholesale borrowing sources such as 
FHLB advances to provide term funding.  The maturities of our borrowings are generally staggered in order to mitigate the 
risk of a highly negative cash flow position at maturity.  The Bank has used fully-amortizing FHLB advances that require 
periodic payments of principal over the term of the advance.  This type of advance allows the Bank the opportunity to start 
repricing its liability cash flows sooner in a down-rate environment and generally provides for favorable pricing when 
compared to similar long term bullet advances with comparable average lives as a result of the current term structure of 
interest rates.  The Bank's internal policy limits total borrowings to 55% of total assets.  At September 30, 2025, the Bank had 
total borrowings, at par, of $1.95 billion, or approximately 20% of the Bank's Call Report total assets.  The borrowings 
balance was composed primarily of FHLB advances, of which, $509.7 million is scheduled to be repaid (amortizing 
advances) or mature in the next 12 months.  Management estimated that the Bank had $2.92 billion in liquidity available at 
September 30, 2025, based on the Bank's blanket collateral agreement with FHLB and unencumbered securities. 

The Bank is a member of the American Finance Exchange ("AFX") through which it may borrow funds on an overnight or 
short-term basis with other member institutions.  The availability of funds changes daily.  At September 30, 2025, the Bank 
did not have any such borrowings outstanding through the AFX.

At September 30, 2025, the Bank had no repurchase agreements.  The Bank may enter into repurchase agreements as 
management deems appropriate, not to exceed 15% of total assets, and subject to the total borrowings internal policy limit of 
55% as discussed above.  

57



The Bank has the ability to utilize the repayment and maturity of outstanding loans, MBS, and other investments for liquidity 
needs rather than reinvesting such funds into the related portfolios.  At September 30, 2025, the Bank had $713.6 million of 
securities that were eligible but unused as collateral for borrowing or other liquidity needs.  The Bank also has access to other 
sources of funds for liquidity purposes, such as brokered and public unit certificates of deposit.  As of September 30, 2025, 
the Bank's policy allowed for combined brokered and public unit certificates of deposit up to 15% of total deposits.  At 
September 30, 2025, the Bank did not have any brokered certificates of deposit, and public unit certificates of deposit were 
approximately 2% of total deposits.  The Bank had pledged securities with an estimated fair value of $150.9 million as 
collateral for public unit certificates of deposit at September 30, 2025.  The securities pledged as collateral for public unit 
certificates of deposit are held under joint custody with FHLB and generally will be released upon deposit maturity.

At September 30, 2025, $2.17 billion of the Bank's certificate of deposit portfolio was scheduled to mature within the next 12 
months, including $83.6 million of public unit certificates of deposit and $53.5 million of commercial certificates of deposit.  
Based on our deposit retention experience and our current pricing strategy, we anticipate the majority of the maturing retail 
certificates of deposit will renew or transfer to other deposit products of the Bank at prevailing rates, although no assurance 
can be given in this regard.  Due to the nature of public unit certificates of deposit and commercial certificates of deposit, 
retention rates are not as predictable as retail certificates of deposit. 

The Company is a party to financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk in the normal course of business to meet the 
financing needs of customers.  These financial instruments consist primarily of commitments to originate, purchase, or 
participate in loans or fund lines of credit.  Additionally, the Company has investments in several low-income housing 
partnerships and, under the terms of the agreements, the Company has a commitment to fund a specified amount that will be 
due in installments over the life of the agreements.  See "Part II, Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data – 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements – Note 6. Low Income Housing Partnerships and Note 12. Commitments and 
Contingencies" for additional information regarding these commitments.

While scheduled payments from the amortization of loans and MBS and payments on short-term investments are relatively 
predictable sources of funds, deposit flows, prepayments on loans and MBS, and calls of investment securities are greatly 
influenced by general interest rates, economic conditions, and competition, and are less predictable sources of funds.  To the 
extent possible, the Bank manages the cash flows of its loan and deposit portfolios by the rates it offers customers.  We 
anticipate we will continue to have sufficient funds, through the repayments and maturities of loans and securities, deposits 
and borrowings, to meet our current commitments.

Item 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Asset and Liability Management and Market Risk 

The rates of interest the Bank earns on its assets and pays on its liabilities are generally established contractually for a period 
of time.  Fluctuations in interest rates have a significant impact not only upon our net income, but also upon the cash flows 
and market values of our assets and liabilities.  Our results of operations, like those of other financial institutions, are 
impacted by changes in interest rates and the interest rate sensitivity of our interest-earning assets and interest-bearing 
liabilities.  Risk associated with changes in interest rates on the earnings of the Bank and the market value of its financial 
assets and liabilities is known as interest rate risk.  Interest rate risk is our most significant market risk, and our ability to 
adapt to changes in interest rates is known as interest rate risk management.

The general objective of our interest rate risk management program is to determine and manage an appropriate level of 
interest rate risk while maximizing net interest income in a manner consistent with our policy to manage, to the extent 
practicable, the exposure of net interest income to changes in market interest rates.  The Board of Directors and Asset and 
Liability Management Committee ("ALCO") regularly review the Bank's interest rate risk exposure by forecasting the impact 
of hypothetical, alternative interest rate environments on net interest income and the market value of portfolio equity 
("MVPE") at various dates.  The MVPE is defined as the net of the present value of cash flows from existing assets, 
liabilities, and off-balance sheet instruments.  The present values are determined based upon market conditions as of the date 
of the analysis, as well as in alternative interest rate environments providing potential changes in the MVPE under those 
environments.  Net interest income is projected in the same alternative interest rate environments with both a static balance 
sheet and with management strategies considered.  The MVPE and net interest income analyses are also conducted to 
estimate our sensitivity to rates for future time horizons based upon market conditions as of the date of the analysis.  The 
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MVPE ratio continues to be an important measurement for management as we consider the changes in market rates, liquidity 
needs, and portfolio balances.  MVPE represents a long-term view of the interest sensitivity of the Bank's balance sheet while 
our net interest income projections inform management of the short-term impacts of pricing decisions.  In addition to the 
interest rate environments presented below, management also reviews the impact of non-parallel rate shock scenarios on a 
quarterly basis.  These scenarios consist of flattening and steepening the yield curve by changing short-term and long-term 
interest rates independent of each other, and simulating cash flows and determining valuations as a result of these 
hypothetical changes in interest rates to identify rate environments that pose the greatest risk to the Bank.  This analysis helps 
management quantify the Bank's exposure to changes in the shape of the yield curve.

General assumptions used by management to evaluate the sensitivity of our financial performance to changes in interest rates 
presented in the tables below are utilized in, and set forth under, the gap table and related notes.  Although management finds 
these assumptions reasonable, the interest rate sensitivity of our assets and liabilities and the estimated effects of changes in 
interest rates on our net interest income and MVPE indicated in the below tables could vary substantially if different 
assumptions were used or actual experience differs from the assumptions.  To illustrate this point, the projected cumulative 
excess (deficiency) of interest-earning assets over interest-bearing liabilities within the next 12 months as a percentage of 
total assets ("one-year gap") is also provided for up/down 200 basis point scenarios, as of September 30, 2025.

Qualitative Disclosure about Market Risk

Gap Table.  The following gap table summarizes the anticipated maturities or repricing periods of the Bank's interest-earning 
assets and interest-bearing liabilities based on the information and assumptions set forth in the notes below.  Cash flow 
projections for mortgage-related assets are calculated based in part on prepayment assumptions at current and projected 
interest rates.  Prepayment projections are subjective in nature, involve uncertainties and assumptions and, therefore, cannot 
be determined with a high degree of accuracy.  Although certain assets and liabilities may have similar maturities or periods 
to repricing, they may react differently to changes in market interest rates.  Assumptions may not reflect how actual yields 
and costs respond to market interest rate changes.  The interest rates on certain types of assets and liabilities may fluctuate in 
advance of changes in market interest rates, while interest rates on other types of assets and liabilities may lag behind changes 
in market interest rates.  Certain assets, such as adjustable-rate loans, have features that restrict changes in interest rates on a 
short-term basis and over the life of the asset.  In the event of a change in interest rates, prepayment rates would likely deviate 
significantly from those assumed in calculating the gap table below.  A positive gap generally means more cash flows from 
assets are expected to reprice than cash flows from liabilities and suggests that in a rising rate environment, earnings should 
increase.  A negative gap generally means more cash flows from liabilities are expected to reprice than cash flows from assets 
and suggests, in a rising rate environment, earnings should decrease.  For additional information regarding the impact of 
changes in interest rates, see the following Change in Net Interest Income and Change in MVPE discussions and tables. 
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projected asset cash flows coming due in one year, as of September 30, 2025, compared to September 30, 2024, due primarily 
to an increase in the balance of adjustable-rate loans as the Bank continues to shift its loan portfolio from fixed-rate one- to 
four-family loans to commercial loans, which tend to have adjustable-rate features.  The increase in projected asset cash 
flows, which was primarily driven by an increased balance of commercial loans, was partially offset by a decrease in the 
amount of fixed-rate mortgage-related asset cash flows as a result of a general decrease in balance as well as to a decrease in 
projected prepayment speeds, from September 30, 2024, as a result of an increase in intermediate and long-term interest and 
mortgage rates.  Changes in projected liability cash flows, between the two periods, were largely offsetting.  Increases 
resulting from increases in non-maturity deposits were fully offset by projected decreases in the Bank's borrowings portfolio 
and, to a lesser extent, the certificate of deposit portfolio.  The decrease in borrowings was primarily related to the Bank 
prepaying and replacing $200.0 million of fixed-rate FHLB advances during the prior quarter that went from a weighted 
average remaining term of 0.6 years to 2.5 years, as well as to a continued decrease in the overall balance of wholesale funds.

The amount of interest-bearing liabilities expected to reprice in a given period typically is not significantly impacted by 
changes in interest rates because the Bank's borrowings and certificate of deposit portfolios have contractual maturities and 
generally cannot be terminated early without a prepayment penalty.  If interest rates were to increase 200 basis points, as of 
September 30, 2025, the Bank's one-year gap would have been projected to be $(1.19) billion, or (12.2)% of total assets.  If 
interest rates were to decrease 200 basis points, as of September 30, 2025, the Bank's one-year gap would have been 
projected to be $(570.8) million, or (5.8)% of total assets.  The changes in the gap amounts compared to when there is no 
change in rates was due to changes in the anticipated net cash flows primarily as a result of projected prepayments on 
mortgage-related assets in each rate environment.  In higher rate environments, prepayments on mortgage-related assets are 
projected to be lower and, in lower rate environments, prepayments are projected to be higher.  This compares to a projected 
one-year gap of $(1.71) billion, or (17.9)% of total assets, if interest rates were to have increased 200 basis points as of 
September 30, 2024, and a projected one-year gap of $(1.19) billion, or (12.5)% of total assets, if interest rates were to have 
decreased 200 basis points as of the same date.

Change in Net Interest Income.  The Bank's net interest income projections reflect simulated responses to interest rates of 
assets and liabilities that are expected to mature or reprice over the next year.  Repricing occurs as a result of cash flows that 
are received or paid on assets or due on liabilities which would be replaced at then current market interest rates or on 
adjustable-rate products that reset during the next year.  The Bank's borrowings and certificate of deposit portfolios have 
stated maturities, and the cash flows related to fixed-rate liabilities do not generally fluctuate as a result of changes in interest 
rates.  Cash flows from mortgage-related assets and callable agency debentures can vary significantly as a result of changes in 
interest rates.  As interest rates decrease, borrowers have an economic incentive to lower their cost of debt by refinancing or 
endorsing their mortgage to a lower interest rate.  Similarly, agency debt issuers are more likely to exercise embedded call 
options and issue new securities at a lower interest rate.

For each date presented in the following table, the estimated change in the Bank's net interest income is based on the 
indicated instantaneous, parallel and permanent change in interest rates.  The change in each interest rate environment 
represents the difference between estimated net interest income in the zero basis point interest rate environment ("base case," 
assumes the forward market and product interest rates implied by the yield curve are realized) and the estimated net interest 
income in each alternative interest rate environment (assumes market and product interest rates have a parallel shift in rates 
across all maturities by the indicated change in rates).  Projected cash flows for each scenario are based upon varying 
prepayment assumptions to model anticipated customer behavior changes as market rates change.  Estimations of net interest 
income used in preparing the table below were based upon the assumptions that the total composition of interest-earning 
assets and interest-bearing liabilities do not change materially and that any repricing of assets or liabilities occurs at 
anticipated product and market rates for the alternative rate environments as of the dates presented.  The estimation of net 
interest income does not include any projected gains or losses related to the sale of assets, or income derived from non-
interest income sources, but does include the use of different prepayment assumptions in the alternative interest rate 
environments.  It is important to consider that estimated changes in net interest income are for a cumulative four-quarter 
period.  These do not reflect the earnings expectations of management. 
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Item 8.  Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors 
Capitol Federal Financial, Inc.:

Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited Capitol Federal Financial, Inc. and subsidiary's (the Company) internal control over financial reporting as of 
September 30, 2025, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the 
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all 
material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2025, based on criteria established in 
Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) 
(PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of September 30, 2025 and 2024, the related consolidated 
statements of income, comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the two-year 
period ended September 30, 2025, and the related notes (collectively, the consolidated financial statements), and our report 
dated November 26, 2025 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its 
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management's 
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal 
control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are 
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable 
rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in 
all material respects. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal 
control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and 
operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other 
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our 
opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures 
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and 
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to 
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and 
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the 
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or 
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate 
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ KPMG LLP
Kansas City, Missouri 
November 26, 2025
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors
Capitol Federal Financial, Inc.:

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Capitol Federal Financial, Inc. and subsidiary (the 
Company) as of September 30, 2025 and 2024, the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, 
stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the two-year period ended September 30, 2025, and the related 
notes (collectively, the consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, 
in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of September 30, 2025 and 2024, and the results of its 
operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the two-year period ended September 30, 2025, in conformity with U.S. 
generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) 
(PCAOB), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2025, based on criteria established in 
Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission, and our report dated November 26, 2025 expressed an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Basis for Opinion
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express 
an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the 
PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws 
and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material 
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material 
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond 
to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We 
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter
The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial 
statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or 
disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, 
or complex judgments. The communication of a critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, 
providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Allowance for credit losses on loans evaluated on a collective basis
As discussed in Notes 1 and 4 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company’s total allowance for credit losses on 
loans (ACL) was $24.0 million as of September 30, 2025, a substantial portion of which related to the allowance for credit 
losses for loans evaluated on a collective basis (the collective ACL). The collective ACL includes the measure of expected 
lifetime credit losses on a pool basis, with loans aggregated into pools based on similar risk characteristics. The Company 
utilized a discounted cash flow (DCF) methodology to calculate the collective ACL. Average historical loss rates are 
calculated for each pool using the Company's historical charge-offs, or peer data when the Company's own historical loss 
rates are not reflective of future loss expectations, and outstanding loan balances during a historical time period. These 
historical loss rates are compared to historical data related to economic indices during the same time periods over which the 
historical loss rates were calculated, and a correlation is estimated using regression analysis. The Company's model pairs the 
results of the regression analysis with an economic forecast of these same economic indices in order to model probabilities of 
default (PDs). The PDs are then used to generate expected cash flows using segment-specific risk factors and other 
assumptions to model loss given defaults (LGDs). The forecast is applied for a reasonable and supportable time period of four 
quarters before reverting back to historical loss experience, which is accomplished by reversion to long-term historical 
averages at the economic index level using a straight-line method over four quarters. Contractual cash flows are adjusted for 

66



expected prepayment speeds and curtailment rates. Using all of these inputs and assumptions, the DCF methodology 
generates aggregated estimated cash flows for the time period that remains in each loan's contractual life. These cash flows 
are discounted back to the reporting date using each loan's effective yield, to arrive at a present value of future cash flows. 
Each loan pool's allowance estimate is equal to the aggregate shortage, if any, of the present value of future cash flows 
compared to the amortized cost basis of the loan pool. Qualitative factors are considered for items not included in historical 
loss rates, macroeconomic forecasts, or other model inputs based on management's current assessment of risks related to loan 
portfolio attributes and external factors.

We identified the assessment of the collective ACL as a critical audit matter. A high degree of audit effort, including 
specialized skills and knowledge in the industry, and subjective and complex auditor judgment was involved in the 
assessment of the collective ACL. Specifically, the assessment encompassed the evaluation of the collective ACL 
methodology, including the methods and models used to estimate (1) the PD and LGD and their significant assumptions, 
including the economic forecast and economic indices, the reasonable and supportable forecast and reversion periods, and 
peer data used for historical loss rates; (2) expected prepayment speeds and curtailment rates; and (3) the large dollar 
commercial real estate loan concentration qualitative factor. The assessment also included an evaluation of the conceptual 
soundness and performance of the underlying models and assumptions. In addition, auditor judgment was required to 
evaluate the sufficiency of audit evidence obtained.

The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We evaluated the design and 
tested the operating effectiveness of certain internal controls related to the measurement of the collective ACL, including 
controls related to the:

• design of the collective ACL methodology
• continued use and appropriateness of the PD and LGD models
• model validation and performance monitoring of the PD and LGD models
• identification and determination of the significant assumptions used in the PD and LGD models
• development of the qualitative factors, including the significant assumptions used in the measurement of the

qualitative factors
• analysis of the collective ACL results, trends, and ratios.

We evaluated the Company’s process to develop the collective ACL estimate by testing certain sources of data, factors, and 
assumptions that the Company used, and considered the relevance and reliability of such data, factors, and assumptions. In 
addition, we involved credit risk professionals with specialized skills and knowledge, who assisted in:

• evaluating the Company’s collective ACL methodology for compliance with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles

• evaluating judgments made by the Company relative to the performance monitoring of the PD and LGD models by
comparing them to relevant Company specific metrics and trends and the applicable industry practices and
regulatory guidance

• assessing the conceptual soundness and performance testing of the PD and LGD models by inspecting the model
validation documentation to determine whether the model is suitable for its intended use

• evaluating the methodology used to select the economic forecast and economic indices, the reasonable and
supportable forecast and reversion periods, peer data used for average historical loss rates, and prepayment speeds
and curtailment rates by comparing them to the Company’s business environment and relevant industry practices

• evaluating the methodology used to develop the large dollar commercial real estate loan concentrations qualitative
factor and the effect of that factor on the collective ACL by comparing it to relevant credit risk factors and
consistency with credit trends.

We also assessed the sufficiency of the audit evidence obtained relative to the collective ACL by evaluating the:
• cumulative results of the audit procedures
• qualitative aspects of the Company’s accounting practices
• potential bias in the accounting estimates

/s/ KPMG LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2024.
Kansas City, Missouri
November 26, 2025
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM  

To the stockholders and the Board of Directors of Capitol Federal Financial, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Capitol Federal Financial, Inc. and subsidiary (the 
"Company") as of September 30, 2023, the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, stockholders' 
equity, and cash flows, for the period ended September 30, 2023, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the 
"financial statements"). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
the Company as of September 30, 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the period ended September 
30, 2023, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion 
on the Company's financial statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public 
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) ("PCAOB") and are required to be independent with respect to the 
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and 
Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due 
to error or fraud. Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included 
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audit also 
included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Kansas City, Missouri
November 29, 2023

We began serving as the Company's auditor in 1974. In 2024 we became the predecessor auditor. 
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CAPITOL FEDERAL FINANCIAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2025, 2024, and 2023

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Description of Business - Capitol Federal Financial, Inc. (the "Company") provides a full range of retail banking services 
through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Capitol Federal Savings Bank (the "Bank"), a federal savings bank, which has 44 
traditional and two in-store banking offices serving primarily the metropolitan areas of Topeka, Wichita, Lawrence, 
Manhattan, Emporia and Salina, Kansas and portions of the Kansas City metropolitan area.  The Bank focuses on both 
commercial and consumer lending, offering a comprehensive range of deposit products and services, as well as treasury 
management solutions.

Basis of Presentation - The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned 
subsidiary, the Bank.  The Bank has two wholly owned subsidiaries, Capitol Funds, Inc. and Capital City Investments, Inc.  
Capitol Funds, Inc. has a wholly-owned subsidiary, Capitol Federal Mortgage Reinsurance Company.  Capital City 
Investments, Inc. is a real estate and investment holding company.  All intercompany accounts and transactions have been 
eliminated in consolidation.  The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("GAAP") and require management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the 
date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods.  Actual 
results could differ from these estimates and assumptions.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash - Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash reported in the statement of cash 
flows consisted entirely of cash and cash equivalents at September 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively.  Restricted cash relates to 
the collateral postings to/from the Bank's derivative counterparties associated with the Bank's interest rate swaps.  There was 
no restricted cash included in other assets on the consolidated balance sheet at September 30, 2025 or September 30, 2024.  
See additional discussion regarding the interest rate swaps in "Note 8. Deposits and Borrowed Funds."

Net Presentation of Cash Flows Related to Borrowings - At times, the Bank enters into FHLB advances with contractual 
maturities of 90 days or less.  Cash flows related to these advances are reported on a net basis in the consolidated statements 
of cash flows.

Securities - Securities include MBS and agency debentures issued primarily by United States Government-Sponsored 
Enterprises ("GSEs"), including Federal National Mortgage Association (FNMA), Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation 
(FHLMC) and the Federal Home Loan Banks, United States Government agencies, including Government National Mortgage 
Association (GNMA), corporate bonds, and municipal bonds.  Securities are classified as held-to-maturity ("HTM"), AFS, or 
trading based on management's intention for holding the securities on the date of purchase.  Generally, classifications are 
made in response to liquidity needs, asset/liability management strategies, and the market interest rate environment at the 
time of purchase.  

Accrued interest receivable for all securities is reported in other assets on the consolidated balance sheet and totaled $4.1 
million and $4.8 million at September 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively.  The Company excludes accrued interest from the 
amortized cost of securities and does not measure ACL for accrued interest.  Interest accrued but not received is reversed 
against interest income.   

Securities that management has the intention and ability to hold to maturity are classified as HTM and reported at amortized 
cost.  Such securities are adjusted for the amortization of premiums and discounts which are recognized as adjustments to 
interest income over the life of the securities using the level-yield method.  At September 30, 2025 and 2024, the portfolio did 
not contain any securities classified as HTM.

Securities that management may sell if necessary for liquidity or asset management purposes are classified as AFS and 
reported at fair value, with unrealized gains and non-credit losses reported as a component of AOCI within stockholders' 
equity, net of deferred income taxes.  The amortization of premiums and discounts are recognized as adjustments to interest 
income over the life of the securities using the level-yield method.  Gains or losses on the disposition of AFS securities are 
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recognized using the specific identification method.  The Company primarily uses prices obtained from third-party pricing 
services to determine the fair value of securities.  See additional discussion of fair value of AFS securities in "Note 14. Fair 
Value of Financial Instruments."

Securities that are purchased and held principally for resale in the near future are classified as trading securities and are 
reported at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses included in non-interest income in the consolidated statements of 
income.  During the fiscal years ended September 30, 2025 and 2024, neither the Company nor the Bank maintained a trading 
securities portfolio.

Allowance for Credit Losses on AFS Debt Securities - Management monitors AFS debt securities for impairment on an 
ongoing basis and performs a formal review quarterly.  If an AFS debt security is in an unrealized loss position at the time of 
the quarterly review, the Company first assesses whether it intends to sell, or if it is more likely than not that it will be 
required to sell the security before recovery of its amortized cost.  If either condition is met, the entire loss in fair value is 
recognized in current earnings.  If neither condition is met, and the Company does not expect to recover the amortized cost 
basis, the Company determines whether the decline in fair value resulted from credit losses or other factors.  In making this 
assessment, management considers the security structure, the cause(s) and severity of the loss, expectations of future 
performance (including recent events specific to the issuer or industry and the issuer's financial condition and current ability 
to make payments in a timely manner), and external credit ratings and recent downgrades in such ratings.  Management's 
assessment involves a high degree of subjectivity and judgment that is based on information available at a point in time.  If 
the assessment indicates that a credit loss might exist, the present value of cash flows expected to be collected is compared to 
the amortized cost basis of the security.  If the present value of the cash flows expected to be collected is less than the 
amortized cost basis, a credit loss is deemed to have occurred, and an ACL is recorded.  The ACL is limited by the amount 
that the fair value is less than the amortized cost basis.

Changes in the ACL on AFS debt securities are recorded as an increase or decrease in the provision for credit losses on the 
consolidated statements of income.  Losses are charged against the ACL on securities when management believes the 
collectability of an AFS security is in doubt or when either of the conditions regarding intent or requirement to sell is met.  
Interest accrued on AFS debt securities but not received is also reversed against interest income.  As of September 30, 2025 
and 2024, the Company did not identify any credit losses related to the Company's AFS debt securities, so there was no ACL 
on AFS debt securities as of those dates.

Loans Receivable - Loans receivable that management has the intention and ability to hold for the foreseeable future are 
carried at amortized cost, excluding accrued interest.  Amortized cost is the amount of unpaid principal, net of undisbursed 
loan funds, unamortized premiums and discounts, and deferred loan fees and costs.  Net loan fees and costs, and premiums 
and discounts are amortized as yield adjustments to interest income using the level-yield method.  Loans are presented on the 
consolidated balance sheet net of the related ACL.  

Interest on loans receivable is accrued based on the principal amount outstanding.  Accrued interest receivable for loans is 
reported in other assets on the consolidated balance sheet and totaled $28.0 million and $26.3 million at September 30, 2025 
and 2024, respectively.  The Company does not calculate ACL for accrued interest.  Interest accrued but not received is 
reversed against interest income.   

Loan endorsements - Certain existing one- to four- family loan customers, have the opportunity, for a fee, to endorse their 
original loan terms to current loan terms being offered by the Bank, without being required to complete the standard 
application and underwriting process.  The fee received for each endorsement is deferred and amortized as an adjustment to 
interest income over the life of the loan.  If the change in loan terms resulting from the endorsement is deemed to be more 
than minor, all existing unamortized deferred loan origination fees and costs are recognized at the time of endorsement.  If the 
change in loan terms is deemed to be minor, the fee received for the endorsement is added to the net remaining unamortized 
deferred fee or deferred cost balance.
 
Loan Modifications - For borrowers experiencing financial difficulty, the Bank may grant a concession to the borrower.  Such 
concessions generally involved extensions of loan maturity dates, the granting of periods during which reduced payment 
amounts were required, and/or reductions in interest rates.  The Bank does not forgive principal or interest, nor does it 
commit to lend additional funds to these borrowers, except for situations generally involving the capitalization of delinquent 
loan payments and/or escrow on one- to four-family loans and consumer loans, not to exceed the original loan amount.  In the 
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case of commercial loans, the Bank generally does not forgive principal or interest or commit to lend additional funds unless 
the borrower provides additional collateral or other enhancements to improve the credit quality.  

If the change in the loan terms resulting from the modification is deemed to be more than minor, all existing unamortized 
deferred loan origination fees and costs are recognized at the time of modification.  Modifications of loans to borrowers 
experiencing financial difficulty that are in the form of principal forgiveness, interest rate reductions, other-than-insignificant 
payment delays, or a term extension (or a combination thereof) require disclosure in the notes to the Company's consolidated 
financial statements.  The Company's modification disclosures are included in Note 4. Loans Receivable and Allowance for 
Credit Losses.  Modified loans are included in the Company's ACL model based on the risk characteristics of the loan.  If a 
modified loan is deemed uncollectible and no longer shares similar risk characteristics within the respective loan pool in the 
ACL model, the loan is evaluated on an individual basis and any loss is charged-off against the related ACL.  

Delinquent loans - A loan is considered delinquent when payment has not been received within 30 days of its contractual due 
date.  The number of days delinquent is determined by the number of scheduled payments that remain unpaid, assuming a 
period of 30 days between each scheduled payment. 

Nonaccrual loans - The accrual of income on loans is generally discontinued when interest or principal payments are 90 days 
in arrears.  Loans on which the accrual of income has been discontinued are designated as nonaccrual and all delinquent 
accrued interest is reversed.  For the year ended September 30, 2025, accrued interest of $3.0 million was reversed from loan 
interest income, the majority of which was due to two commercial real estate loans related to the same borrowing relationship 
that became nonaccrual during the current year.  See Note 4. Loans Receivable and Allowance for Credit Losses for 
additional information regarding these loans.  A nonaccrual one- to four-family or consumer loan is returned to accrual status 
once the contractual payments have been made to bring the loan less than 90 days past due.  A nonaccrual commercial loan is 
returned to accrual status once the loan has been current for a minimum of six months, all fees and interest are paid current, 
the loan has a sufficient debt service coverage ratio ("DSCR"), and the loan is well secured and within policy.  

Allowance for Credit Losses on Loans Receivable - The ACL is a valuation amount that is deducted from the amortized cost 
basis of loans.  It represents management's current expectations of total expected credit losses included in the Company's loan 
portfolio as of the balance sheet date and is determined using relevant information about past events, including historical 
credit loss experience on loans with similar risk characteristics, current conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts, 
along with the application of qualitative factors when necessary.  Changes in the ACL are recorded through increases or 
decreases to the provision for credit losses in the consolidated statements of income.  The ACL is an estimate that requires 
significant judgment including projections of the macroeconomic environment as of a point in time.  The macroeconomic 
environment continuously changes, which can cause fluctuations in estimated expected losses. 

The Bank's ACL is measured on a collective ("pool") basis, with loans aggregated into pools based on similar risk 
characteristics such as collateral type, historical loss experience, loan-to-value ("LTV") for originated one- to four-family 
loans, and payment sources for commercial loans.  Loans that do not share similar risk characteristics are evaluated on an 
individual basis.  Charge-offs against the related ACL amounts for any loan type may be recorded if the Bank has knowledge 
of the existence of a probable loss.

One- to four-family loans and consumer home equity loans are deemed to be collateral dependent and individually evaluated 
for loss when the loan is generally 180 days delinquent, and any identified losses are charged-off at that time.  Losses are 
based on new collateral values obtained through appraisals, less estimated costs to sell.  Anticipated private mortgage 
insurance proceeds are taken into consideration when calculating the loss amount.  If the Bank holds the first and second 
mortgage, both loans are combined when evaluating whether there is a potential loss on the loan.  When a non-real estate 
secured consumer loan is 120 days delinquent, any identified losses are charged-off.  Commercial loans are generally 
individually evaluated for loss during the quarterly special loan review process, or at any time management determines 
circumstances warrant.  In general, commercial loans are individually evaluated for loss if they are rated substandard or 
below.  Loss amounts are calculated using the market value of collateral adjusted for costs to sell compared to the amount due 
from the borrower, adjusted for any government guaranty there may be on the loan.  If the loss amount is calculated and the 
Bank's commercial loan committee determines the amount is uncollectible, the amount is charged-off.  If the loss amount is 
determined to be collectible, then the amount is reserved as a specific valuation allowance.  The determination of whether the 
loss is collectible or uncollectible is based on current financial information from the borrower, as well as any facts and 
information of which the Bank may have knowledge.  
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The primary credit risk characteristics inherent in the one- to four-family and consumer loan portfolios are a decline in 
economic conditions, such as elevated levels of unemployment or underemployment, and declines in residential real estate 
values.  Any one or a combination of these events may adversely affect the ability of borrowers to repay their loans, resulting 
in increased delinquencies, non-performing assets, charge-offs, and provisions for credit losses.  Although the commercial 
loan portfolio is subject to the same risk of declines in economic conditions, the primary risk characteristics inherent in this 
portfolio include the ability of the borrower to sustain sufficient cash flows from leases and business operations, the ability to 
control operational or business expenses to satisfy their contractual debt payments, and the ability to utilize personal or 
business resources to pay their contractual debt payments if the cash flows are not sufficient.  Additionally, if the Bank were 
to repossess the secured collateral of a commercial real estate loan, the pool of potential buyers is typically more limited than 
that for a residential property.  Therefore, the Bank could have to hold the property for an extended period of time, or be 
forced to sell at a discounted price, resulting in additional losses.  Our commercial and industrial loans are primarily secured 
by accounts receivable, inventory and equipment, which may be difficult to appraise, may be illiquid and may fluctuate in 
value based on the success of the business.

The Company utilizes a discounted cash flow model for estimating expected credit losses for pooled loans and loan 
commitments.  For loans evaluated for credit losses on a pool basis, average historical loss rates are calculated for each pool 
using the Company's historical charge-offs, or peer data when the Company's own historical loss rates are not reflective of 
future loss expectations, and outstanding loan balances during a historical time period.  The historical time periods can be 
different based on the individual pool and represent management's credit expectations for the pool of loans over the 
remaining contractual life.  Generally, the historical time periods are at least two economic cycles.  These historical loss rates 
are compared to historical data related to economic indices including national unemployment rate, changes in commercial 
real estate price index, changes in home values, changes in the United States consumer price index, and changes in the United 
States gross domestic product during the same time periods over which the historical loss rates were calculated, and a 
correlation is estimated using regression analysis.  Each quarter, the Company's model pairs the results of the regression 
analysis with an economic forecast of these same economic indices, which is provided by a third party, in order to model 
probabilities of default ("PDs").  The PDs are then used to generate expected cash flows using segment-specific risk factors 
and other assumptions to model loss given defaults ("LGDs").  The forecast is applied for a reasonable and supportable time 
period, as determined by management, before reverting back to historical loss experience, which is accomplished by 
reversion to long-term historical averages at the economic index level using a straight-line method.  Contractual cash flows 
are adjusted for expected prepayment speeds and curtailment rates selected by management.  The prepayment and curtailment 
assumptions vary for each respective loan pool in the model.  The contractual term excludes expected extensions, renewals 
and modifications.  In the case of revolving lines of credit, since the rate of principal reduction is generally at the discretion of 
the borrower, remaining contractual lives are calculated by estimating future cash flows expected to be received from the 
borrower until the outstanding balance has been reduced to zero. 

Using all of these inputs and assumptions, the discounted cash flow methodology generates aggregated estimated cash flows 
for the time period that remains in each loan's contractual life.  These cash flows are discounted back to the reporting date 
using each loan's effective yield, to arrive at a present value of estimated future cash flows.  Each loan pool's ACL is equal to 
the aggregate shortage, if any, of the present value of estimated future cash flows compared to the amortized cost basis of the 
loan pool. 

Additionally, qualitative factors are considered for items not included in historical loss rates, macroeconomic forecasts, or 
other model inputs, as deemed appropriate by management's current assessment of risks related to loan portfolio attributes 
and external factors.  Such qualitative factor considerations include changes in the Bank's loan portfolio composition and 
credit concentrations, changes in the loan balances and/or trends in asset quality and/or loan credit performance, changes in 
lending underwriting standards, the effect of other external factors such as significant unique events or conditions, and actual 
and/or expected changes in economic conditions, real estate values, and/or other economic developments in the geographic 
areas in which the Bank operates, and/or other management considerations to account for credit risks not fully reflected in the 
discounted cash flow model.  Management assesses the potential impact of such items and adjusts the modeled ACL as 
deemed appropriate based upon the assessment.

Reserve for Off-Balance Sheet Credit Exposures - The Company's off-balance sheet credit exposures are comprised of 
unfunded portions of existing loans, such as lines of credit and construction loans, and commitments to originate or purchase 
loans that are not unconditionally cancellable by the Company.  Expected credit losses on these amounts are calculated using 
the same ACL to loan ratio that is calculated by the ACL model; however, the estimate of credit risk for off-balance sheet 
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credit exposures also takes into consideration the likelihood that funding of the unfunded amount/commitment will occur.  
The reserve for these off-balance sheet credit exposures is recorded as a liability and is presented in other liabilities on the 
consolidated balance sheet.  Changes to the reserve for off-balance sheet credit exposures are recorded through increases or 
decreases to the provision for credit losses on the consolidated statements of income.

Federal Home Loan Bank Stock - As a member of FHLB, the Bank is required to acquire and hold shares of FHLB stock.  
The Bank's holding requirement varies based on the Bank's activities, primarily the Bank's outstanding borrowings, with 
FHLB.  FHLB stock is carried at cost and is considered a restricted asset because it cannot be pledged as collateral or bought 
or sold on the open market and because it has certain redemption restrictions.  Management conducts a quarterly evaluation to 
determine if any FHLB stock impairment exists.  The quarterly impairment evaluation focuses primarily on the capital 
adequacy and liquidity of FHLB, while also considering the impact that legislative and regulatory developments may have on 
FHLB.  Stock and cash dividends received on FHLB stock are reflected as dividend income in the consolidated statements of 
income.

Premises, Equipment, and Leases - Land is carried at cost.  Buildings, leasehold improvements, and furniture, fixtures and 
equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and leasehold amortization.  Buildings, furniture, fixtures and 
equipment are depreciated over their estimated useful lives using the straight-line method.  Leasehold improvements are 
amortized over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or the term of the respective leases.  The costs for major 
improvements and renovations are capitalized, while maintenance, repairs and minor improvements are charged to operating 
expenses as incurred.  Gains and losses on dispositions are recorded as non-interest income or non-interest expense as 
incurred. 

The Company leases real estate property for branches, ATMs, and certain equipment.  The Company determines if an 
arrangement is a lease at inception and if the lease is an operating lease or a finance lease.  Leases that meet any of the 
following criteria are considered financing leases: (1) the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset by the end of the 
lease term; (2) the lease grants the Company an option to purchase the underlying asset that the Company is reasonably 
certain to exercise; (3) the lease term is the major part of the remaining economic life of the underlying assets; (4) the present 
value of the sum of the lease payments and any residual value guaranteed by the Company that is not already reflected in the 
lease payments equals or exceeds substantially all the fair value of the underlying asset; or (5) the underlying asset is of such 
a specialized nature that it is expected to have no alternative use to the lessor at the end of the lease term.  A lease that does 
not meet any of these criteria is considered an operating lease.

A right-of-use asset represents the Company's right to use an underlying asset during the lease term.  The calculated amounts 
of the right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are impacted by the length of the lease term and the discount rate used to 
calculate the present value of the minimum remaining lease payments.  The Company's lease agreements often include one or 
more options to renew at the Company's discretion.  If, at lease inception, the Company considers the exercising of a renewal 
option to be reasonably certain, the Company includes the extended term in the calculation of the right-of-use asset and lease 
liability.  Generally, the Company cannot practically determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, so the Company's 
incremental borrowing rate is used as the discount rate for the lease.  The Company uses FHLB advance interest rates, which 
have been deemed as the Company's incremental borrowing rate, at lease inception based upon the term of the lease.  The 
Company's lease agreements do not contain any material residual value guarantees or material restrictive covenants. 

The right-of-use assets associated with operating leases are recorded in other assets and for finance leases in premises and 
equipment on the Company's consolidated balance sheet.  The period over which a right-of-use asset is amortized is generally 
the lesser of the expected remaining term or the remaining useful life of the leased asset.  The lease liabilities associated with 
operating leases are included in other liabilities and for finance leases in borrowings on the Company's consolidated balance 
sheets. The lease liability is decreased as periodic lease payments are made.  For facility-related leases, the Company elected, 
by lease class, to not separate lease and non-lease components.  The Company performs impairment assessments for right-of-
use assets when events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying values may not be recoverable. 

Operating lease expense is recognized over the lease term.  Variable lease expense primarily represents payments such as 
common area maintenance, real estate taxes, and utilities and are recognized as expense in the period when those payment 
obligations are incurred.  Short-term lease expense relates to leases with an initial term of 12 months or less.  Operating lease 
expense, variable lease expense and short-term lease expense associated with operating leases are included in occupancy 
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expense in the Company's consolidated statements of income.  The Company has elected to not record a right-of-use asset or 
lease liability for short-term leases.  

Financing lease right-of-use assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over the lease term and the related expense is 
reported in occupancy expense in the Company's consolidated statements of income.  The lease obligation is increased by the 
accrual of interest and decreased by subsequent lease payments.  Interest expense on finance leases is reported in interest 
expense on borrowings in the Company's consolidated statements of income.  

Low Income Housing Partnerships - As part of the Bank's community reinvestment initiatives, the Bank invests in 
affordable housing limited partnerships ("low income housing partnerships") that make equity investments in affordable 
housing properties.  The Bank is a limited partner in each partnership in which it invests.  A separate, unrelated third party is 
the general partner.  The Bank receives affordable housing tax credits and other tax benefits for these investments.

Other Assets - Included in other assets on the consolidated balance sheet are the Company's intangible assets, which consist 
of goodwill, deposit intangibles and other intangibles.  

Goodwill is assessed for impairment on an annual basis, or more frequently in certain circumstances.  The test for impairment 
is performed by comparing the fair value of the reporting unit with its carrying amount.  If the fair value is determined to be 
less than the carrying amount, an impairment is recorded. 

The Company's intangible assets primarily relate to core deposits.  These intangible assets are amortized based upon the 
expected economic benefit over an estimated life determined at the time of acquisition and are tested for impairment 
whenever certain events occur or circumstances change. 

Interest Rate Swaps - The Company uses interest rate swaps as part of its interest rate risk management strategy to hedge the 
variable cash outflows associated with certain borrowings.  Interest rate swaps are carried at fair value in the Company's 
consolidated financial statements.  For interest rate swaps that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges, changes in the 
fair value of such agreements are recorded in AOCI and are subsequently reclassified into interest expense in the period that 
interest on the borrowings affects earnings.  Effectiveness is assessed using regression analysis.  At the inception of a hedge, 
the Company documents certain items, including the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item, the 
risk management objective and the nature of the risk being hedged, a description of how effectiveness will be measured and 
an evaluation of hedged transaction effectiveness.

Income Taxes - The Company utilizes the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes.  Under this method, 
deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the tax consequences of temporary differences between the 
financial statement carrying amounts and the tax basis of existing assets and liabilities.  Deferred income tax expense 
(benefit) represents the change in deferred income tax assets and liabilities excluding the tax effects of the change in net 
unrealized gain (loss) on AFS securities and interest rate swaps.  Income tax related penalties and interest, if any, are included 
in income tax expense in the consolidated statements of income.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in 
which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled.  The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of 
a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.  To the extent that management 
considers it more likely than not that a deferred tax asset will not be recovered, a valuation allowance is recorded.  All 
positive and negative evidence is reviewed in determining how much of a valuation allowance is recognized on a quarterly 
basis. 

ASC Topic 740 prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and 
measurement of an uncertain tax position taken, or expected to be taken, in a tax return.  Interest and penalties related to 
unrecognized tax benefits are recognized in income tax expense in the consolidated statements of income.  Accrued interest 
and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits are included within the related tax liabilities line in the consolidated 
balance sheet.

Employee Stock Ownership Plan - The funds borrowed by the ESOP from the Company to purchase the Company's 
common stock are being repaid from dividends paid on unallocated ESOP shares and, if necessary, contributions by the 
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Bank.  The ESOP shares pledged as collateral are reported as a reduction of stockholders' equity at cost.  As ESOP shares are 
committed to be released from collateral each quarter, the Company records compensation expense based on the average 
market price of the Company's common stock during the quarter.  Additionally, the ESOP shares become outstanding for 
EPS computations once they are committed to be released.

Stock-based Compensation - The Company has share-based plans under which stock options and restricted stock awards 
have been granted.  Compensation expense is recognized over the service period of the share-based payment award.  The 
Company utilizes a fair-value-based measurement method in accounting for the share-based payment transactions.  The 
Company applies the modified prospective method in which compensation cost is recognized over the service period for all 
awards granted.

Trust Asset Management - Assets (other than cash deposits with the Bank) held in fiduciary or agency capacities for 
customers are not included in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, since such items are not assets of the Company 
or its subsidiaries. 

Revenue Recognition - Non-interest income within the scope of ASC Topic 606 is recognized by the Company when 
performance obligations, under the terms of the contract, are satisfied.  This income is measured as the amount of 
consideration expected to be received in exchange for the providing of services.  The majority of the Company's applicable 
non-interest income continues to be recognized at the time when services are provided to its customers.  See "Note 16. 
Revenue Recognition" for additional information.  

Segment Information - The Company's banking operations are considered by management to be aggregated in one reportable 
operating segment in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") ASC Topic 280.  These banking 
operations primarily consist of the delivery of loan products and deposit products to customers.  The chief executive officer 
and chief financial officer are the Company's chief operating decision makers in consultation with other members of 
executive management.  The chief operating decision makers evaluate the performance of the Company's banking operations 
and decide how to allocate resources based on consolidated net income, which is also reported in the Company's consolidated 
statements of income.  All expenses associated with the Company's banking operations are considered to be significant.  
Given the Company's single reportable operating segment, assets associated with the Company's banking operations are 
reflected on the Company's consolidated balance sheets as “total assets” and the amounts of significant segment expenses are 
disclosed in the Company's consolidated statements of income.  The accounting policies for the Company's banking 
operations are the same as the Company's accounting policies disclosed herein. 

Earnings Per Share - Basic EPS is computed by dividing income available to common stockholders by the weighted average 
number of shares outstanding for the period.  Diluted EPS reflects the potential dilution that could occur if securities or other 
contracts to issue common stock (such as stock options) were exercised or resulted in the issuance of common stock.  These 
potentially dilutive shares would then be included in the weighted average number of shares outstanding for the period using 
the treasury stock method.  Shares issued and shares reacquired during any period are weighted for the portion of the period 
that they were outstanding.

In computing both basic and diluted EPS, the weighted average number of common shares outstanding includes the ESOP 
shares previously allocated to participants and shares committed to be released for allocation to participants and shares of 
restricted stock which have vested.  ESOP shares that have not been committed to be released are excluded from the 
computation of basic and diluted EPS.  Unvested restricted stock awards contain nonforfeitable rights to dividends and are 
treated as participating securities in the computation of EPS pursuant to the two-class method. 

Dividends - Dividends paid are recognized as a reduction to retained earnings.  As a result, if the Company is in an 
accumulated deficit position, a dividend payment will increase the accumulated deficit.  

Recent Accounting Pronouncements - In October 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-06, Disclosure Improvements - 
Codification Amendments in Response to the SEC's Disclosure Update and Simplification Initiative.  This ASU incorporates 
a variety of Topics into the FASB Accounting Standards Codification (the "Codification") that are currently included in SEC 
Regulations S-X and S-K.  The ASU is intended to align the accounting standards of GAAP with SEC Regulations S-X and 
S-K.  Each amendment in the ASU will only become effective for the Company if the SEC removes the related disclosure or 
presentation requirement from its existing regulations by June 30, 2027.  The amendments will be applied prospectively by 
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the Company.  The adoption of this ASU may result in disclosures currently presented outside of the Company's financial 
statements being relocated to the Company's financial statements.  If the SEC has not removed the applicable requirements 
from Regulation S-X or S-K by June 30, 2027, the pending content of the related amendment will be removed from the 
Codification and will not become effective for the Company.  The ASU is not expected to have a material impact on the 
Company's disclosures as the Company is currently subject to SEC Regulations S-X and S-K.

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280) - Improvements to Reportable Segment 
Disclosures.  This ASU requires enhanced disclosures of segment information for all public entities, including those that have 
a single reportable segment, primarily in the area of significant segment expenses and other items on an annual and interim 
basis.  Entities that have a single reportable segment, like the Company, will be required to provide all the disclosures 
required by this ASU and all existing segment disclosures required by ASC 280, Segment Reporting.  The Company adopted 
this ASU on September 30, 2025. The new disclosures required by this ASU are included in the "Segment Information" 
discussion above. 

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740) - Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures.  
This ASU requires public business entities to provide additional annual disclosures regarding specific categories of the 
income tax rate reconciliation using both percentages and currency amounts with certain reconciling items being further 
broken out by nature and jurisdiction to the extent those items exceed a certain quantitative threshold.  The ASU also requires 
annual disclosures of income taxes paid (net of refunds received) disaggregated by federal, state, and foreign taxes and the 
amount of income taxes paid (net of refunds received) disaggregated by individual jurisdictions that meet a certain 
quantitative threshold.  This ASU also discontinues certain other income tax disclosures.  The ASU is effective for public 
business entities for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024 which is the fiscal year ending September 30, 2026 
for the Company.  Early adoption is permitted for annual financial statements that have not yet been issued or made available 
for issuance.  This ASU should be applied on a prospective basis; however, retrospective application is permitted.  The 
Company's financial condition, results of operations and cash flows will not be impacted by this guidance; however, the 
guidance will impact the Company's income tax footnote disclosures.  The Company is currently evaluating the effect this 
ASU will have on the Company's income tax footnote disclosures.

In March 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-02, Codification Improvements - Amendments to Remove References to the 
Concepts Statements.  This ASU removes references to various FASB Concept Statements to simplify the Codification and 
provide a distinction between authoritative and nonauthoritative literature.  This ASU is effective for the Company on 
October 1, 2025, starting with its Form 10-K for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2026.  The Company is currently 
evaluating this ASU, but it is not expected to have a significant impact on the Company's consolidated financial condition or 
results of operation or the Company's disclosures.

In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-03, Income Statement - Reporting Comprehensive Income - Expense 
Disaggregation Disclosures.  This ASU requires additional expense disclosures by public entities in the notes to the financial 
statements.  The ASU outlines the specific costs that are required to be disclosed, which include costs such as: purchases of 
inventory, employee compensation, depreciation, intangible asset amortization, selling costs, and depreciation, depletion, and 
amortization related to oil and gas production.  It also requires qualitative descriptions of the amounts remaining in the 
relevant expense income statement captions that are not separately disaggregated quantitatively in the notes to the financial 
statements and the entity's definition of selling expenses.  The disclosures are required for each interim and annual reporting 
period.  The ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2026, which is the fiscal year ending September 
30, 2028 for the Company.  In January 2025, the FASB issued ASU 2025-1, Income Statement - Reporting Comprehensive 
Income - Expense Disaggregation Disclosures: Clarifying the Effective Date.  The FASB clarified the interim date reporting 
when an entity adopts ASU 2024-03.  Per ASU 2025-01, ASU 2024-03 is effective for interim periods within fiscal years 
beginning after December 15, 2027, which is the quarter ending December 31, 2028 for the Company.  The Company is 
currently evaluating the effect this ASU will have on the Company's expense disclosures in the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements.

In September 2025, the FASB issued ASU 2025-06, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other - Internal-use Software (Subtopic 
350-40): Targeted Improvements to the Accounting for Internal-Use Software.  This ASU modernizes the accounting for 
internal-use software costs under Subtopic 350-40.  The ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2027, 
which is the fiscal year ending September 30, 2029 for the Company, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after 
December 15, 2027, which is the quarter ending December 31, 2028 for the Company.  Early adoption is permitted for any 

82



83



84



85



86



Commercial loans - The Bank's commercial loan portfolio includes loans originated by the Bank or in participation with a 
lead bank.  For commercial participation loans, the Bank performs the same underwriting procedures as if the loan was 
originated by the Bank.

When underwriting a commercial real estate or commercial construction loan, several factors are considered, such as the 
income producing potential of the property, cash equity provided by the borrower, the financial strength of the borrower, 
managerial expertise of the borrower or tenant, feasibility studies, lending experience with the borrower and the marketability 
of the property.  At the time of origination, LTVs on commercial real estate loans generally do not exceed 85% of the 
appraised value of the property securing the loans and the minimum DSCR is generally 1.15x.  The Bank generally requires a 
guaranty on all commercial real estate loans, but for an experienced borrower with a strong DSCR and low LTV, the Bank 
may allow the guaranty percentage to be reduced or phased out, or the Bank may originate the loan as a non-recourse loan.

For commercial construction loans, LTVs generally do not exceed 80% of the projected appraised value of the property 
securing the loans and the minimum DSCR is generally 1.15x, but it applies to the projected cash flows, and the borrower 
must have successful experience with the construction and operation of properties similar to the subject property.  Appraisals 
on properties securing these loans are performed by independent state certified fee appraisers.  For construction loans, 
guaranties are typically required during the period of construction.  After construction is complete, for select experienced 
borrowers that have a strong DSCR and low LTV, the guaranty may be reduced or phased out when the property meets 
certain performance metrics.  Additionally, the Bank generally requires the borrower to contribute equity at the start of a 
project and prior to any Bank funding.  

The Bank's commercial and industrial loans are generally made to borrowers located in Kansas and Missouri and are 
underwritten on the basis of the borrower's ability to service the debt from income.  Working capital loans are primarily 
collateralized by short-term assets whereas term loans are primarily collateralized by longer-term assets.  In general, 
commercial and industrial loans involve different types of credit risk than commercial real estate loans due to the nature of 
the loans and the type of collateral securing the loans.  As a result of these complexities, variables and risks, commercial and 
industrial loans generally require evaluation of different metrics and factors before origination and require more monitoring 
and servicing after origination than other types of loans.

Management regularly monitors the level of risk in the entire commercial loan portfolio, including concentrations in factors 
such as collateral type, geographic location, tenant brand name, borrowing relationship, and, in the case of participation 
loans, lending relationship, among other factors.  Commercial borrowers with total loans of $2.5 million or more are 
reviewed at least annually to monitor financial performance.  The annual reviews include evaluating updated financials, as 
well as performing stress tests to measure the ability of the loans to withstand certain stress scenarios such as interest rate 
increases, revenue decreases and expense increases.

Consumer loans - The Bank offers a variety of consumer loans, the majority of which are home equity loans and lines of 
credit for which the Bank also has the first mortgage or the first lien position.  

The underwriting standards for consumer loans include a determination of an applicant's payment history on other debts and 
an assessment of an applicant's ability to meet existing obligations and payments on the proposed loan.  Although 
creditworthiness of an applicant is a primary consideration, the underwriting process also includes a comparison of the value 
of the security in relation to the proposed loan amount.

Credit Quality Indicators - Based on the Bank's lending emphasis and underwriting standards, management has segmented 
the loan portfolio into three segments: (1) one- to four-family; (2) consumer; and (3) commercial.  See discussion regarding 
the credit risks for these loan segments in "Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - Allowance for Credit 
Losses on Loans Receivable."  These segments are further divided into classes for purposes of providing disaggregated credit 
quality information about the loan portfolio.  The classes are:  one- to four-family - originated, one- to four-family - 
correspondent purchased, one- to four-family - bulk purchased, consumer - home equity, consumer - other, commercial - 
commercial real estate, and commercial - commercial and industrial.  One- to four-family construction loans are included in 
the originated class and commercial construction loans are included in the commercial real estate class.  As part of the on-
going monitoring of the credit quality of the Company's loan portfolio, management tracks certain credit quality indicators 
including trends related to loan classification and delinquency status. 
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Loan Classification - In accordance with the Bank's asset classification policy, management regularly reviews the problem 
loans in the Bank's portfolio to determine whether any require classification.  Loan classifications are defined as follows:

• Special mention - These loans are performing loans on which known information about the collateral pledged or the 
possible credit problems of the borrower(s) have caused management to have doubts as to the ability of the borrower(s) 
to comply with present loan repayment terms and which may result in the future inclusion of such loans in the 
nonaccrual loan categories.

• Substandard - A loan is considered substandard if it is inadequately protected by the current net worth and paying 
capacity of the obligor or of the collateral pledged, if any.  Substandard loans include those characterized by the distinct 
possibility the Bank will sustain some loss if the deficiencies are not corrected.

• Doubtful - Loans classified as doubtful have all the weaknesses inherent in those classified as substandard, with the 
added characteristic that the weaknesses present make collection or liquidation in full on the basis of currently existing 
facts and conditions and values highly questionable and improbable.

• Loss - Loans classified as loss are considered uncollectible and of such little value that their continuance as assets on the 
books is not warranted.

The following tables set forth, as of the dates indicated, the amortized cost of loans by class of financing receivable, year of 
origination or most recent credit decision, and loan classification.  Amortized cost is the amount of unpaid principal, net of 
undisbursed funds, unamortized premiums and discounts, and deferred fees and costs.  All revolving lines of credit and 
revolving lines of credit converted to term loans are presented separately, regardless of origination year.  Loans classified as 
doubtful or loss are individually evaluated for loss.  At September 30, 2025 and September 30, 2024, there were no loans 
classified as doubtful, and all loans classified as loss were fully charged-off.  The commercial real estate substandard loan 
amount presented in the "Current Fiscal Year" column is primarily related to two loans in the same borrowing relationship.  
These two loans were modified during the current fiscal year and classified as nonaccrual at September 30, 2025.  The loans 
are recourse loans with personal guarantees and have low LTVs.  There have been no charge-offs with these two loans nor 
has management set aside a specific valuation allowance associated with these loans as of September 30, 2025 due to the low 
LTVs.  The commercial real estate special mention loan amount presented in the "Fiscal Year 2023" column is related to one 
loan that was classified as special mention during the current fiscal year.  The loan was not delinquent at September 30, 2025. 
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FHLB borrowings are secured by certain qualifying loans pursuant to a blanket collateral agreement with FHLB and certain 
securities, when necessary.  Per FHLB's lending guidelines, total FHLB borrowings cannot exceed 40% of a borrowing 
institution's regulatory total assets without the pre-approval of FHLB senior management.  The Bank's borrowing limit 
approved by FHLB senior management was 45% as of September 30, 2025, and became 44% starting November 1, 2025.  
The borrowing limit as of November 1, 2025 was calculated based on a FHLB collateral analysis that is part of FHLB's 
overall borrowing capacity framework.  At September 30, 2025, the ratio of the par value of the Bank's FHLB borrowings to 
the Bank's Call Report total assets was 20%.  

At September 30, 2025 and 2024, the Bank had entered into interest rate swap agreements with a total notional amount of 
$100.0 million and $200.0 million, respectively, in order to hedge the variable cash flows associated with $100.0 million and 
$200.0 million, respectively, of adjustable-rate FHLB advances.  At September 30, 2025 and 2024, the interest rate swap 
agreements had an average remaining term to maturity of 2.7 years and 2.3 years, respectively.  The interest rate swaps were 
designated as cash flow hedges and involved the receipt of variable amounts from a counterparty in exchange for the Bank 
making fixed-rate payments over the life of the interest rate swap agreements.  At September 30, 2025 and September 30, 
2024, the interest rate swaps were in a gain position with a total fair value of $926 thousand and $2.1 million, respectively, 
which was reported in other assets on the consolidated balance sheet.  During fiscal year 2025 and 2024, $2.3 million and 
$6.1 million, respectively, was reclassified from AOCI as a decrease to interest expense.  At September 30, 2025, the 
Company estimated that $641 thousand of interest expense associated with the interest rate swaps would be reclassified from 
AOCI as a decrease to interest expense on FHLB borrowings during the next 12 months.  The Bank has minimum collateral 
posting thresholds with its derivative counterparties and posts collateral on a daily basis.  The Bank held cash collateral of 
$920 thousand at September 30, 2025 and $2.1 million at September 30, 2024. 

During the year ended September 30, 2025, the Bank prepaid fixed-rate FHLB advances totaling $200.0 million with a 
weighted average contractual interest rate of 4.70% and a weighted average remaining term of 0.6 years, and replaced these 
advances with fixed-rate FHLB advances totaling $200.0 million with a weighted average contractual interest rate of 3.83% 
and a weighted average term of 2.5 years.  The Bank paid penalties of $547 thousand to FHLB as a result of prepaying these 
advances.  The prepayment penalties are being recognized in interest expense over the life of the new FHLB advances.  The 
weighted average effective interest rate of the new advances was 3.93%.  

In October 2025, the Bank refinanced a $50.0 million fixed-rate advance with a weighted average effective rate of 4.03% and 
a weighted average life ("WAL") of 0.5 years, and replaced it with a $50.0 million fixed-rate advance with a weighted 
average effective rate of 3.64% and a WAL of  2.0 years.  This transaction resulted in prepayment fees of $11 thousand 
which will be recognized in interest expense over the life of the new FHLB advance.  

Periodically, management has utilized a leverage strategy to increase earnings which entails entering into short-term FHLB 
borrowings and depositing the proceeds from these FHLB borrowings, net of the cost to purchase FHLB stock to meet FHLB 
stock holding requirements, at the FRB of Kansas City ("leverage strategy").  The leverage strategy is not a core operating 
business for the Company.  It provides the Company the ability to utilize excess capital to generate earnings.  Additionally, it 
is a strategy that can be exited quickly without additional costs.  Leverage strategy borrowings are repaid prior to each quarter 
end.  The leverage strategy was not in place during the current fiscal year or prior fiscal year due to the strategy being 
unprofitable, but it was in place at points during the fiscal year 2023.  When the leverage strategy is in place, it reduces the 
net interest margin due to the amount of earnings from the transaction in comparison to the size of the transaction.  
Management continues to monitor the net interest rate spread and overall profitability of the leverage strategy.  
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In conjunction with the Company's corporate reorganization in December 2010, a "liquidation account" was established for 
the benefit of certain depositors of the Bank in an amount equal to Capitol Federal Savings Bank MHC's ownership interest 
in the retained earnings of Capitol Federal Financial as of June 30, 2010.  (Prior to the corporate reorganization, Capitol 
Federal Financial was the Bank's mid-tier holding company and Capitol Federal Savings Bank MHC, a mutual holding 
company, owned a majority of the stock of Capitol Federal Financial.)  As of September 30, 2025, the balance of this 
liquidation account was $62.5 million.  Under applicable federal banking regulations, neither the Company nor the Bank is 
permitted to pay dividends to its stockholders if stockholders' equity would be reduced below the amount of the liquidation 
account at that time.

14. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair Value Measurements – The Company uses fair value measurements to record fair value adjustments to certain financial 
instruments and to determine fair value disclosures in accordance with ASC 820 and ASC 825.  The Company's AFS 
securities and interest rate swaps are recorded at fair value on a recurring basis.  Additionally, from time to time, the 
Company may be required to record at fair value other financial instruments on a non-recurring basis, such as OREO and 
loans individually evaluated for impairment.  These non-recurring fair value adjustments involve the application of lower of 
cost or fair value accounting or write-downs of individual financial instruments.  

The Company groups its financial instruments at fair value in three levels based on the markets in which the financial 
instruments are traded and the reliability of the assumptions used to determine fair value.  These levels are:

• Level 1 - Valuation is based upon quoted prices for identical instruments traded in active markets.
• Level 2 - Valuation is based upon quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets, quoted prices for

identical or similar instruments in markets that are not active, and model-based valuation techniques for which
all significant assumptions are observable in the market.

• Level 3 - Valuation is generated from model-based techniques that use significant assumptions not observable
in the market.  These unobservable assumptions reflect the Company's own estimates of assumptions that
market participants would use in pricing the financial instrument.  Valuation techniques include the use of
option pricing models, discounted cash flow models, and similar techniques.  The results cannot be determined
with precision and may not be realized in an actual sale or immediate settlement of the financial instrument.

The Company bases the fair value of its financial instruments on the price that would be received from the sale of an 
instrument in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date under current market conditions.  
The Company maximizes the use of observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair 
value.

The following is a description of valuation methodologies used for financial instruments measured at fair value on a recurring 
basis.

AFS Securities - The Company's AFS securities portfolio is carried at estimated fair value.  The Company primarily uses 
prices obtained from third-party pricing services to determine the fair value of its securities.  On a quarterly basis, 
management corroborates a sample of prices obtained from the third-party pricing service for Level 2 securities by comparing 
them to an independent source.  If the price provided by the independent source varies by more than a predetermined 
percentage from the price received from the third-party pricing service, then the variance is researched by management.  The 
Company did not have to adjust prices obtained from the third-party pricing service when determining the fair value of its 
securities during the years ended September 30, 2025 and 2024.  The Company's major security types, based on the nature 
and risks of the securities, are:

• MBS - The majority of these securities are issued by GSEs.  Estimated fair values are based on a discounted
cash flow method.  Cash flows are determined based on prepayment projections of the underlying mortgages
and are discounted using current market yields for benchmark securities. (Level 2)

• GSE debentures - Estimated fair values are based on a discounted cash flow method.  Cash flows are
determined by taking any embedded options into consideration and are discounted using current market yields
for similar securities. (Level 2)

111



112



2025 and 2024 that were still held in the portfolio as of September 30, 2025 and 2024 was $53.9 million and $8.9 million, 
respectively.  The increase in the balance from September 30, 2024 was due primarily to two commercial real estate loans 
that were modified during the current fiscal year and were reported as substandard and nonaccrual at September, 30, 2025.  
Fair values of collateral dependent loans/loans individually evaluated for loss cannot be determined with precision and may 
not be realized in an actual sale or immediate settlement of the loan and, as such, are classified as Level 3.  

The one- to four-family loans included in this amount were individually evaluated to determine if the carrying value of the 
loan was in excess of the fair value of the collateral, less estimated selling costs of 10%.  Fair values were estimated through 
current appraisals.  Management does not adjust or apply a discount to the appraised value of one- to four-family loans, 
except for the estimated sales cost noted above, and the primary unobservable input for these loans was the appraisal.  

For commercial loans, if the most recent appraisal or book value of the collateral does not reflect current market conditions 
due to the passage of time and/or other factors, management will adjust the existing appraised or book value based on 
knowledge of local market conditions, recent transactions, and estimated selling costs, if applicable.  Adjustments to 
appraised or book values are generally based on assumptions not observable in the marketplace.  The primary significant 
unobservable inputs for commercial loans individually evaluated during the year ended September 30, 2025 were downward 
adjustments to the book value of the collateral for lack of marketability.  During fiscal year 2025, the adjustments ranged 
from 10% to 99%, with a weighted average of 23%.  During fiscal year 2024, the adjustments ranged from 5% to 100%, with 
a weighted average of 40%.  The basis utilized in calculating the weighted averages for these adjustments was the original 
unadjusted value of each collateral item. 

OREO – OREO primarily represents real estate acquired as a result of foreclosure or by deed in lieu of foreclosure and is 
carried at the lower of cost or fair value.  The fair value for one- to four-family OREO is estimated through current appraisals 
or listing prices, less estimated selling costs of 10%.  Management does not adjust or apply a discount to the appraised value 
or listing price, except for the estimated sales costs noted above.  The primary significant unobservable input for one- to four-
family OREO was the appraisal or listing price.  The fair value of one- to four-family OREO measured on a non-recurring 
basis during fiscal years 2025 and 2024 that was still held in the portfolio as of September 30, 2025 and 2024 was $197 
thousand and $55 thousand, respectively.  The carrying value of the properties equaled the fair value of the properties at 
September 30, 2025 and 2024.

For commercial OREO, if the most recent appraisal or book value of the collateral does not reflect current market conditions 
due to the passage of time and/or other factors, management will adjust the existing appraised or book value based on 
knowledge of local market conditions, recent transactions, and estimated selling costs, if applicable.  Adjustments to 
appraised or book values are generally based on assumptions not observable in the marketplace.  The primary significant 
unobservable input for commercial OREO is downward adjustments to book value of the collateral for lack of marketability.  
Fair values of foreclosed property cannot be determined with precision and may not be realized in an actual sale of the 
property and, as such, are classified as Level 3.  There was no commercial OREO measured on a non-recurring basis during 
the years ended September 30, 2025 and 2024.
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16. REVENUE RECOGNITION

Details of the Company's primary types of non-interest income revenue streams by financial statement line item reported in 
the consolidated statements of income that are within the scope of ASC Topic 606 are below.  During fiscal years 2025, 2024 
and 2023, revenue from contracts with customers totaled $16.3 million, $15.3 million and $17.6 million, respectively. 

Deposit Service Fees 
Interchange Transaction Fees - Interchange transaction fee income primarily consists of interchange fees earned on a 
transactional basis through card payment networks.  The performance obligation for these types of transactions is satisfied as 
services are rendered for each transaction and revenue is recognized daily concurrently with the transaction processing 
services provided to the cardholder.

In order to participate in the card payment networks, the Company must pay various transaction related costs established by 
the networks ("interchange network charges"), including membership fees and a per unit charge for each transaction.  The 
Company is acting as an agent for its debit card customers when they are utilizing the card payment networks; therefore, 
interchange transaction fee income is reported net of interchange network charges.  Interchange network charges totaled $4.3 
million, $4.2 million and $4.0 million for fiscal years 2025, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Service Charges on Deposit Accounts - Service charges on deposit accounts consist of account maintenance fees and 
transaction-based fees such as those for overdrafts, insufficient funds, wire transfers and the use of out-of-network ATMs.  
The Company's performance obligation is satisfied over a period of time, generally a month, for account maintenance and at 
the time of service for transaction-based fees.  Revenue is recognized after the performance obligation is satisfied.  Payments 
are typically collected from the customer's deposit account at the time the transaction is processed and/or at the end of the 
customer's statement cycle (typically monthly).

Insurance Commissions 
Commissions are received on insurance product sales.  The Company acts in the capacity of an agent between the Company's 
customer and the insurance carrier.  The Company's performance obligation is satisfied when the terms of the policy have 
been agreed upon and the insurance policy becomes effective.  Additionally, the Company earns performance-based 
incentives ("contingent insurance commissions") based on certain criteria established by the insurance carriers.  Contingent 
insurance commissions are accrued based upon management's expectations.  

Other Non-Interest Income
Trust Asset Management Income - The Company provides trust asset management services to customers.  The Company 
primarily earns fees for these services over time as the services are provided and the Company assesses fees at each month 
end.  Fees are charged based on a tiered scale of the market value of the individual trust asset accounts at the end of the 
month.  

116



117



118



119



Item 9.  Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A.  Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the 
Company's disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange 
Act of 1934, as amended, the "Act") as of September 30, 2025.  Based upon this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and 
our Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as of September 30, 2025, such disclosure controls and procedures were 
effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports it files or submits under the Act is 
accumulated and communicated to the Company's management (including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial 
Officer) to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure, and is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within 
the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms.

Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial 
reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Act).  The Company's internal control system is a process 
designed to provide reasonable assurance to the Company's management and Board of Directors regarding the preparation 
and fair presentation of published financial statements. 

The Company's internal control over financial reporting includes policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of 
records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect transactions and dispositions of assets; provide reasonable 
assurances that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with 
GAAP, and that receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and the 
directors of the Company; and provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or untimely detection of unauthorized 
acquisition, use, or disposition of the Company's assets that could have a material effect on the Company's financial 
statements. 

All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations.  Therefore, even those systems 
determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial reporting.  Further, because of 
changes in conditions, the effectiveness of any system of internal control may vary over time.  The design of any internal 
control system also factors in resource constraints and consideration for the benefit of the control relative to the cost of 
implementing the control.  Because of these inherent limitations in any system of internal control, management cannot 
provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud within the Company have been detected. 

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2025.  
In making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013).  Management has concluded that the Company 
maintained an effective system of internal control over financial reporting based on these criteria as of September 30, 2025. 

The Company's independent registered public accounting firm, KPMG LLP, Kansas City, Missouri (Auditor Firm ID: 185), 
who audited the consolidated financial statements (as of and for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2025) included in Item 8 
of this annual report, has issued an audit report on the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of 
September 30, 2025 and it is included in Item 8. 

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There have been no changes in the Company's internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and 
15d-15(f) under the Act) that occurred during the Company's quarter ended September 30, 2025 that have materially affected, 
or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company's internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B.  Other Information 

Trading Plans
During the quarter ended September 30, 2025, no director or officer (as defined in Rule 16a-1(f) under the Act) of the 
Company adopted or terminated a "Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement" or "non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement," as each 
term is defined in Item 408(a) of Regulation S-K. 
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Item 13.  Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

Information required by this item concerning certain relationships, related transactions and director independence is 
incorporated herein by reference from the Company's definitive proxy statement for its Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be 
held in January 2026, a copy of which will be filed not later than 120 days after the close of the fiscal year.

Item 14.  Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Information required by this item concerning principal accountant fees and services is incorporated herein by reference from 
the Company's definitive proxy statement for its Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held in January 2026, a copy of which 
will be filed not later than 120 days after the close of the fiscal year.

PART IV

Item 15.  Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) The following is a list of documents filed as part of this report:

(1) Financial Statements:
The following financial statements are included under Part II, Item 8 of this Form 10-K:

1. Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firms.
2. Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2025 and 2024.
3. Consolidated Statements of Income for the Years Ended September 30, 2025, 2024, and 2023.
4. Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the Years Ended September 30, 2025, 2024, and 

2023.
5. Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity for the Years Ended September 30, 2025, 2024, and 2023.
6. Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended September 30, 2025, 2024, and 2023.
7. Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the Years Ended September 30, 2025, 2024, and 2023.

(2) Financial Statement Schedules:
All financial statement schedules have been omitted as the information is not required under the related instructions 
or is not applicable.

(3) Exhibits:
See "Index to Exhibits."

Item 16.  Form 10-K Summary

None
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101 The following information from the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended 
September 30, 2025, filed with the SEC on November 26, 2025, has been formatted in Inline eXtensible 
Business Reporting Language ("XBRL"): (i) Consolidated Balance Sheets at September 30, 2025 and 2024, 
(ii) Consolidated Statements of Income for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2025, 2024, and 2023, (iii) 
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2025, 2024, and 
2023, (iv) Consolidated Statement of Stockholders' Equity for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2025, 
2024, and 2023, (v) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2025, 
2024, and 2023, and (vi) Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File, formatted in Inline XBRL and included in Exhibit 101

* Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
**May be obtained free of charge in the Investor Relations section of our website, www.capfed.com.
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Sedgwick County  8 branches

Saline County  1 branch

Butler County  1 branch

Riley County  2 branches

Lyon County  1 branch

Shawnee County  10 branches

Douglas County  3 branches

Platte County  1 branch

Wyandotte County  2 branches

Jackson County  1 branch

Johnson County  14 branches

Clay County  2 branches

Branch Locations by County
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